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The KBI Global Investment Fund (the “Fund”) was constituted on 22 December 2000, as an open-ended umbrella Unit Trust 
authorised by the Central Bank of Ireland pursuant to the provisions of the Unit Trusts Act, 1990. The Fund registered as a Retail 
Investor Alternative Investment Fund (“RIAIF”) on 22 July 2014. The Alternative Investment Fund Manager (the “AIFM”), 

series of units (each allocated to a particular Sub-Fund) may be issued from time to time by the Directors of the AIFM with the 

The Sub-Funds trading as at 30 September 2025 are:

KBI Managed Fund 
KBI Integris Managed Fund^
KBI Innovator Fund
and KBI Integris Eurozone Equity Fund.
 
The Prospectus of the RIAIF is available on the website of the Investment Manager, www.kbiglobalinvestors.com.
 
^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54  regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.

 

The Net Asset Value of a Sub-Fund shall be expressed in the base currency of the relevant Sub-Fund and shall be calculated on 
each Dealing Day by ascertaining the value of the assets of the Sub-Fund on such Dealing Day and deducting from such value 
the liabilities of the Sub-Fund on such Dealing Day. 

Whether on the establishment of a Sub-Fund or from time to time, the AIFM can create more than one class of units in a 

(including the management fee), designated currency, distribution policy and such other features will apply. 

The classes available in a Sub-Fund and their respective subscription fees and expenses (including the management fee), 

part of the prospectus and are available from the Administrator and relevant Distributor. 

The AIFM intends to automatically reinvest all earnings, dividends and other distributions of whatever kind as well as realised 
capital gains arising from that proportion of the net asset value of each Sub-Fund attributable to “A” Units pursuant to the 

The AIFM may make distributions in respect of “B” Units out of that proportion of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund attributable 
to “B” Units. 

The Directors of the AIFM have approved the adoption of the Irish Funds Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”).
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In the twelve months to 30 September 2025, the KBI Managed Fund (the “Fund”) increased by 4.3% (net of fees) underperforming 
the custom Managed Fund benchmark return of 8.5% in euro terms. Comparatively, the Fund increased by 14.8% (net of 
fees) and underperformed the custom Managed Fund benchmark return of 19.9% in euro terms over the twelve months to 30 
September 2024. The Fund was in compliance with the strategy and objectives as set out in the Sub-Fund Information Card. 

Over the period, the MSCI World Index rose by 11.4% in euro terms. From a regional perspective, North American equities 

rose by 11.4%. Over the period, all of the MSCI World sectors had positive returns, with the exception of Health Care, Real 
Estate, Consumer Staples, and Materials, which delivered negative returns. Communication Services was the best performing 
sector up 27.7% over the period. Bond markets showed modest gains over the period. The Bloomberg Commodities Index 
increased by 3.4%. The US Dollar weakened 5.3% against the Euro. Sterling weakened 4.9% against the Euro.

Investment Outlook

Asset class outlook: Equities

cut since December last year was delivered in September and is widely expected to be followed by more cuts in the period ahead.

In addition to more positive earnings expectations and further bolstering the case for rotation, international markets also have a 
valuation advantage and still trade at a big discount relative to the US.

Asset class outlook: Bonds

Excluding the USA, we envisage bond markets that are range bound. Bonds appear to be fairly valued rather than cheap. The 

increased uncertainty about the direction of policy is negative for US Treasuries. Risk-wise, we continue to monitor corporate 

 

 

 

 

 

KBI Global Investors Ltd 
30 September 2025
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In the twelve months to 30th September 2025, the KBI Integris Managed Fund (the “Fund”) increased by 4.8% (net of fees) 
underperforming the informal Charity Managed benchmark which rose by 6.8%, in euro terms. Comparatively, the Fund 
increased by 14.7% (net of fees) underperforming the informal Charity Managed benchmark which rose by 19.5% in euro terms 
over the twelve months to 30th September 2024. The Fund was in compliance with the strategy and objectives as set out in the 
Sub-Fund Information Card.

Over the period, the MSCI World Index rose by 11.4% in euro terms. From a regional perspective, North American equities 

rose by 11.4%. Over the period, all of the MSCI World sectors had positive returns, with the exception of Health Care, Real 
Estate, Consumer Staples, and Materials, which delivered negative returns. Communication Services was the best performing 
sector up 27.7% over the period. Bond markets showed modest gains over the period. The Bloomberg Commodities Index 
increased by 3.4%. The US Dollar weakened 5.3% against the Euro. Sterling weakened 4.9% against the Euro.

Investment Outlook

Asset class outlook: Equities

cut since December last year was delivered in September and is widely expected to be followed by more cuts in the period ahead

In addition to more positive earnings expectations and further bolstering the case for rotation, international markets also have a 
valuation advantage and still trade at a big discount relative to the US.
Asset class outlook: Bonds

Excluding the USA, we envisage bond markets that are range bound. Bonds appear to be fairly valued rather than cheap. The 

increased uncertainty about the direction of policy is negative for US Treasuries. Risk-wise, we continue to monitor corporate 
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KBI Innovator Fund

The KBI Innovator Fund (the “Fund”) bundles environmental and emerging market equity strategies and commodity investments. 
This investment opportunity is provided within a single fund and has the potential to generate strong long-term investment 

Over the twelve months to 30 September 2025, the Fund returned -1.1% (net of fees) while the MSCI World Index rose by 11.4% 
in euro terms. Comparatively, the Fund returned 15.7% (net of fees) while the MSCI World Index rose by 25.6% in euro terms 
over the twelve months to 30 September 2024. The Fund was in compliance with the strategy and objectives as set out in the 
Sub-Fund Information Card.

Over the period, the MSCI World Index rose by 11.4% in euro terms. From a regional perspective, North American equities 

rose by 11.4%. Over the period, all of the MSCI World sectors had positive returns, with the exception of Health Care, Real 
Estate, Consumer Staples, and Materials, which delivered negative returns. Communication Services was the best performing 
sector up 27.7% over the period. Bond markets showed modest gains over the period. The Bloomberg Commodities Index 
increased by 3.4%. The US Dollar weakened 5.3% against the Euro. Sterling weakened 4.9% against the Euro.

Performance of the investments in the Fund was broadly negative in the period 1 year to 30 September 2025. The Global 
Solutions strategy component fell by 5.0%, and Sustainable Infrastructure fell by 4.9%. The Emerging Markets component rose 
by 10.4%, underperforming its benchmark the MSCI Emerging Markets index by 1%. Commodities saw a gain in the period, 
increasing 3.4%.

Investment Outlook

Asset class outlook: Equities

cut since December last year was delivered in September and is widely expected to be followed by more cuts in the period ahead.

In addition to more positive earnings expectations and further bolstering the case for rotation, international markets also have a 
valuation advantage and still trade at a big discount relative to the US.

Asset class outlook: Bonds

Excluding the USA, we envisage bond markets that are range bound. Bonds appear to be fairly valued rather than cheap. The 

increased uncertainty about the direction of policy is negative for US Treasuries. Risk-wise, we continue to monitor corporate 

 

 

 

 

 

KBI Global Investors Ltd
30 September 2025
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The KBI Integris Eurozone Equity Fund (the “Fund”) registered a rise of 14.5% during the 12 months to end September 2025, 
underperforming the MSCI EMU Index, which recorded a rise of 15.4%. The Fund registered a rise of 17.6% during the 12 
months to end September 2024 underperforming the MSCI EMU Index which rose by 20.3% (in EUR terms). The Fund was in 
compliance with the strategy and objectives as set out in the Sub-Fund Information Card.

Global stock markets rallied over the period. The growing likelihood and then decisive reality of a Trump victory in the US 
election buoyed investor optimism. Expectations that the clean sweep of Congress clears the path to lower taxes and less 
regulation added further momentum.

Notwithstanding the extreme volatility following so-called Liberation Day last April, the fear of protectionist threats was more 

the yield curve steepen. This trend has accelerated in response to the growing White House attacks on the Federal Reserve. These 

Europe – particularly in relation to the war in Ukraine – clearly gives the US the upper-hand in such negotiations, and the current 
US President unsurprisingly pressed home his advantage. Policy-wise, the European Central Bank (ECB) provided a supportive 

Stock selection was disappointing in capital goods, software and in media and entertainment. In capital goods, Brenntag has 

business sentiment and put downward pressure on prices particularly in essentials and in Specialties for Beauty & Care. Brenntag 

various markets especially for industrial chemicals. On the positive side, Specialties pricing has begun to improve more recently 
supported by margin management initiatives as well as product portfolio adjustments. In software, Capgemini underperformed 
as the demand environment remains soft as customers are focused on cost optimisation with lower investments in growth. The 

entertainment, Publicis underperformed after giving conservative earnings guidance due to the uncertain macroeconomic 
environment. This guidance has built in advertising spending cuts in the second half of the year but they have thus far failed 
to materialise despite ongoing macro volatility. Visibility into 2026 is improving supported by record new business growth in 

with internal restructuring. Despite investor concerns that AI undermines the role of advertising agencies, AI has in fact played 
a positive role by enabling Publicis to leverage its best in class data sets and to automate decision making in media buying and 
planning. 

Deutsche Bank is executing towards its full year targets and is seeing good revenue momentum in the Corporate Bank and 
DWS, continued positive revenue growth in the Investment Bank as well as progress with cost savings in the Private Bank and at 
Group level. Investors are interested in banks that are less interest rate sensitive, have a self-help (cost cutting plan), are growing 

criteria. In telecoms, Orange has become the focus of investor attention this year on the theme of French market consolidation 
following many press reports suggesting that Orange, Bouygues and Iliad are looking to acquire SFR’s assets. Investors are 

the deal. In the meantime, the market is getting more competitive suggesting that any market repair may be from a lower starting 
point. In insurance, Poste Italiane outperformed as it raised full year guidance due to strong growth in Financial Services and 
Insurance. Financial Services performance was driven by strong net interest income growth from higher deposits and a lower 

positive investment variances. Poste Italiane also increased its dividend payout ratio to 70% from 65% and this should generate 
a dividend yield of 7.5% in 2026.
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Investment Outlook

resilient. There have been some signs of weakness in the US labour market although it remains in a healthy state. In the 
period ahead, there will continue to be much focus on the decisions of the US Federal Reserve, and its ongoing tussle with an 
increasingly impatient White House.

We have argued for an extended period that we see market rotation as the most likely outcome for equity markets over the 
medium to long term. What we mean by this is that the over concentration in US mega caps has led to extreme valuation 
anomalies and large momentum distortions. Other parts of the global equity market, (be it regions, styles, sectors or market cap), 

US technology stocks have been the location of choice for global capital for almost a decade. This has sucked foreign money 
away from home country opportunities. Importantly, recent trade disruptions and the fall in reliability of the US as a team player 
in the global economy means these opportunities are now receiving more investor attention.

 

 

 

 

KBI Global Investors Ltd
30 September 2025
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KBI Global Investors has a strong commitment to Responsible Investing (RI) issues, and has managed strategies with a 
Responsible Investment focus for more than three decades. We have been a signatory of the United Nations Principles for 
Responsible Investment (UNPRI) since 2007. Internally we have robust Responsible Investment controls, policies and processes 
in place that govern our activities and a high-level Responsible Investing Committee to oversee all aspects of Responsible 
Investment policy and implementation. 

managing investments can help to achieve ESG goals which are worthy of achievement in their own right and which are also in 
the best interests of long-term investors.

• 
for Responsible Investment) in each year since 2017, for all relevant modules assessed by the PRI.

• As part of our commitment to the Net Zero Asset Management initiative we are pleased to report that all our strategies 
met the relevant emissions reduction targets set for the period 2019-2024. We have decided to extend our commitment 
(which is to reduce the carbon intensity of 100% of our AUM by 7.6% a year on average) out to 2030. We also committed 
to allocate 20% of our AUM to climate solutions and to engage with companies in particularly high emissions sectors. We 
have published a whitepaper on “Our Net Zero Journey”.

• Under the European Union (EU) Sustainable Fund Name Guidelines, we have updated the exclusions for our Natural 
Resource funds. These funds will not invest in companies mentioned in Article 12(1)(a) to (g) of the European Union 
Paris-Aligned Benchmark Regulations. This means we will exclude companies involved in controversial weapons, tobacco 
production, violations of international norms (such as the UN (United Nations) Global Compact and OECD (Organisation 

companies with high greenhouse gas emissions from electricity generation are excluded. More details about these exclusions 
can be found in the Exclusion Policy for Natural Resource Portfolios. As part of these guidelines, we have also increased 
the minimum levels of environmental and social characteristics promoted by the Natural Resource funds from 75% to 80% 
of the investments.

• We continue to participate in several collaborative engagements, usually on the topics of climate change and nature which 

• 
and most of our assets under management are designated as Article 8 and Article 9 products. For more information  https://

.

• We gave comments to Institutional Shareholder Services (ISS) and MSCI ESG Research on their annual consultations on 
their policies. 

• 

• 

Taxonomy, and SFDR disclosure requirements and reporting.

KBI Global Investors policy is to vote all securities that we are entitled to vote on behalf of our client portfolios. Proxies are 
voted in a manner which serves the long-term best interests of the portfolio.

In the year to 30 September 2025
management in 8% of all proposals, and we voted against management on 30% of shareholder proposals. Shareholder proposals 
are initiatives put forward by shareholders, usually requesting management to take action on particular issues.
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Votes Cast on Management Proposal Categories
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Votes Cast on Shareholder Proposal Categories

Source: KBI Global Investors and ISS, 12 months to end September 2025

As a specialist boutique asset manager with focused resources, we endeavour to leverage relationships to engage in collective 
engagement when appropriate. We are members of The Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI), Climate Action 100+, 
Nature Action 100, The Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change (IIGCC) Net Zero Engagement initiative, the CDP 
(Carbon Disclosure Project) Non-Disclosure Campaign and Science Based Targets campaign, the ShareAction decarbonisation 
initiative and the CERES (Coalition for Environmentally Responsible Economies) Valuing Water in Finance Initiative.

Examples of collaborative engagement over the year include:

•
endorsers of the PRI initiative “Advance”, a stewardship initiative for human rights and social issues, and the PRI initiative 
“Spring”, a stewardship initiative for nature. 

• We are a founding participant of Nature Action 100, an investor-led initiative to address nature loss and biodiversity decline, 

• We continue to participate in Climate Action 100+, an initiative led by some of the biggest investors and investor networks, 
including the PRI and the four main European, US and Asian climate change organisations (including IIGCC and CERES), 

disclosures and improve governance on climate change. As part of Climate Action 100+, we are part of the groups of investors 
leading engagement with Enel SpA (a large Italian manufacturer and distributor of electricity and gas), LyondellBasell 
Industries NV (a multinational chemical company) and Marathon Petroleum Corporation (a US petroleum company).
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• Regulator/Standard Setter Engagement: 

 - Letter to UK Prudential Authority: Role of investors in promoting capital adequacy: In early 2024, we signed a letter 
to the UK Prudential Authority as we are concerned by the potential for increasing systemic risk to the banking 

at regulated banks and building societies they explicitly pointed to enhanced disclosures on climate risks in ECLs 

approaches to modelling ECL  in general and with regards to climate risks in particular. Based on feedback from bank 

scale of climate risks. We met with the UK Prudential Authority's Chief accountant and his team in 2025 to discuss 
enhanced disclosures from banks on how banks are considering climate in their ECL accounting assumptions. The UK 
PRA (Prudential Regulation Authority) released a consultation on climate and capital adequacy in April 2025, which 
linked our engagement with the PRA. Chapter 6 of the proposed Supervisory Statement (SS), underlined the critical 

 - International Accounting Standards Board (IASB): In July 2024, the IASB published the Exposure Draft Climate-
related and Other Uncertainties in the Financial Statements for consultation. The Exposure Draft proposed eight 
examples illustrating how an entity applies the requirements in IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standards) 

 - US Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB): As part of the CA100+ North America Climate Accounting 
working group, we responded to the FASB's Invitation to Comment on improving US GAAP, focusing on two 
key areas: enhanced disclosure of forward-looking assumptions and estimates, and revisiting guidance for Asset 

importance of recognizing and disclosing AROs, even when retirement timing is uncertain, to provide investors with 

requirements for transparency, provide illustrative examples, and align with international standards to improve 
consistency and investor decision-making.

• As part of the ShareAction investor decarbonisation initiative with the European Chemicals sector since 2021, we wrote 
to several companies again, and in 2025 we focused on deeper discussions with laggard companies and took escalation 
measures with some companies.
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The Alternative Investment Fund Manager is Amundi Ireland Limited (the “AIFM”). The AIFM is responsible for preparing the 
Annual Report and the Fund’s Financial Statements, in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

elected to prepare the Financial Statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted 
by the European Union (the “EU”).

and performance of the Fund.  The Unit Trusts Act, 1990 provides in relation to such Financial Statements that references in the 
relevant parts of this Act to Financial Statements giving a true and fair view are references to their achieving a fair presentation.

loss for that year.

In preparing these Financial Statements, the AIFM is required to:

 - select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
 - state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU;
 - make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
 - prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Sub-Funds 

will continue in business.

The AIFM is responsible for keeping adequate accounting records which disclose, with reasonable accuracy, at any time, the 

the European Union (Alternative Investment Fund AIFMs) Regulations 2014. The AIFM is responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the Fund to a depositary, Northern Trust Fiduciary Services Ireland Limited for safe keeping. The AIFM has general 
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors of the AIFM adopted the Irish Funds Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”).

In accordance with the Central Bank’s AIF Rulebook, any transaction carried out with the Fund by its management company, 
depositary, investment manager or by delegates or group companies of these entities (“connected parties”) must be carried out 
as if negotiated at arm’s length. Such transactions must be in the best interests of the Unitholders. The Directors of the AIFM are 

and that transactions with connected parties during the year complied with the requirement. In addition to those transactions, 
there are also transactions carried out by connected parties on behalf of the Fund in respect of which the Directors of the AIFM 
must rely upon assurances from its delegates that the connected parties carrying out these transactions do carry them out on a 
similar basis.

As part of its authorisation, the AIFM has implemented a Remuneration Policy consistent with ESMA’s remuneration guidelines 
and in particular the provisions of Annex II of Directive 2011/61/EU. The remuneration policy is outlined in the Sub-Fund 

pages 66 to 85.

Global Investment Fund (RIAIF) - KBI Global Investors. Legislation in the Republic of Ireland governing the preparation and 
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For and on behalf of the Directors of the AIFM
 

           
 

Ireland
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We, Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited (“NTFSIL”), appointed Depositary to KBI Global Investment Fund 
(the “Fund”) provide this report solely in favour of the unitholders of the Fund for the or the period 1 October 2024 to 30 
September 2025 (“Annual Accounting Period”). This report is provided in accordance with current Depositary obligation under 
the Central Bank of Ireland Alternative Investment Fund (the “AIF”) Rule Book, Chapter 5 (iii). We do not, in the provision of 
this report, accept nor assume responsibility for any other purpose or person to whom this report is shown.

In accordance with our Depositary obligation under the AIF Rule Book, we have enquired into the conduct of the Alternative 
Investment Fund Manager (the “AIFM”) for this Annual Accounting Period and we hereby report thereon to the unitholders of 
the Fund as follows; 

We are of the opinion that the Fund has been managed by the AIFM during the Annual Accounting Period, in all material respects:

(i) in accordance with the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers of the Fund by the constitutional
document and by the Central Bank of Ireland under the powers granted to the Central Bank of Ireland by the investment
fund legislation; and

(ii) otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the constitutional document and the investment fund legislation.

For and on behalf of
Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited

16 January 2026
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Unitholders of The Sub-Funds (As set out below) of 
KBI Global Investment Fund 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of KBI Managed Fund, KBI Integris Managed Fund, 
KBI Innovator Fund and KBI Integris Eurozone Equity Fund (collectively ‘‘The Sub-Funds’’) of 
KBI Global Investment Fund (‘the Trust’) for the year ended 30 September 2025 set out on 
pages 18 to 55, which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of 
Financial Position, Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable 
Participating Units, Statement of Cash Flows and related notes, including the material 
accounting policies set out in note 2. 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is Irish Law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union. 

In our opinion: 

-  the financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial 
position of the Trust as at 30 September 2025 and of its changes in net assets attributable to 
holders of redeemable participating units for the year then ended; 

-  the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted 
by the European Union; and 

-  the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Unit Trusts Act 
1990. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs 
(Ireland)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We 
are independent of the Trust in accordance with ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of financial statements in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard issued by the Irish 
Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority (IAASA), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Managers’ use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties 
relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the 
Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date 
when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Managers with respect to going concern are 
described in the relevant sections of this report. 
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Other information 

The Manager is responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report together 
with the financial statements. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Organisation, Background to the Fund, Investment Manager’s Report, Responsible Investment 
Activities Report (Unaudited), Statement of AIFM’s Responsibilities, Annual Report of the 
Depositary to the Unitholders of KBI Global Investment Fund and the Unaudited Appendices. 

The financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon do not comprise part of the other 
information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, 
accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on 
our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work 
undertaken during the course of the audit we have not identified material misstatements in the 
other information. 

Respective responsibilities and restrictions on use 

Responsibilities of the Manager for the financial statements 

As explained more fully in the Manager’s responsibilities statement set out on page 12, the 
Manager is responsible for: the preparation of the financial statements including being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error; assessing the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless they either intend to liquidate the Trust or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on IAASA’s website at 
https://iaasa.ie/publications/description-of-the-auditors-responsibilities-for-the-audit-of-the-
financial-statements/. 
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The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities 

Our report is made solely to the Trust’s unitholders, as a body, in accordance with Section 15 of 
the Unit Trusts Act 1990. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Trust’s unitholders those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for 
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Trust and the Trust’s unitholders as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

Tony Loughnane                                                                                                20 January 2026 

for and on behalf of  
KPMG 
Chartered Accountants, Statutory Audit Firm 
1 Harbourmaster Place 
IFSC 
Dublin 1 
D01 F6F5 
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For the  ended 30 September 2025

Notes
KBI 

Fund^ KBI Innovator Fund
KBI 

Year ended 
30 September 2025 

EUR

Year ended 
30 September 2025 

EUR

Year ended 
30 September 2025 

EUR

Year ended 
30 September 2025 

EUR

Operating income 5 73,328 226,172 970 621,709
 

6 890,675 3,586,744 (543,159) 1,528,832
Net currency (losses)/gains (1,352) (218) 9 24

962,651 3,812,698 (542,180) 2,150,565

Operating expenses 7 (160,249) (441,696) (265,541) (44,219)
802,402 3,371,002 (807,721) 2,106,346

 
– (1,729) – –

802,402 3,369,273 (807,721) 2,106,346

Withholding tax – – – (62,051)

802,402 3,369,273 (807,721) 2,044,295

 
802,402 3,369,273 (807,721) 2,044,295

 

For the  ended 

Notes Fund^ KBI Innovator Fund
KBI 

Year ended 
 

EUR

Year ended 
 

EUR

Year ended 
 

EUR

Year ended 
 

EUR

Operating income 5 106,035 187,713 3,382 614,075
 

6 5,863,637 9,059,070 8,659,294 1,496,877
Net currency gains/(losses) – 3,913 – (226)

5,969,672 9,250,696 8,662,676 2,110,726

Operating expenses 7 (242,415) (412,291) (286,604) (42,190)
5,727,257 8,838,405 8,376,072 2,068,536

 
– – – (21)

5,727,257 8,838,405 8,376,072 2,068,515

Withholding tax – – – (82,873)

5,727,257 8,838,405 8,376,072 1,985,642

 
5,727,257 8,838,405 8,376,072 1,985,642

There are no recognised gains or losses arising in the year other than the increase/(decrease) in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the Financial Statements.

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.
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As at 30 September 2025

Notes
KBI 

Fund^ KBI Innovator Fund
KBI 

As at 
30 September 2025 

EUR

As at 
30 September 2025 

EUR

As at 
30 September 2025 

EUR

As at 
30 September 2025 

EUR

Assets

3 20,690,152 72,272,660 50,598,814 15,594,299

Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Cash and Cash Equivalents 9 48,971 106,859 227,108 63,863
Receivables 10 136 31,062 148 146

Total Assets 20,739,259 72,410,581 50,826,070 15,658,308

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Payables (amounts falling due within one year) 12 (43,604) (106,148) (69,328) (27,740)

(43,604) (106,148) (69,328) (27,740)

20,695,655 72,304,433 50,756,742 15,630,568

 

As at  

Notes Fund^ KBI Innovator Fund
KBI 

As at 
 

EUR

As at 
 

EUR

As at 
 

EUR

As at 
 

EUR

Assets

3 26,471,414 67,222,280 57,205,702 13,544,622

Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Cash and Cash Equivalents 9 161,827 130,565 982,976 66,417
Receivables 10 216 21,009 84 135

Total Assets 26,633,457 67,373,854 58,188,762 13,611,174

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Payables (amounts falling due within one year) 12 (105,769) (87,452) (633,280) (24,901)

(105,769) (87,452) (633,280) (24,901)

26,527,688 67,286,402 57,555,482 13,586,273

30 
September 2025 and 30 September 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the Financial Statements.

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.
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For the  30 September 2025

KBI 
Fund^ KBI Innovator Fund

KBI 

Year ended 
30 September 2025 

EUR

Year ended 
30 September 2025 

EUR

Year ended 
30 September 2025 

EUR

Year ended 
30 September 2025 

EUR
 

26,527,688 67,286,402 57,555,482 13,586,273

Increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to holders of 
Redeemable Participating Units 802,402 3,369,273 (807,721) 2,044,295

Amounts received on issue of Redeemable Participating Units 1,820,832 4,019,450 787,000 –

Amounts paid on redemption of Redeemable Participating Units (8,455,267) (2,370,692) (6,778,019) –

(Decrease)/increase in Net Assets resulting from Unit transactions (6,634,435) 1,648,758 (5,991,019) –

(5,832,033) 5,018,031 (6,798,740) 2,044,295

 
20,695,655 72,304,433 50,756,742 15,630,568

For the  

Fund^ KBI Innovator Fund
KBI 

Year ended 
 

EUR

Year ended 
 

EUR

Year ended 
 

EUR

Year ended 
 

EUR
 

45,138,278 61,862,798 57,549,040 15,244,085

Increase in net assets attributable to holders of Redeemable 
Participating Units 5,727,257 8,838,405 8,376,072 1,985,642

Amounts received on issue of Redeemable Participating Units 1,440,488 518,831 345,000 –

Amounts paid on redemption of Redeemable Participating Units (25,778,335) (3,933,632) (8,714,630) (3,643,454)

Decrease in Net Assets resulting from Unit transactions (24,337,847) (3,414,801) (8,369,630) (3,643,454)

(18,610,590) 5,423,604 6,442 (1,657,812)

 
26,527,688 67,286,402 57,555,482 13,586,273

as at 30 September 2025 and 30 September 2024.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the Financial Statements.

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.
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For the  ended 30 September 2025

KBI 
Fund^ KBI Innovator Fund

KBI 

Year ended 
30 September 2025

Year ended 
30 September 2025

Year ended 
30 September 2025

Year ended 
30 September 2025

EUR EUR EUR EUR

Proceeds from sale of investments 9,954,564 2,558,599 10,683,729 7,742,321
Purchase of investments (3,282,627) (4,022,235) (4,620,000) (8,263,165)
Interest received 732 93 906 258
Dividends received 72,676 216,027 – 559,390
Other income 42 42 42 42
Operating expenses paid (164,456) (423,043) (262,483) (41,424)

6,580,931 (1,670,517) 5,802,194 (2,578)

Interest paid – (1,729) (52) –

Amounts received on issue of Redeemable Participating Units 1,820,832 4,019,450 787,000 –
Amounts paid on redemption of Redeemable Participating Units (8,513,267) (2,370,692) (7,345,019) –

(6,692,435) 1,647,029 (6,558,071) –

(111,504) (23,488) (755,877) (2,578)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year* 161,827 130,565 982,976 66,417
Exchange (loss)/gain on cash and cash equivalents (1,352) (218) 9 24

48,971 106,859 227,108 63,863

 
For the  ended 

Fund^ KBI Innovator Fund
KBI 

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended 

EUR EUR EUR EUR

Proceeds from sale of investments 29,335,282 8,881,426 14,338,501 12,414,482
Purchase of investments (5,068,014) (5,322,233) (5,244,813) (9,273,214)
Interest received 3,073 4,013 2,969 1,772
Dividends received 102,481 178,492 – 531,492
Other income 413 413 413 1,381
Operating expenses paid (301,833) (467,317) (329,313) (45,810)

24,071,402 3,274,794 8,767,757 3,630,103

Interest paid – – (109) (21)

Amounts received on issue of Redeemable Participating Units 1,722,488 518,831 345,000 –
Amounts paid on redemption of Redeemable Participating Units (25,720,335) (3,933,632) (8,147,630) (3,643,454)

(23,997,847) (3,414,801) (7,802,739) (3,643,475)

73,555 (140,007) 965,018 (13,372)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year* 88,272 266,659 17,958 80,015
Exchange gain/(loss) on cash and cash equivalents – 3,913 – (226)

161,827 130,565 982,976 66,417

*Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and cash in hand.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the Financial Statements.

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.
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The KBI Global Investment Fund (the “Fund”) was constituted on 22 December 2000, as an open-ended umbrella Unit 

from 22 July 2014 the Alternative Investment Fund Managers (the “AIFM”) was authorised by the Central Bank as an 
AIFM pursuant to the European Union Regulations 2013. The Fund is a Retail Investor Alternative Investment Fund 
(“AIF”) in accordance with the AIF Rulebook issued by the Central Bank. The Fund is authorised by the Central Bank 
to market its units to Retail Investors.

may be issued from time to time by the Directors of the AIFM with the approval of the Central Bank of Ireland. Each 

be applicable to each of such sub-classes. 

These Financial Statements for the year ended 30 September 2025 have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union (“EU”) and Irish Statute comprising the 
Unit Trust Act, 1990. 

In preparing the Statement of Cash Flows under IFRS, cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand, 
highly liquid interest-bearing securities with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts.

The preparation of Financial Statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates 

the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting year. Although these estimates are based on 

The Financial Statements have therefore been prepared on a going concern basis.

These Financial Statements have been prepared on standards and amendments to existing standards for periods 
beginning on or after 1 October 2024.

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 September 
2025 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the Fund.

The following standards are not expected to have a material impact on the entity in the current or future reporting 
periods or on foreseeable future transactions:

• 

• Amendments to IAS 12 – Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

• Amendments to IAS 12 – International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules 

statements. The new standard introduces the following key new requirement :

• 

applying IFRS 18.
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30 September 2024.

• 

• 

of the relevant information about how the business is managed, including:

• the documented investment strategy and the execution of this strategy in practice. This includes whether the 

• how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Fund’s management;

• 
and how those risks are managed;

• how the investment manager is compensated: e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets 

• 
expectations about future sales activity.

for this purpose, consistent with the Fund’s continuing recognition of the assets.

The Fund has determined that it has two business models. 

• Held-to-collect business model: this includes cash and cash equivalents, balances due from brokers and receivables 

• 
and their performance is evaluated, on a fair value basis, with frequent sales taking place. 

Comprehensive Income. 
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are SPPI.

with changes in their fair value recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period which they arise. 
Realised gains and losses on investments are calculated using average cost.

less impairment, if any.

Financial liabilities, arising from the Redeemable Participating Units issued by the Sub-Fund, are carried at the 
redemption amount representing the Investors’ right to a residual interest in the Sub-Fund’s assets.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

markets (such as publicly traded derivatives and trading securities) are based on quoted market prices at the close of 
trading on the reporting date.

Securities listed on several Recognised Exchanges shall be valued on the basis of the closing mid-market price or (if 
this is not available) last available quoted bid-price as the Valuation Point for the relevant Valuation Day on the stock 
exchange or market which in the opinion of the AIFM or its delegate constitutes the main market for such assets for the 
foregoing purposes.

Securities which are not listed or which are listed but in respect of which prices are not available or in respect of 
which the closing mid-market price or last available price does not in the opinion of the AIFM or its delegate represent 
fair market value in the relevant market as at the Valuation Point for the relevant Valuation Day shall be valued at 
their probable realisation value estimated with care and in good faith by (i) the AIFM or the External Valuer or (ii) 

matrix methodology compiled by the AIFM whereby such securities are valued by reference to the valuation of other 
securities which are comparable in rating, yield, due date and other characteristics.

Units in investment funds shall be valued by reference to the latest net asset value of the units of the relevant investment 
fund available at the time of the production of the Net Asset Value of the relevant Sub-Fund provided that if the net asset 

be the probable realisable value estimated with care and in good faith by the AIFM in consultation with such competent 
person selected by the AIFM or the External Valuer.

In situations where the redemption period is greater than 90 days or the investment is not redeemable with the investee 
due to the imposition of a gate, sidepockets or other contractual limitation, net asset value may not necessarily 
approximate to fair value as the redemption period is not considered to be regular and frequent. Therefore, these 
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Fair values for unquoted equity investments are estimated, if possible, using applicable price/earnings ratios for similar 

disposals are calculated using the average cost method.

obtained from the Investee Funds and considers:

• the liquidity of the Investee Fund or its underlying investments;

• the value date of the net asset value (NAV) provided;

• any restrictions on redemptions; and

• the basis of accounting and, in instances where the basis of accounting is other than fair value, fair estimation 
information provided by the Investee Fund’s advisors.

of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset(s) and that loss 

default or delinquency by a borrower, restructuring of the amount due on terms that the Fund would not otherwise 
consider, indications that a borrower or issuer would enter bankruptcy, disappearance of an active market for a security 
or adverse changes in the payment status of the borrower.

on the impaired asset continued to be recognised. If an event occurring after the impairment was recognised caused the 

The Fund measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which are measured 
at 12-month ECLs:

• 

• 

when estimating ECLs, the Fund considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available 

Fund’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

• the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Fund in full, without recourse by the Fund to actions such 
as realising security (if any is held); or

• 



Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 30 September 2025

KBI Global Investment Fund Annual Report and Audited
Financial Statements 2025

26

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the 
reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Fund is 
exposed to credit risk.

Bank Overdraft, the overall impact is not considered material.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash 

that the Fund expects to receive).

A credit event does not need to have occurred before credit losses are recognised. This model applies to the Funds’ 

recoverability issues, therefore under the expected credit loss model there is no impairment to be recognised. 

assets.

Cash and cash equivalent comprises cash at bank and cash in hand. Deposits are measured at amortised cost. Cash 
equivalents are short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, are subject 

than for investment or other purposes.

Dividends, gross of foreign withholding taxes, where applicable, are included as operating income in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income when the security is declared to be ex-dividend. Bank interest income is accounted for on an 

In accordance with the Trust Deed, management fees, depositary fees, administration fees, directors’ fees and other 
operating expenses are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income on an accruals basis.

substance of the contractual terms of the instruments.

Redeemable Participating Units provide investors with the right to require redemption for cash at a value proportionate 
to the investors units in the Sub-Fund’s net assets at each redemption date and also in the event of the Sub-Fund’s 
liquidation.
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• It entitles the holder to a pro rata unit of the Sub-Fund’s net assets in the event of the Sub-Fund’s liquidation;

• It is in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of instruments;

• 
identical features;

• Apart from the contractual obligation for the Sub-Fund to repurchase or redeem the instrument for cash or another 

• 
the change in the recognised net assets or the change in the fair value in the recognised and unrecognised net assets 
of the Sub-Fund over the life of the instrument.

Redeemable Participating Units in KBI Managed Fund and KBI Integris Eurozone Equity  Fund meet these conditions 
as there is now only one active class of units in each Sub-Fund, as disclosed in Note 13.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue or redemption of redeemable units are recognised directly in equity 
as a deduction from the proceeds or part of the acquisition cost.

right to put the units back to the Sub-Fund. Any distributions on these participating units are recognised in the Statement 

Realised gains or losses on disposal of investments during the year and unrealised gains and losses on valuation of 

Capital gains tax may apply to realised gains on investments, dividend and interest income received by the Sub-Funds 
and may be subject to withholding tax imposed in the country of origin. Investment income is recorded gross of such 
taxes. 

The Sub-Funds themselves are not subject to Irish tax on its income and gains due to the tax-exempt status of the 
underlying Unitholders and on the basis that they have provided appropriate documentation to the Sub-Funds.

economic environment, as the majority of the Sub-Funds’ Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating 
Units are in Euro.

recognised together with other changes in the fair value. Net currency gains/(losses) are net foreign exchange gains 

recognised separately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, other than the functional currency of the Sub-
Funds, have been translated at the rate of exchange ruling at 30 September 2025. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated to Euro at the foreign currency exchange rate ruling at the dates that 
the values were determined. Gains and losses on foreign exchange transactions are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in determining the result for the year.

The Sub-Funds have adopted the Euro as the presentation currency.
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The preparation of Financial Statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates 

the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting year. Although these estimates are based on 

For the year ended 30 September 2025 and 2024, estimates have been required for the valuation of investments.

In accordance with IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements”, the Sub-Funds, KBI Managed Fund, KBI Integris 
Managed Fund and KBI Innovator Fund, are considered investment entities as they obtain funds from multiple investors 
for investment management purposes and measure the performance of substantially all of their investments on a fair 
value basis. As such, the Sub-Funds do not consolidate any of their investments in other funds. However, the Sub-Funds 
consider all of their investments in other funds (“Underlying Funds”) to be investments in structured entities because 
the Underlying Funds have the following features:

• restricted activities

• 
rewards associated with the assets of the Underlying Funds to investors.

The Sub-Funds invest in Underlying Funds with a range of objectives. The Underlying Funds are managed by unrelated 
asset managers, with the exception of those disclosed in Note 16 and apply various investment strategies to accomplish 
their respective investment objectives.

The change in fair value of each Underlying Fund is included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the line 

Funds recognise any gains and losses arising from changes in the fair values of the Underlying Funds in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it arises. The Sub-Fund’s exposure to loss from its interests in 
unconsolidated structured entities is the credit risk in relation to investments in investment funds as disclosed in Note 3.

The carrying amounts of the Sub-Funds’ interests in unconsolidated structured entities are the fair values of the 
investments in Underlying Funds as shown in the Schedules of Investments and are included in the Statement of 

Investments by Sub-Funds within the umbrella investment in the units of other Sub-Funds within the umbrella are 

Financial Statements.

loss. They include fees and commissions paid to agents, advisers, brokers and dealers. Transaction costs are expensed 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The Fund consists of a series of Sub-Funds, four of which are trading as at 30 September 2025. 

price risk, interest rate risk and currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk that could result in a reduction in the Fund’s 

Risk is managed by the Investment Manager under policies approved by management.

management policies employed by the Fund are discussed below.



Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 30 September 2025

KBI Global Investment Fund Annual Report and Audited
Financial Statements 2025

29

Day-to-day risk management is undertaken by the Investment Manager, as detailed in the sections below. Risk 
management issues are reported separately to the AIFM by the Administrator and Depositary quarterly.

The Sub-Funds are subject to a number of investment restrictions imposed by external regulators or self-imposed by the 

monthly to the AIFM on whether the Sub-Funds have been operated in accordance with the investment guidelines as 

in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and market price risk.

Manager and are reviewed on a regular basis by the Directors of the AIFM. As detailed in the Prospectus there are 
investment restrictions on holdings of securities that the Sub-Funds can have.

because of changes in market prices.

The Sub-Funds’ investments in equities, investment funds, bonds and managed funds are susceptible to market price 
risk arising from uncertainties about future prices of  the instruments.

The Directors of the Manager have delegated the management of the market price risks inherent in the investment 
portfolio to the Investment Manager. The Directors of the Manager reviews investment performance and overall market 
positions quarterly. The Directors of the Manager monitor the Investment Manager’s compliance with the Sub-Funds’ 
objectives. There were no material changes to the Fund’s policies and processes for managing market price risk and the 
methods and assumptions used to measure risk during the year.

Details of the nature of the Sub-Funds’ investment portfolios at the Statement of Financial Position date are disclosed 
in the Schedule of Investments on page 56 to page 59.

Equity and Investment Fund Funds by 30% (30 September 2024: 30%) and the Cash Fund and cash equivalents by 4% 
(30 September 2024: 4%). 
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If the prices increased in line with the Investment Manager’s expectations, this would increase Net Assets Attributable 
to Holders of Redeemable Participating Units in the Sub-Funds as follows:

As at 30 September 2025

Fund
Fund^

KBI Innovator 
Fund

EUR EUR EUR EUR

Investment assets
Investment in equities – – – 4,678,290
Investment funds 6,207,046 21,681,798 15,179,644 –

Total Investment assets 6,207,046 21,681,798 15,179,644 4,678,290

 
 

As at 

Fund
Fund^

KBI Innovator 
Fund

EUR EUR EUR EUR

Investment assets
Investment in equities – – – 4,063,387
Investment funds 7,941,424 20,166,684 17,161,711 –

Total Investment assets 7,941,424 20,166,684 17,161,711 4,063,387

 
Conversely, if prices fell in line with Investment Manager expectations, with all other variables held constant, this 
would decrease Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Units of the Sub-Funds by an equal and 

material.

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.

and cash equivalents are invested at short term market interest rates. Interest rate risk is managed, in part, by the security 
selection process of the Investment Manager which includes predictions of future events and their impact on interest 

policy, the Investment Manager monitors the Sub-Funds’ overall interest sensitivity on a daily basis and incidents are 
reported to the Board of Directors on an exception basis. There were no material changes to the Fund’s policies and 
processes for managing interest rate risk and the methods used to measure risk since the prior year end.

changes in foreign exchange rates. Some of the Sub-Funds’ assets, liabilities and income are denominated in currencies 
other than their functional currency, Euro. They are, therefore, exposed to currency risk as the value of the securities 

currencies is converted to the functional currency on receipt.
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In accordance with the Fund’s policy, the Investment Manager monitors the Sub-Funds’ currency position on a daily 
basis and incidents are reported to the Board of Directors on an exception basis. There were no material changes to the 
Fund’s policies and processes for managing currency risk and the methods used to measure risk during the year.

The Sub-Funds may enter into currency exchange transactions in an attempt to protect against changes in currency 

transactions. The Sub-Funds may also enter into forward foreign currency contracts to hedge against a change in such 
currency exchange rates that would cause a decline in the value of existing investments denominated or principally 
traded in a currency other than the base currency of the Sub-Funds. To do this, the Sub-Funds would enter into a forward 
contract to sell the currency in which the investment is denominated or principally traded in exchange for the base 
currency of the Sub-Funds. No such transactions were entered into during the year.

As at 30 September 2025 and 30 September 2024, the Sub-Fund KBI Integris Managed Fund had exposure to GBP.

Currency risk - Sensitivity analysis

The Financial Statements require no further sensitivity analysis.

The Fund takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty or an issuer will be unable to pay 
amounts in full when due. Impairment provisions are provided for losses that have been incurred by the Statement of 
Financial Position date, if any.

Sub-Funds which invest in Eurozone bonds and equities are exposed to additional risks to which they were not exposed 
prior to the Eurozone debt crisis. With each passing year, the impact of the European debt crisis wanes but it remains 
a material factor in assessing credit risk associated with these investment holdings. Allocation to European Sovereign 
debt is actively monitored and managed by the Investment Manager.

accordance with the Fund policy, the Investment Manager monitors the Sub-Funds’ overall credit risk on a daily basis 
and the Board of the AIFM review it on a regular basis. There were no material changes to the Fund’s policies and 
processes for managing credit risk and the methods used to measure risk since the prior year end.

As at 30 September 2025

Fund
KBI Innovator 

Fund Fund
As at 

30 September 
2025 
EUR

As at 
30 September 

2025 
EUR

As at 
30 September 

2025 
EUR

As at 
30 September 

2025 
EUR

20,690,152 72,272,660 50,598,814 15,594,299
Cash and cash equivalents 48,971 106,859 227,108 63,863
Receivables 136 31,062 148 146

20,739,259 72,410,581 50,826,070 15,658,308

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.
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As at 30 September 2024

Fund
KBI Innovator 

Fund Fund
As at 

30 September 
 

EUR

As at 
30 September 

 
EUR

As at 
30 September 

 
EUR

As at 
30 September 

 
EUR

26,471,414 67,222,280 57,205,702 13,544,622
Cash and cash equivalents 161,827 130,565 982,976 66,417
Receivables 216 21,009 84 135

26,633,457 67,373,854 58,188,762 13,611,174

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.

The amounts in the above tables are based on the carrying value of all accounts which are presented as the gross 
principal amount.

Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited (“NTFSIL”) is the appointed Depositary of the Fund, responsible for 
the safe-keeping of assets. NTFSIL has appointed The Northern Trust Company (“TNTC”) as its global sub-custodian. 
Both NTFSIL and TNTC are wholly owned subsidiaries of Northern Trust Corporation (“NTC”). As at year-end date 30 
September 2025, NTC had a long term credit rating from Standard & Poor’s of A+ (30 September 2024: A+).

TNTC (as global sub-custodian of NTFSIL) does not appoint external sub-custodians within the U.S., the U.K., Ireland, 
Canada, Belgium, France, Germany, Netherlands and Saudi Arabia. However, in all other markets, TNTC appoints 
local external sub-custodians.

Other Assets, Art 21 (8) (b) of Directive 2011/61/EU), by assessing whether the Fund holds the ownership based on 
information or documents provided by the Fund or where available, on external evidence.

and distinct and separately from the proprietary assets of TNTC, NTFSIL and NTC. 

In addition TNTC, as banker, holds cash of the Fund on deposit. Such cash is held on the Statement of Financial 
Position of TNTC. In the event of insolvency of TNTC, in accordance with standard banking practice, the Fund will 
rank as an unsecured creditor of TNTC in respect of any cash deposits.

Where relevant please note the following currencies, Jordanian Dinar, Saudi Riyal, cash in the onshore China market 
(principally the currency of Chinese Yuan Renminbi, and any other currencies remitted into accounts in the onshore 

delayed.

The capital of the Fund is represented by the Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Units. The 

basis as the Fund is subject to monthly subscriptions and redemptions at the discretion of the Directors of the AIFM. 
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In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Fund’s policy is to perform the following: 

• Monitor the level of monthly subscriptions and redemptions relative to the liquid assets; and 

• Redeem and issue new units in accordance with the Fund deed, which include the ability to restrict redemptions and 
require certain minimum holdings and subscriptions. 

The Directors of the AIFM and Investment Manager monitor capital on the basis of the value of Net Assets Attributable 
to Holders of Redeemable Participating Units. There are no externally implemented requirements regarding capital.

The main liabilities of the Sub-Funds are the redemptions of any units that investors wish to sell. The Sub-Funds’ 
constitution provides for the daily creation and cancellation of units and they are, therefore, exposed to the liquidity risk 

and holdings in investment funds which may not be easily liquidated at an amount close to fair value in order to meet 

issuer. The Sub-Funds’ listed securities are considered to be readily realisable as they are all listed on major worldwide 
stock exchanges.

The Sub-Funds may, from time to time, invest in derivative contracts traded over the counter, which are not traded in an 
organised market and may be illiquid. As a result, the Sub-Funds may not be able to liquidate quickly its investments in 

such as a deterioration in the creditworthiness of any particular issuer.

In accordance with Fund policy, the Investment Manager monitors the Sub-Funds’ liquidity position on a daily basis 
and the Board of Directors of the AIFM review it on a regular basis. There were no material changes to the Fund’s 
policies and processes for managing liquidity risk and the methods used to measure risk since the prior year end.

period at the Statement of Financial Position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts in the table are the 

As at 30 September 2025 

Less than one month 
EUR

More than one 
month 

EUR
Total 
EUR

Accrued expenses – 43,604 43,604
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating units 20,695,655 – 20,695,655

20,695,655 43,604 20,739,259

As at 30 September 2025 

Less than one month 
EUR

More than one 
month 

EUR
Total 
EUR

Accrued expenses – 106,148 106,148
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating units 72,304,433 – 72,304,433

72,304,433 106,148 72,410,581

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.
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As at 30 September 2025 KBI Innovator Fund

Less than one month 
EUR

More than one 
month 

EUR
Total 
EUR

Accrued expenses – 69,328 69,328
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating units 50,756,742 – 50,756,742

50,756,742 69,328 50,826,070

As at 30 September 2025 

Less than one month 
EUR

More than one 
month 

EUR
Total 
EUR

Accrued expenses – 27,740 27,740
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating units 15,630,568 – 15,630,568

15,630,568 27,740 15,658,308

Less than one month 
EUR

More than one 
month 

EUR
Total 
EUR

Accrued expenses – 47,769 47,769
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating units 26,527,688 – 26,527,688
Redemption of shares awaiting settlement 58,000 – 58,000

26,585,688 47,769 26,633,457

Less than one month 
EUR

More than one 
month 

EUR
Total 
EUR

Accrued expenses – 87,452 87,452
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating units 67,286,402 – 67,286,402

67,286,402 87,452 67,373,854

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.

KBI Innovator Fund

Less than one month 
EUR

More than one 
month 

EUR
Total 
EUR

Accrued expenses – 66,280 66,280
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating units 57,555,482 – 57,555,482
Redemption of shares awaiting settlement 567,000 – 567,000

58,122,482 66,280 58,188,762
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Less than one month 
EUR

More than one 
month 

EUR
Total 
EUR

Accrued expenses – 24,901 24,901
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating units 13,586,273 – 13,586,273

13,586,273 24,901 13,611,174

approximated their fair values.

measurements are categorised for assets and liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position.

The disclosures are based on a three-level fair value hierarchy for the inputs used in valuation techniques to measure fair 

current asking price. The fair value of the currency forward contracts held by the Sub-Funds is arrived at using a pricing 
model.

using valuation techniques. The Sub-Funds use a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market 
conditions existing at the year end date. This requires the Sub-Funds to classify fair value measurements using a fair 

The Alternative Investment Manager (“AIFM”) has established a Pricing Committee, an independent acting body 
within Amundi Ireland Limited (“AIL”) that reviews KBIGI’s valuation principles and procedures and oversees the 
application of those principles and procedures on a regular basis.  The Sub-Funds classify fair value measurements 
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The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

• Level 1: Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 
the reporting entity has the ability to access at the valuation date. An active market for the asset or liability is a 

information on an ongoing basis; 

• Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly (that is, as prices) 
or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). Fair value is determined through the use of models or other valuation 
methodologies utilising such inputs. This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active 
markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less 
than active markets in which there are few transactions for the asset or liability, the prices are not current, or price 
quotations vary substantially either over time or among market makers, or in which little information is released 

market data (e.g. interest rate and yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals, implied volatilities and 
credit spreads), inputs that are derived principally from, or corroborated by, observable market data by correlation 
or other means; or

• 
participants would be expected to value the asset or liability. This category includes all instruments for which the 

from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual 
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

for which observable market prices exist and other valuation models. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation 
techniques include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other premia used in estimating discount 
rates, bond and equity prices, foreign currency exchange rates, equity and equity index prices and expected price 
volatilities and correlations.

received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date.

The ability to redeem the Sub-Fund’s investment, determined by investment lot, within 90 days of the Statement of 

Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy. 

respective fund’s administrator. For these Sub-Funds, the Directors of the AIFM believe the Sub-Funds could have 
redeemed its investment at the net asset value per Share in line with the required redemption notice periods at the 
Statement of Financial Position date.

All of the investment funds representing Level 3 investments were valued at the unaudited NAV determined by the 
administrators of the underlying investments, without adjustment.

Inputs are used in applying the various valuation techniques and broadly refer to the assumptions that market participants 
use to make valuation decisions, including assumptions about risk. Inputs may include price information, volatility 
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judgement by Directors of the AIFM. Directors of the AIFM consider observable data to be that market data which is

hierarchy is based upon the pricing transparency of the instrument and does not necessarily correspond to Directors’ of
the AIFM perceived risk of that instrument.

As at 30 September 2025

Assets
 Level 2 Level 3 

- Investment Funds 843 19,847 –
Total Assets 843 19,847 –

Assets
 Level 2 Level 3 

- Investment Funds 4,291 22,180 –
Total Assets 4,291 22,180 –

There were some transfers between level 1 and level 2 at year end following a judgemental assessment of the level of 
trading nature and liquidity of the funds held.

measured at fair value at Statement of Financial Position date.

As at 30 September 2025

Assets
 Level 2 Level 3 

- Investment Funds 6,748 65,525 –
Total Assets 6,748 65,525 –

Assets
 Level 2 Level 3 

- Investment Funds 29,223 37,999 –
Total Assets 29,223 37,999 –

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.
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As at 30 September 2025

Assets
 Level 2 Level 3 

- Investment Funds 1,933 48,666 –
Total Assets 1,933 48,666 –

Assets
 Level 2 Level 3 

- Investment Funds 2,331 54,875 –
Total Assets 2,331 54,875 –

There were some transfers between level 1 and level 2 at year end following a judgmental assessment of the nature and 
liquidity of the funds held.

As at 30 September 2025

Assets
 Level 2 Level 3 

- Equity Securities 15,594 – –
Total Assets 15,594 – –

Assets
 Level 2 Level 3 

- Equity Securities 13,545 – –
Total Assets 13,545 – –

There were some transfers between level 1 and level 2 at year end following a judgemental assessment of the level of
trading nature and liquidity of the funds held.

KBI Innovator Fund
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The following tables represents the movement in Level 3 instruments:

30 September 2025

 
Investment 

   Total 

Opening Balance – – – –
Transfers to Level 3 – – - -
Sales – – - -
Purchases – – - -
Gains/(losses) recognised in statement of comprehensive 
income – – - –

– – – –

assets held at the end of the year - - - -

Investment 
 

€ 000
 

€ 000
 

€ 000
Total 
€ 000

Opening Balance 117 – – 117
Transfers to Level 3 – – – –
Sales (221) – – (221)
Purchases – – – –
Gains recognised in Statement of Comprehensive 
Income 104 – – 104

– – – –

Total gains for the year included in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in relation to the assets held at 
the end of the year – –
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Level 3 investments are valued at the unaudited NAV determined by the administrators of the underlying funds, there 

information to comply with the sensitivity analysis disclosure requirement of  IFRS 13, no sensitivity analysis is 
included.

  Unobservable
 September 2025  Inputs

Investment  
Funds

  €50
Valuation based on the 
closing Net Asset Value 
of each underlying Fund

See note   
2 (b) (iii)

Undetermined

  Unobservable
 Inputs

Investment  
Funds

€370
Valuation based on the 
closing Net Asset Value 
of each underlying Fund

See note  
 2 (b) (iii)

Undetermined

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety is determined 

in the Level 3 category in the above Sub-Funds is a venture capital fund. 

Financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value are categorised in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy and 
consist of cash and cash equivalents, other receivables and other payables, as disclosed in the Statement of Financial 
Position.

KBI Global Investment Fund is contractually required to provide further investment in the form of investment 
commitments to certain investments as part of the conditions for entering into those investments. During the year 
ended 30 September 2025, the Sub-Fund funded capital calls of €Nil (2024: €Nil). At 30 September 2025, there were 
unfunded investment commitments in the amount of €12,081 (2024: €12,081). The Sub-Fund has no other unfunded 
investment commitments as of 30 September 2025 (2024: €Nil). 
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KBI  
KBI Innovator Fund

KBI  

Fund
Year ended 

30 September 2025 
EUR

Year ended 
30 September 2025 

EUR

Year ended 
30 September 2025 

EUR

Year ended 
30 September 2025 

EUR

Dividend income 72,676 226,130 – 621,441

Deposit Interest 610 – 928 226
Sundry income 42 42 42 42

73,328 226,172 970 621,709

KBI Innovator Fund

KBI  

Fund
Year ended 

 
EUR

Year ended 
 

EUR

Year ended 
 

EUR

Year ended 
 

EUR

Dividend income 102,481 183,323 – 610,966

Deposit Interest 3,141 3,977 2,969 1,728
Sundry income 413 413 413 1,381

106,035 187,713 3,382 614,075

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.

KBI  
KBI Innovator Fund

KBI  

Fund
Year ended 

30 September 2025 
EUR 

Year ended 
30 September 2025 

EUR 

Year ended 
30 September 2025 

EUR 

Year ended 
30 September 2025 

EUR 

Realised gains on sale of investments 2,866,794 122,526 3,030,205 1,055,722
Realised losses on sale of investments (211,070) (8,867) (3,765) (609,124)
Net change in unrealised appreciation on 
investments 287,757 3,786,331 286,333 2,054,974
Net change in unrealised depreciation on 
investments (2,052,806) (313,246) (3,855,932) (972,740)

890,675 3,586,744 (543,159) 1,528,832

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.
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KBI Innovator Fund

KBI  

Fund
Year ended 

 
EUR 

Year ended 
 

EUR 

Year ended 
 

EUR 

Year ended 
 

EUR 

Realised gains on sale of investments 8,443,776 1,996,830 4,043,180 1,459,867
Realised losses on sale of investments (911,276) – (1,412) (722,735)
Net change in unrealised appreciation on 
investments 1,347,598 7,062,240 6,844,071 1,591,141
Net change in unrealised depreciation on 
investments (3,016,461) – (2,226,545) (831,396)

5,863,637 9,059,070 8,659,294 1,496,877

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.

Fund
KBI  KBI Innovator 

Fund

KBI  

Fund
Year ended 

30 September 2025 
EUR

Year ended 
30 September 2025 

EUR

Year ended 
30 September 2025 

EUR

Year ended 
30 September 2025 

EUR

Administration fees 8,093 24,150 18,212 5,035
AIFM fees 3,237 9,660 7,285 2,014
Auditor's fees 9,563 10,513 10,505 10,513
Bank payment charges 376 1,795 376 376
Depositary fees 8,923 33,102 13,485 12,586
Financial Regulator levy 3,679 3,679 3,679 3,679
Legal fees (415) 4,431 5,326 852
Investment Management fees 115,610 345,001 195,128 –
Miscellaneous fees* 9,185 7,621 9,315 7,527
Professional fees 1,522 1,522 1,522 1,522
Transaction costs (non-trading) 476 222 708 115

160,249 441,696 265,541 44,219

Fund
KBI Innovator 

Fund

KBI  

Fund
Year ended 

 
EUR

Year ended 
 

EUR

Year ended 
 

EUR

Year ended 
 

EUR

Administration fees 13,058 22,760 20,288 4,889
AIFM fees 5,160 9,041 8,052 1,893
Auditor’s fees 9,857 11,757 11,757 11,757
Bank payment charges 339 1,786 401 383
Depositary fees 14,945 31,810 15,004 11,832
Financial Regulator levy 3,001 3,001 3,001 3,001
Legal fees 893 346 345 1,433
Investment Management fees 184,297 322,903 216,065 –
Miscellaneous fees* 7,793 6,198 8,480 6,962
Professional fees 2,532 2,532 2,532 –
Transaction costs (non-trading) 540 157 679 40

242,415 412,291 286,604 42,190

*Miscellaneous fees include ISS Europe fees and Solution Providers fees.
^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.
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KBI  
KBI Innovator Fund

KBI  

Fund
Year ended 

30 September 2025 
EUR

Year ended 
30 September 2025 

EUR

Year ended 
30 September 2025 

EUR

Year ended 
30 September 2025 

EUR
Commission 440 534 – 4,007
Trade Expenses 2 – – 12,663

442 534 – 16,670

Fund^ KBI Innovator Fund

KBI  

Fund
Year ended 

 
EUR

Year ended 
 

EUR

Year ended 
 

EUR

Year ended 
 

EUR
Commission – – – 16
Trade Expenses 1,199 1,823 – 15,406

1,199 1,823 – 15,422

*While the total transaction costs are correct for the prior period there was an incorrect allocation between Commission and Trade Expense and hence 
the large individual variance year-on-year.

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.

All cash is held with The Northern Trust Company (“TNTC”) as at 30 September 2025 and 30 September 2024.

KBI  
KBI Innovator Fund

KBI  

Fund
As at 

30 September 2025 
EUR

As at 
30 September 2025 

EUR

As at 
30 September 2025 

EUR

As at 
30 September 2025 

EUR

Dividend income receivable – 30,911 – –
Interest on cash instruments receivable 10 25 22 20
Sundry income receivable 126 126 126 126

136 31,062 148 146

Fund^ KBI Innovator Fund

KBI  

Fund
As at 

 
EUR

As at 
 

EUR

As at 
 

EUR

As at 
 

EUR

Dividend income receivable – 20,808 – –
Interest on cash instruments receivable 132 118 – 52
Sundry income receivable 84 83 84 83

216 21,009 84 135

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.

As at 30 September 2025, the Fund held a bank overdraft in the amount of €Nil (30 September 2024: €Nil) with The 
Northern Trust Company (“TNTC”).
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KBI  
KBI Innovator Fund

KBI  

Fund
As at 

30 September 2025 
EUR

As at 
30 September 2025 

EUR

As at 
30 September 2025 

EUR

As at 
30 September 2025 

EUR

Administration fees payable 3,111 10,449 7,378 2,235
Auditor's fees payable 9,570 10,520 10,516 10,520
Bank charges payable 34 139 34 65
Dealing yet to be processed 49 – 51 –
Depositary fees payable 3,484 14,165 5,385 5,587
Financial Regulator levy payable 2,175 2,175 2,175 1,050
Legal fees payable 612 2,445 4,280 2,446
Investment Management fees payable 17,138 60,049 31,710 –
AIFM fees payable 253 883 621 189
Other expenses payables 6,820 4,965 6,820 5,290
Professional fees payable 358 358 358 358

43,604 106,148 69,328 27,740

KBI Innovator Fund

KBI  

Fund
As at 

 
EUR

As at 
 

EUR

As at 
 

EUR

As at 
 

EUR

Administration fees payable 1,514 3,831 3,310 770
Auditor’s fees payable 9,578 10,528 10,528 10,528
Bank charges payable 64 284 64 64
Bank Interest payable – – 52 –
Depositary fees payable 1,720 5,398 2,402 1,925
Financial Regulator levy payable 4,003 4,003 4,003 4,003
Legal fees payable 1,348 1,915 1,915 1,915
Investment Management fees payable 21,624 54,730 35,526 –
AIFM fees payable 605 1,532 1,324 308
Other expenses payables 6,788 4,706 6,631 4,863
Professional fees payable 525 525 525 525
Redemptions of units awaiting 
settlement 58,000 – 567,000 –

105,769 87,452 633,280 24,901

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.

Class A units shall not be entitled to a dividend while Class B units shall in the event that a distribution is declared.

Year ended 
30 September 2025

Year ended 

 

Balance at the beginning of year 2,150,515 4,201,665
Issued during year 148,652 123,496
Redeemed during year (690,321) (2,174,646)
Total number of Series 1A - EUR Units 
in issue at end of year 1,608,846 2,150,515
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KBI 
Year ended 

30 September 2025
Year ended 

 

Balance at the beginning of year 5,554,002 5,826,318
Issued during year 394,443 55,350
Redeemed during year (170,806) (327,666)
Total number of Series 1A - EUR Units 
in issue at end of year 5,777,639 5,554,002

 

Balance at the beginning of year 3,746,362 4,077,030
Issued during year – –
Redeemed during year (217,240) (330,668)
Total number of Series 1A - GBP Units 
in issue at end of year 3,529,122 3,746,362

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.

KBI Innovator Fund
Year ended 

30 September 2025
Year ended 

 

Balance at the beginning of year 79,065 87,231
Issued during year – –
Redeemed during year (79,065) (8,166)
Total number of Series 1A - EUR Units 
in issue at end of year – 79,065

 

Balance at the beginning of year 24,879,241 28,792,709
Issued during year 343,656 154,920
Redeemed during year (2,965,933) (4,068,388)
Total number of Series 8A - EUR Units 
in issue at end of year 22,256,964 24,879,241

^Terminated 4 October 2024.

KBI 
Year ended 

30 September 2025
Year ended 

 

Balance at the beginning of year 4,290,598 5,663,789
Issued during year – –
Redeemed during year – (1,373,191)
Total number of Equity Units - Series 10A - EUR Units 
in issue at end of year 4,290,598 4,290,598
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The Dealing Net Asset Value per Unit in issue is determined by dividing the value of the Net Assets Attributable to the 
Unitholders by the total number of units in issue at that time.

As at 30 September 2025 As at 30 September 2023
EUR EUR EUR

20,695,655 26,527,688 45,138,278

Net Asset Net Asset Net Asset
In Issue In Issue In Issue

         
Series 1A - EUR 1,608,846 12.86 2,150,515 12.34 4,201,665 10.74

KBI As at 30 September 2025 As at 30 September 2023
EUR EUR EUR

72,304,433 67,286,402 61,862,798

Net Asset Net Asset Net Asset
In Issue In Issue In Issue

         
Series 1A - EUR 5,777,639 10.80 5,554,002 10.31 5,826,318 8.99
Series 1A - GBP 3,529,122 2.80 3,746,362 2.68 4,077,030 2.33

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.

KBI Innovator Fund As at 30 September 2025 As at 30 September 2023
EUR EUR EUR

50,756,742 57,555,482 57,549,040

Net Asset Net Asset Net Asset
In Issue In Issue In Issue

         
Series 1A – EUR^ – – 79,065 2.21 87,231 1.91
Series 8A - EUR 22,256,964 2.28 24,879,241 2.31 28,792,709 1.99

^Terminated 4 October 2024.

KBI As at 30 September 2025 As at 30 September 2023
EUR EUR EUR

15,630,568 13,586,273 15,244,085

Net Asset Net Asset Net Asset
In Issue In Issue In Issue

         
Equity Units - Series 10A - EUR 4,290,598 3.64 4,290,598 3.17 5,663,789 2.69
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Sub-Fund to Sub-Fund and from class to class. The annual fee is accrued daily and payable monthly in arrears. No 
performance fee applied to the Sub-Funds in the current year. The Sub-Funds receive a rebate of the management 
fee incurred on any of the KBI collective investment funds in which they are invested. These underlying Funds are 

The below table outlined the AIFM, Depositary and Administrator fees that may be charged to the relevant Class 

AIFM    

Series 1A – EUR 0.515% 0.11% 0.05%

KBI 
Series 1A - EUR 0.515% 0.11% 0.05%
Series 1A - GBP 0.515% 0.11% 0.05%

KBI Innovator Fund
Series 1A – EUR^^ 0.605% 0.11% 0.05%
Series 8A - EUR 0.39% 0.11% 0.05%

KBI 
Equity Units - Series 10A - EUR 0.015% 0.11% 0.05%

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.
^^Terminated 4 October 2024.

IAS 24 “Related Party Transactions” (IAS 24) requires the disclosure of information relating to material transactions 
with parties who are deemed to be related to the reporting entity.

Amundi Ireland Limited as the AIFM of the Sub-Funds earned €22,196 during the year 30 September 2025 (30 
September 2024: €24,146) of which €1,946 (30 September 2024: €3,769) was payable at year end. The AIFM is 
responsible for discharging the investment manager and distribution fee.

KBI Global Investors Limited as the Investment Manager of the Sub-Funds earned €655,739 (30 September 2024: 
€723,265) of which €108,897 (30 September 2024: €111,880) was payable at year end.

Any transaction carried out with the Fund by a promoter, manager, depositary, investment adviser and/or associate of 
these (“connected parties”) are carried out as if negotiated at arm’s length and are in the best interests of the unitholders. 

Remuneration of the Directors of the AIFM

Fees of €2,500 (30 September 2024: €2,500) and €3,500 (30 September 2024: €4,200) in respect of the role played by 
Catherine Lane and Bernard Hanratty on the Board of the AIFM in respect of this trust are borne by the AIFM on behalf 
of the trust.
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There were no interests held by the Directors and Secretary of the AIFM in the Sub-Funds of the Fund for the year 
ended 30 September 2025 or for the year ended 30 September 2024.

As at 30 September 2025, the following KBI Global Investors funds held units in the KBI Global Investment Fund 
range as follows:

KBI 

KBI Integris Managed 
Fund^

4,290,598 4,290,598 

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.

Net Asset Value Per Unit are shown in Note 14 on page 49 .

There were no other funds under the management of Amundi Ireland Limited who have invested in the KBI Global 
Investment Fund Sub-Funds range during the year.

The individual Sub-Funds Schedules of Investments list the cross holdings between various KBI Global Investment 
Funds. These commence on page 49 of these Financial Statements. In addition to holding positions in various other KBI 
Global Investment Fund’s Sub-Funds, the following Sub-Funds of KBI Global Investment Fund hold positions in other 
KBI products as at 30 September 2025 and 30 September 2024 as follows:

KBI Managed Fund 63,175 – 118,877  161,118 165,319 241,389 
KBI Innovator Fund – – 534,803 699,147 – –

KBI 
Fund

KBI Managed Fund 2,109  2,466 85,353  103,785 –  –
KBI Integris Managed Fund^ – – – – 1,214,947  1,084,795
KBI Innovator Fund 67,345 74,313 – – – –

KBI Global Small Cap 

KBI Managed Fund –  68,616  125,780 126,513 87,770  82,988
KBI Integris Managed Fund^ 183,103 183,103  –  – 158,029  158,029
KBI Innovator Fund 369,261 417,749 315,981  315,981 299,596  299,596

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.

As at 30 September 2025, KBI Managed Fund held 8,931 (30 September 2024: 14,325) shares and KBI Integris 
Managed Fund held 54,182 (30 September 2024: 47,653) shares in Amundi Euro Government Bond 10-15Y UCITS 
ETF, a fund managed by the Amundi Asset Management.
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Details of each Sub-Fund’s underlying investments at the year end are included in the Condensed Schedule of 
Investments.

The Fund will not be liable for tax in respect of its income and gains, other than on the occurrence of a chargeable event. 
A chargeable event includes any distribution or any redemption or transfer of Units.

A chargeable event does not include:

i) Any transactions in relation to Redeemable Participating Units held in a recognised clearing system as 
designated by order of the Revenue Commissioners of Ireland; 

ii) An exchange of Redeemable Participating Units representing one Sub-Fund for another Sub-Fund of the 
Fund; or

iii) An exchange of Redeemable Participating Units arising on a qualifying amalgamation or reconstruction of 
the Fund with another fund.

 
A chargeable event will not occur in respect of Redeemable Participating Unitholders who are neither resident nor 

Similarly, a chargeable event will not occur if a unitholder is an Exempt Irish Investor and makes a Relevant Declaration 

contained therein is no longer materially correct. There were a number of chargeable events during the year and relevant 
tax was withheld from unitholders on redemption of units.

In the absence of an appropriate declaration, the Fund will be liable for Irish tax on the occurrence of a chargeable event 
and the Fund reserves its right to withhold such taxes from payments to relevant unitholders.

Capital gains, dividends and interest received may be subject to withholding taxes imposed by the country of origin and 
such taxes may not be recoverable by the Fund or its Unitholders. A chargeable event includes any distribution payment 
to unitholders or any encashment, redemption or transfer of units or an ending of a Relevant Period.

The comparative information is supplied for the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 September 2024. The 
comparative information supplied for the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Changes in Net Assets 
Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Units and the Statement of Cash Flows is for the year from 1 
October 2023 to 30 September 2024.

None of the Sub-Funds made any distributions during the year ended 30 September 2025 (30 September 2024: Nil).
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The following exchange rates were used to convert investments, assets and liabilities to the functional currency of the 
Sub-Funds as at 30 September 2025 and 30 September 2024:

As at 
30 September 2025 

As at 
 

Australian Dollar 1.7729 1.6087
Canadian Dollar 1.6349 1.5077
Danish Krone 7.4645 7.4547
Hong Kong Dollar 9.1420 8.6689
Japanese Yen 173.5300 159.6398
New Zealand Dollar 2.0236 1.7541
Norwegian Krone 11.7239 11.7550
Pound Sterling 0.8728 0.8320
Singapore Dollar 1.5148 1.4308
Swedish Krona 11.0510 11.3130
Swiss Franc 0.9349 0.9414
United States Dollar 1.1750 1.1161

As at or during the year ended 30 September 2025, KBI Integris Managed Fund^ held the following number of units in 
KBI Global Investment Fund:

 KBI  

KBI Integris Eurozone Equity Fund 4,290,598

KBI 

KBI  

Fund
EUR

Opening Cost 7,423,698
Issue of units –
Redemption of units –
Realised gain on sale of investments –
Closing Cost 7,423,698
Fair Value 15,630,563
Unrealised gain 8,206,865

Cross Investment
EUR

KBI Integris Eurozone Equity Fund 15,630,563
Total Fair Value 15,630,563

Realised gain –
Unrealised gain 8,206,865
Total gains 8,206,865

 

KBI Integris Eurozone Equity Fund 4,290,598 14,462,126

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on KBI Integris Managed Fund name.
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As at or during the year ended 30 September 2024, KBI Managed Fund and KBI Ethical Managed Fund^ held the 
following number of units in KBI Global Investment Fund as follows:

Fund^

KBI Integris Eurozone Equity Fund 4,290,598

KBI  

Fund
EUR

Opening Cost 9,799,627
Issue of units –
Redemption of units (3,643,454)
Realised gain on sale of investments 1,267,525
Closing Cost 7,423,698
Fair Value 13,586,265
Unrealised gain 6,162,567

Cross Investment
EUR

KBI Integris Eurozone Equity Fund 13,586,265

Total Fair Value 13,586,265

Realised gain 1,267,525
Unrealised gain 6,162,567

Total gains 7,430,092

KBI Integris Eurozone Equity Fund 4,405,948 13,320,697

^Refer to Events During the Year on page 54 regarding the change on  KBI Integris Managed Fund name.

December 2024. These updates captured (1) a name change on the KBI Ethical Managed Fund to KBI Integris Managed 
Fund, (2) an increase in the minimum E/S % (Environmental/ Social %) from 25% to 70% on the KBI Innovator Fund 
and (3) minor tidy-up in terms of references to closed and revoked funds.

KBI Innovator Fund Series 1A-EUR 4 October 2024

Statements.

There have been no events subsequent to the year end, which, in the opinion of the Directors of the AIFM, may have 
had an impact on the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 September 2025.

30 September 2025 (30 September 
2024: €Nil).
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Total Fund
Year ended

30 September 
2025
EUR

Total Fund
Year ended

30 September 

EUR 
Statutory audit of Financial Statements* 32,490 32,490

32,490 32,490

*Excluding VAT

The Financial Statements were approved by the Directors of the AIFM on 16 January 2026.
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As at 30 September 2025

The percentages in brackets show the equivalent country and sector holdings at 30 September 2024.
 

EUR
  

Net Assets

  

Ireland: 80.50% (2024: 77.89%) 16,660,654 80.50
Luxembourg: 19.47% (2024: 21.90%) 4,029,498 19.47

Total Investment Funds

 

*All cash holdings are held with Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited.

 
EUR

%  
Net Assets

165,319 KBI Developed Equity Fund 6,378,190 30.82
85,353 KBI Eurozone Equity Fund 2,692,447 13.01

118,877 KBI Emerging Markets Equity Fund 2,401,085 11.60
8,931 Amundi Euro Government Bond 10-15Y UCITS ETF 1,782,449 8.61

125,780 KBI Global Small Cap Equity Fund 1,495,395 7.23
107,505 Goldman Sachs Funds SICAV - Absolute Return Tracker Portfolio 1,487,874 7.19

63,175 KBI Global Energy Transition Fund 1,131,973 5.47
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As at 30 September 2025

The percentages in brackets show the equivalent country and sector holdings at 30 September 2024.
 

EUR
  

Net Assets

  

Ireland: 73.38% (2024: 70.25%) 53,054,261 73.38
Luxembourg: 26.58% (2024: 29.65%) 19,218,399 26.58

Total Investment Funds

 

*All cash holdings are held with Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited.

 
EUR

%  
Net Assets

1,214,947 KBI Integris Global Equity Fund 24,544,363 33.95
4,290,598 KBI Integris Eurozone Equity Fund 15,630,563 21.62

54,182 Amundi Euro Government Bond 10-15Y UCITS ETF 10,813,644 14.96
41,646 PIMCO Euro Low Duration Corporate Bond UCITS ETF 4,275,483 5.91

 
*
discussed in Events During the Year section of the Notes to Financial Statements. 
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As at 30 September 2025

The percentages in brackets show the equivalent country and sector holdings at 30 September 2024.
 

EUR
  

Net Assets

  

Ireland: 98.13% (2024: 98.58%) 49,807,799 98.13
Luxembourg: 1.56% (2024: 0.81%) 791,015 1.56

Total Investment Funds

 

*All cash holdings are held with Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited.

 
EUR

%  
Net Assets

67,345 KBI Global Solutions Fund 23,152,600 45.62
534,803 KBI Emerging Markets Equity Fund 10,801,961 21.28
369,261 KBI Global Sustainable Infrastructure Fund 6,773,363 13.34
315,981 KBI Global Small Cap Equity Fund 3,756,702 7.40
299,596 KBI Circular Economy Fund 3,390,228 6.68
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As at 30 September 2025

The percentages in brackets show the equivalent country and sector holdings at 30 September 2024.
 

EUR
  

Net Assets

 

Belgium: 6.15% (2024: 4.49%) 961,816 6.15
Bermuda: 0.26% (2024: 0.00%) 40,287 0.26
Finland: 6.41% (2024: 8.72%) 1,002,482 6.41
France: 24.51% (2024: 24.90%) 3,830,086 24.51
Germany: 16.14% (2024: 17.20%) 2,523,288 16.14
Italy: 15.54% (2024: 13.27%) 2,428,856 15.54
Netherlands: 10.96% (2024: 13.68%) 1,713,307 10.96
Spain: 19.80% (2024: 16.79%) 3,094,177 19.80
United Kingdom: 0.00% (2024: 0.64%) – –

 

*All cash holdings are held with Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited.
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All Cost
EUR

Morgan Stanley Liquidity Funds - Euro Liquidity Fund 14,998 1,706,000
KBI Global Energy Transition Fund 63,175 1,000,000
KBI Global Small Cap Equity Fund 25,191 311,868
KBI Circular Economy Fund 22,282 264,759

All
Sales EUR

KBI Developed Equity Fund 76,070 2,859,920
Morgan Stanley Liquidity Funds - Euro Liquidity Fund 11,713 1,334,000
KBI Global Sustainable Infrastructure Fund 68,616 1,241,540
Goldman Sachs Funds SICAV - Absolute Return Tracker Portfolio 85,491 1,120,026
Amundi Euro Government Bond 10-15Y UCITS ETF 5,394 1,078,403
KBI Emerging Markets Equity Fund 42,241 788,060
KBI Eurozone Equity Fund 18,433 556,223
KBI Global Small Cap Equity Fund 25,925 287,793
KBI Circular Economy Fund 17,501 194,379
PIMCO Short-Term High Yield Corporate Bond Source ETF 2,412 177,696
KBI Global Solutions Fund 357 118,442
 
All purchases and sales for the year ended 30 September 2025 are presented.
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All Cost
EUR

KBI Integris Global Equity Fund 130,153 2,489,167
Amundi Euro Government Bond 10-15Y UCITS ETF 6,529 1,270,226
PIMCO Euro Low Duration Corporate Bond UCITS ETF 2,571 262,843

All
Sales EUR

Morgan Stanley Liquidity Funds - Euro Liquidity Fund 22,406 2,555,000
 
All purchases and sales for the year ended 30 September 2025 are presented.
 
*
discussed in Events During the Year section of the Notes to Financial Statements.
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All Cost
EUR

Morgan Stanley Liquidity Funds - Euro Liquidity Fund 40,581 4,620,000

All
Sales EUR

Morgan Stanley Liquidity Funds - Euro Liquidity Fund 37,861 4,317,281
KBI Emerging Markets Equity Fund 164,344 3,141,505
KBI Global Solutions Fund 6,967 2,367,254
KBI Global Sustainable Infrastructure Fund 48,487 857,689
 
All purchases and sales for the year ended 30 September 2025 are presented.
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Cost
EUR

Cie Generale des Etablissements Michelin SCA 15,843 517,524
CaixaBank 59,954 427,484
Teleperformance 4,731 423,836
Deutsche Bank 18,225 398,405
Intesa Sanpaolo 93,975 382,566
Capgemini 2,128 335,681
Brenntag 4,854 296,868
Banca Mediolanum 17,358 288,231
Endesa 10,695 267,908
Arkema 3,819 266,823
Bechtle 7,989 260,311
ING Groep 17,059 259,439
Rational 363 254,152
Ageas 4,391 232,268
BE Semiconductor Industries 2,242 230,426
Orange 16,315 177,148
Aena 798 176,646
Edenred 6,676 173,451
Enel 21,802 158,058
Nokia 30,379 135,799

Sales EUR

Stellantis 40,621 471,283
CaixaBank 80,695 450,370
Bechtle 10,535 379,477
Eurazeo 5,879 372,650
Metso 37,596 319,617
ING Groep 17,059 319,378
Arkema 4,337 272,920
Evonik Industries 15,720 259,114
Koninklijke Ahold Delhaize 6,642 232,629
Nokia 50,410 227,186
Iberdrola 13,590 204,349
Recordati 3,702 195,994
STMicroelectronics 8,464 191,232
Covivio 3,639 183,994
Teleperformance 2,689 179,002
Ipsen 1,591 167,877
Mercedes Benz 2,911 160,021
Assicurazioni Generali 5,115 154,229
Compagnie de Saint-Gobain 1,710 147,899
ACS Actividades de Construccion y Servicios 2,695 142,186

 
year.
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TER% 0.99%

TER% 0.91% 0.91%

KBI Innovator Fund

TER% 0.85%

TER% 0.30%

The Total Expense Ratios recorded above express the total operating costs of each Sub-Fund as a percentage of the average net 
asset value of each Series and of the Sub-Fund as a whole. The operating costs (which include fee rebates) are taken from these 
Financial Statements. The calculations are prepared in accordance with the Central Bank’s guidance methodology.

Many of the Sub-Funds of KBI Global Investment Fund (the “GIF”) invest in other funds and the costs associated with these 
investments are included in the TER calculation. Where an underlying fund amounts to more than 1% of the Net Asset Value 
(“NAV”) of the GIF Sub-Fund, the TERs of the underlying fund times its percentage value of the GIF NAV is added onto the 
GIF Sub-Fund and each GIF Series TER. The TERs used for the underlying funds are the latest available TERs in respect of 
these investments.

This calculation is done at a point in time i.e. 30 September 2025. A review of each Sub-Fund is completed to monitor any 
changes in its composition during the year to ensure that the note is made of costs associated with holding a fund for part of the 
reporting year but disposing of it prior to year-end. The GIF Sub-Funds remained very stable during the reporting year with no 

 
^
During the Year section of the Notes to Financial Statements.
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The following information is required to be made available to investors in the Sub-Funds of KBI Global Investment Fund before they invest, 
pursuant to Directive 2011/61/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council on Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive (the 
“AIFMD”). 

This information contains solely that information that the Alternative Investment Fund Managers (the “AIFM”) is required to make available 
to investors pursuant to the AIFMD and should not be relied upon as the basis for any investment decision. 

References to the AIFM are Amundi Ireland Limited; references to the Board are to the Directors of the AIFM; references to the Investment 
Manager are to KBI Global Investors Limited; and references to Unitholders are to unitholders in the Sub-Funds of KBI Global Investment 
Fund. 

such marketing is sought. For these purposes, he AIFM, as the legal entity is responsible for performing the portfolio and risk management of 
the Funds. 

The AIFMD imposes detailed and prescriptive obligations on fund managers established in the European Economic Area (EEA) (the “Operative 
Provisions”). 

The Central Bank of Ireland has granted its permission for the Sub-Funds of the KBI Global Investment Fund to be marketed in any EEA 
jurisdiction to which the AIFMD applies provided that the AIFM of the Fund complies with the applicable sections of the AIF Codes. The AIF 
Codes transpose the parts of the AIFMD and implementing legislation as far as such parts can be said to apply to any person in Ireland and 
apply to the AIFM and the Fund.

KBI Global Investment Fund is an open-ended umbrella unit trust authorised by the Central Bank of Ireland pursuant to the provisions of the 
Unit Trusts Act, 1990 and any regulations made thereunder.

The Prospectus, the Sub-Fund Information Card and each Class’ Information Card are governed by and construed in accordance with the 
laws of the Republic of Ireland and the main (but not the sole) legal implication of the contractual relationship entered into for the purpose of 

one undivided share in the assets of the Fund or Class (where applicable). Each Unitholder is bound by the terms of the Prospectus, the Trust 
Deed and the application form executed by or on behalf of each Unitholder. The application form is governed by Irish law and the parties 
thereto submit to the jurisdiction of the Irish courts. Irish law provides for the enforcements of judgements obtained in other countries subject 
to certain conditions having been met.

The AIFM of the Fund is Amundi Ireland Limited. It is responsible for the performance of portfolio and risk management, although it has 
delegated day to day responsibilities to KBI Global Investors Limited.  KBI Global Investors Limited is regulated by the Central Bank of 
Ireland. 

Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreements, certain investment management functions have been delegated to KBI Global Investors 

communicated to the Investment Manager. 

The Investment Management Agreement obliges the Investment Manager to carry out due diligence in the selection and ongoing monitoring 
of investments of the Sub-Funds in accordance with the AIFM’s Investment Due Diligence Policy for investments. The Investment Manager 

decisions are carried out in compliance with the investment objectives, investment strategy and risk limits of each Sub-Fund.

Investment management fees are outlined in Note 15 of the Financial Statements of the Fund.

The AIFM has appointed MFD Secretaries Limited as Secretary.
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The AIFM has ensured that a single Depositary has been appointed to each of the Funds it manages. The Depositary is authorised by the 
Central Bank to provide depositary services to Irish collective investment schemes. The AIFM undertook a due diligence process prior to the 

The AIFM has appointed Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited to act as Depositary to the assets of the Funds. The Depositary 

providing settlement services in relation to the Fund’s investment transactions.  

The Depositary provides reports to the Designated Directors and the Board in the manner outlined in the AIFM’s Programme of Activity. In 

of each Sub-Fund. This report is provided to the Board for inclusion in the annual report of the Fund. 

Fees paid to the Depositary are disclosed in the Financial Statements of the Fund.

The AIFM will inform investors before investment in the Sub-Funds of any arrangement made by the Depositary to contractually discharge 

Depositary to discharge itself of or transfer liability. The Depositary does not delegate any safe-keeping functions.

These activities may include managing or advising other funds (including other collective investment schemes), purchases and sales of 
securities, banking and investment management services, brokerage services, valuation of unlisted securities (in circumstances in which fees 

of other funds or companies, including funds or companies in which the Fund may invest. In particular, the AIFM and other companies within 
the KBI Group may be involved in advising or managing other investment funds (including other collective investment schemes) or other 
real estate portfolios which have similar or overlapping investment objectives to or with the Fund. Each of the Parties will use its reasonable 
endeavours to ensure that the performance of their respective duties will not be impaired by any such involvement they may have and that any 

The AIFM has appointed KPMG as Auditor of the Fund. 

Taking into account the nature, scale and complexity of the AIFM’s activities, the Board has put in place a remuneration policy which is 

The AIFM does not have direct employees but delegates portfolio management and risk management to KBI Global Investors Limited. The 
AIFM requires when delegating portfolio management (or any part thereof) and/or risk management activities, that: 

(i) the entities to which such activities have been delegated are subject to regulatory requirements on remuneration that are equally as 

(ii) appropriate contractual arrangements are put in place with entities to which such activities have been delegated in order to ensure that 
there is no circumvention of the remuneration rules set out in the ESMA Guidelines/Annex II of the Directive.

risk management function, independently of the performance of the business areas in which they are engaged. The method of determining the 

as their remuneration is not linked in any way to the AIFM’s performance.
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The fees of Catherine Lane and Bernard Hanratty, Independent Directors of the AIFM are paid by the two Trusts managed by the AIFM. 

2025, the Investment Manager KBI Global Investors Ltd, acting as a delegate of the AIFM, paid the following aggregate 
remuneration to its employees who (i) were engaged in portfolio or risk management activities or (ii) were in a position to impact the risk 

Number of persons: 10*

 the risk arises from uncertainty about future prices of investments held by the Fund, whether those changes are 

substantially without a change in the Fund portfolio, due to a change in market conditions;

 the risk that a deterioration in the creditworthiness may lead to a loss of investments;

faces the possibility of an unpredictable short term liability to provide cash to meet investor withdrawals. Given the typical terms 
for investors in collective investment schemes, 100% cash could be required at very short notice. However, this is in fact unlikely 
and not a practical basis for running a Sub-Fund. Nonetheless, the Investment Manager does take into account the diversity of 
the investor base and the notice required for redemptions when assessing a Sub-Fund’s potential liabilities from this source. The 

 the risk of a loss of investor value resulting from a default or failure of a counterparty associated with the 
Fund’s investments, including the risk of failure of the depositary;

 Market 
instruments related to such securities, may have a more limited market than the securities of larger companies. Accordingly, it may 

company with a large market capitalisation and broad trading market. In addition, securities of small-to-medium-sized companies 
may have greater price volatility as they are generally more vulnerable to adverse market factors such as unfavourable economic 
reports;

 Assets of a Sub-Fund may be denominated in a currency other than the Base Currency of the Sub-Fund. Changes 
in the exchange rate between the Base Currency and the currency of the asset may lead to a depreciation of the value of the Sub-

instruments. Sub-Funds may enter from time to time into currency exchange transactions either on a spot (i.e. cash) basis or by 
buying currency exchange derivative contracts. Neither spot transactions nor currency exchange derivative contracts eliminate 

should decline. Currency derivative transactions shall only be entered into in the currencies in which the Sub-Fund normally 
transacts business. Currently none of the Sub-Funds has engaged in currency derivative transactions;

 

 

 

 

 



69

  A Sub-Fund may purchase shares of other collective investment 
schemes to the extent that such investment is consistent with its investment objective, policies and restrictions. In such cases, the 
relevant Sub-Fund may invest in underlying schemes which use substantial leverage for their investments. During periods when 

net assets of the relevant Sub-Fund. The amount of leverage employed in the underlying schemes (which may be unlimited) is 
monitored through the due diligence processes used by the AIFM.

The cost of investing in a Sub-Fund which purchases shares of other collective investment schemes will generally be higher than 
the cost of investing in an investment fund that invests directly in individual stocks and bonds.  By investing in the relevant Sub-
Fund, an investor will indirectly bear fees and expenses charged by the underlying funds in addition to the Fund’s direct fees and 
expenses. Where a Sub-Fund invests substantially in other collective investment schemes, the risks associated with investing in 
that Sub-Fund may be closely related to the risks associated with the securities and other investments held by the other collective 
investment schemes;

 the risk of a loss of investor value resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems 
or from external events; and

 the risk that investor assets are incorrectly valued.

The AIFM has established and has implemented quantitative and qualitative risk limits for the Sub-Funds of the Fund, taking into account all 
relevant risks. 

Currently none of the Sub-Funds engage in leverage or use derivative strategies. The assets held consist primarily of:

• Equity securities of companies listed on recognised exchanges

• 

• 

• Regulated collective investment schemes of large, established fund promoters and investment managers 

The AIFM has in place a set of agreed investment restrictions per sub-fund which are designed to ensure each sub-fund is managed in 
accordance with its investment objectives. 

These investment restrictions are also designed to manage Market, Credit, Liquidity and Counterparty risks. All Sub-Funds are subject to the 
AIF Rulebook restrictions for Collective Investment Schemes. Other restrictions particular to a sub-fund of the Fund’s agreed investment 

the Board. Any issues or agreed changes are reported to the Investment Manager by the Designated Person. 

The following is a non-exhaustive list of quantitative limits and techniques that have been put in place by the AIFM to manage, measure and 
monitor the various risks to which the Sub-Funds are exposed:

(a) A Sub-Fund may not invest more than 20% of its net assets in securities issued by the same body; in the case of a Sub-Fund whose 

exceptional market condition;

(b) No more than 10% of the Sub-Fund’s net assets may be kept on deposit with any one institution. This may be increased to 30% 
where deposits are placed with institutions that meet certain criteria; 

(c) The Sub-Fund may not hold more than 20% of any class of security issued by any single issuer;

(d) The Sub-Fund may not invest more than 30% of its net assets in the units of any other sub-fund of the Sub-Fund or the units of any 
other collective investment scheme;

(e) A Sub-Fund may not invest more than 20% in unregulated collective investment schemes;
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(f) Fixed Income securities must have a rating of investment grade or above; and

(g) A Sub-Fund may invest no more than 20% of its net assets in securities which are not dealt in on a Recognised Exchange.

In accordance with its obligations under the European Union (Alternative Investment Fund Managers) Regulations 2013 (the “Regulations”) 
and EU Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No. 231/2013 (the “Level 2 Regulation”) The AIFM is required to employ an appropriate 
liquidity management system and adopt procedures which enable it to monitor the liquidity risk of the Sub-Funds and to ensure that the 

The AIFM’s liquidity management framework, in summary, requires each Sub-Fund to maintain a level of liquidity appropriate to its underlying 

liquidity risk.  

The table below outlines the nature of all of the Sub-Funds of the Fund:

KBI Global
Investment Fund

KBI Managed Fund Yes Yes Daily

KBI Integris Managed Fund^ Yes No Daily

KBI Integris Eurozone Equity Fund Yes No Daily

KBI Innovator Fund Yes No Daily

discussed in Events During the Year section of the Notes to Financial Statements.

KBI Managed Fund had relatively small weightings in the illiquid Sub-Funds detailed above. In order to prevent the allocations to these illiquid 
assets within the Managed Funds increasing disproportionately due to investor redemptions, where appropriate the AIFM reserves the right to 

in-specie.  

Details of any illiquidity issues are detailed in the AIFM’s AIFMD Reporting requirements to the CBI and are monitored by the Board at 
quarterly meetings.

have the ability to redeem their investments in a manner consistent with the fair treatment of all investors. 

The policies and procedures, which are adopted by the Fund, in relation to the redemption of units in the Sub-Funds are those set out in the 

under the Regulation. In the event of a material change in these policies and procedures, the AIFM will ensure that such material change will 
be disclosed to investors via a written communication. 

which are listed or traded on a recognised market, any such delegate shall presume that these instruments shall not compromise the ability of 

As part of its quarterly Board report, the delegate, which in this context shall also include any delegate to whom administration services have 
been delegated, will provide information to the Board on the liquidity management process adopted on behalf of each Sub-Fund to ensure 
that the assets are being managed in a manner that ensures that the ability to satisfy redemption requests in accordance with the terms of the 
Prospectus is not compromised. Where appropriate, such reports include information on periodic stress testing carried out by the delegate to 
manage the liquidity risk of the Funds in exceptional circumstances.
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The liquidity management system employed by the AIFM is set out below:

1. The AIFM instructs and monitors its delegate Investment Manager to maintain a level of liquidity in respect of each 
Sub-Fund appropriate to each Sub-Fund’s underlying obligations, based on an assessment of the relative liquidity of 
the assets in the market, taking account of the time required for liquidation and the price or value at which those assets 
can be liquidated and their sensitivity to other market risks or factors;

regulated market), the AIFM’s delegated Investment Manager takes the following considerations into account in order 
to properly assess the liquidity:

(a) the volume and turnover in the transferable security;

(b) if price is determined by supply and demand in the market, the issue size and the portion of the issue that the 
relevant Investment Manager plans to buy on behalf of the relevant Fund, also evaluation of the opportunity and 
timeframe to buy or sell;

delegate to indicate the relative liquidity and marketability of a particular instrument, as may the comparability 
of available prices; and

(d) in assessing the quality of the secondary market activity in a transferable security, analysis of the quality 
and number of intermediaries and market makers dealing in the transferable security concerned should be 
considered.

of individual assets which may have a material impact on liquidity and the material liabilities and commitments, 
contingent or otherwise, which the AIFM may have in relation to each Sub-Fund’s underlying obligations. For these 

the relative size of investments and the redemption terms to which these investments are subject;

4. The AIFM receives quarterly Board reports from the Fund Administrator and the Investment Manager outlining the 

5. Where the Sub-Funds invest in other collective investment undertakings, the AIFM must monitor the approach adopted 
by the managers of those other collective investment undertakings to the management of liquidity, including through 
conducting periodic reviews to monitor changes to the redemption provisions of the underlying collective investment 
undertakings in which the Sub-Funds invest. Note further: Subject to Article 16(1) of the Directive, this obligation 
shall not apply where the other collective investment undertakings in which a Sub-Fund invests are actively traded on 

6. As delegate, the Investment Manager undertakes regular monitoring of all collective investment undertakings held by 
the Sub-Funds, including regular discussions with the investment personnel of the relevant fund providers. Any issues 
of concern, including liquidity, will be raised with the Designated Director either on an adhoc basis, if urgent, or via 
the monthly reporting process as outlined in appendix 1 of the AIFM’s Programme of Activity document. Similarly, 
the Fund Administrator will also immediately report to the Designated Director any issues concerning the pricing 
or trading on any collective investment undertaking investment that are contrary to the relevant underlying fund 
documentation liquidity provisions;

7. For collective investment undertakings not managed by the delegate Investment Manager (i.e. 3rd party funds), the 
delegate Investment Manager will arrange for regular updates from the relevant Fund Administrator outlining the % 
of the overall 3rd party fund held by the relevant Sub-Funds of the Fund. Any weighting in a 3rd party fund of greater 
than 10% will be noted by the Investment Manager delegate to the Designated Director via the agreed reporting 
process and will be monitored closely to ensure it does not pose a risk to the stated liquidity terms of the relevant Sub-
Funds;
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8. The AIFM implements and maintains appropriate liquidity measurement arrangements and procedures to assess 
the quantitative and qualitative risks of existing and intended positions having a material impact on the liquidity 

understanding of the liquidity of the assets in which the Sub-Funds have invested or intends to invest including, where 
applicable, the trading volume and sensitivity of prices and, as the case may be, spreads of individual assets in normal 
and exceptional liquidity conditions; and

Funds as outlined in the following section of this policy.

The AIFM will where appropriate, considering the nature, scale and complexity of the Sub-Funds, implement and maintain adequate limits 
for the liquidity or illiquidity of the Sub-Funds consistent with its underlying obligations and redemption policy and in accordance with the 
requirements laid down in the AIFM’s Risk Management Policy relating to quantitative and qualitative risk limits.

The delegate Investment Manager’s policy for Sub-Funds that are priced daily is to be able to liquidate 90% of the holdings within 7 days. Prior 
to each investment, the Investment Manager must assess the marketability of the investments to ensure the investment will not compromise 

and only invests in collective investment schemes that are administered by recognised Fund Administrators, priced regularly and that have no 
known liquidity issues.  

For limited liquidity Sub-Funds of the Fund that issue NAV’s less frequently, the Investment Manager is tasked with assessing and identifying 
the illiquid investments that can be sold when conditions permit, so as to improve overall portfolio liquidity.

The delegate Investment Manager shall regularly monitor the liquidity of positions held and shall (i) report any issues immediately to the 

of the Sub-Funds.

Liquidity calculations are run on a monthly basis by the Performance Measurement & the Risk Analysis Unit of the Investment Manager. 
Breaches of the Investment Manager’s Liquidity policy are followed up by Compliance and Risk Unit and reported to the Investment Manager’s 
Risk Committee. Where there is a material issue the Designated Director will notify the Board accordingly.

For Sub-Funds primarily holding collective investment funds (fund-of-funds) the Investment Manager will use its qualitative judgement based 
on its market knowledge and analysis of each underlying collective investment fund, including the reported % held by the relevant Sub-Funds 
of the Fund in each collective investment undertaking, provided by the relevant Fund Administrators as noted earlier above, to ascertain if any 
liquidity issues are likely to arise. Knowledge of the investor base is also important in terms of assessing the probability of redemption requests. 
Any potential issues are reported to the Designated Director.

The Designated Director will monitor the information received from the Delegates, both the Investment Manager and the Fund Administrator, 

shall determine the required (or necessary) course of action. In determining appropriate action, the AIFM will consider the adequacy of the 

levels of redemption requests.

The arrangements which the AIFM has put in place to manage the liquidity risk of the Fund include the following;

(i) Deferred Redemptions / Gate

If the number of Units in a Sub-Fund falling to be redeemed as on any Dealing Day is equal to one tenth or, in the case of Sub-
Funds which have a quarterly Dealing Day, one quarter or more of the total number of Units in issue or deemed to be in issue in 
that Sub-Fund on such Dealing Day, the AIFM may in its discretion refuse to redeem any Units in that Sub-Fund in excess of one 
tenth or, in the case of Sub-Funds which have a quarterly Dealing Day, one quarter of the total number of Units in issue or deemed 

for redemption of Units in that Sub-Fund on such Dealing Day shall be reduced proportionately and the Units in the Sub-Fund to 
which each request relates which are not redeemed by reason of such refusal shall be treated as if a request for redemption had 
been made in respect of each subsequent Dealing Day until all the Units in the Sub-Fund to which the original request related have 
been redeemed. Requests for redemption which have been carried forward from an earlier Dealing Day shall (subject always to the 
foregoing limits) be complied with in priority to later requests;
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(ii) Full Suspension of Redemptions

The AIFM may elect to fully suspend the redemptions of a Sub-Fund if it deems it necessary and in the best interest of all unit 

holders of the Sub-Fund in such manner as may be directed by the AIFM in accordance with the Prospectus;

(iii) In Specie Redemptions in part or in whole

Where a redemption request in excess of 5% of a Sub-Funds NAV is received, the AIFM may satisfy the request in whole or in 
part and with the consent of the unitholder, by the transfer in specie of assets of the relevant Sub-Fund, having a value equal to the 
redemption price for the units redeemed as if the redemption proceeds were paid in cash, less any redemption charge and other 
expenses of the transfer, provided that any unitholder requesting redemption shall be entitled to request the sale of any asset or 
assets proposed to be distributed in specie and the distribution to such unitholder of the cash proceeds of such sale, the costs of 

prejudice to the interests of the remaining unitholders;

(iv) Side Pockets

The Board may create and issue a new class or classes of unit formed expressly for the purpose of being attributed to interests in 

to value (the “Side Pocket Units”). Such Side Pocket Units will be redeemable by the Fund only when so determined by the Board. 
The Manager must comply with the rules regarding the creation of Side Pocket Shares contained in the AIF Central Bank Rulebook; 
and

(v) Suspension of Net Asset Value Calculation

The Board may at any time declare a temporary suspension of the calculation of the Net Asset Value and/or the issue or redemption 
of units of the Sub-Funds during certain times, including any period during which the AIFM is unable to repatriate funds required 
for the purpose of making payments on the redemption of units of the Sub-Funds from unitholders or during which the transfer of 
funds involved in the realisation or acquisition of investments or payments due on redemption of units cannot, in the opinion of the 

manner as may be directed by the AIFM in accordance with the Prospectus and, unless withdrawn but subject to the limitation 

suspension occurs. Where possible, all reasonable steps will be taken to bring any period of suspension to an end as soon as possible. 

its Delegates in the event of any material change to the policy. The AIFM procures that each Delegate shall provide it with such reports, on 
request, as will enable it to monitor the performance of the Delegate and to monitor the Delegate’s compliance with this policy on an ongoing 
basis.

The Investment Manager is responsible for the investment of the assets of the Sub-Funds in accordance with the investment objective, policies 
and restrictions of each Sub-Fund, including quantitative and/or qualitative risk limits set for each Sub-Fund including market risks, credit 
risks, liquidity risks, counterparty risks and operational risks. 

for regularly monitoring the liquidity of all actual and intended positions, including collective investment undertakings, to ensure they are 
aligned with the stated liquidity requirements of the Sub-Funds. The Investment Manager is also responsible for reporting any liquidity issues 
immediately to the Designated Director of the AIFM, who will decide the most appropriate course of action. The Investment Manager will 
conduct stress tests, under normal and exceptional liquidity conditions, on the basis of reliable and up-to-date information, in quantitative and/
or qualitative terms. Where appropriate, the Investment Manager will simulate a shortage of liquidity of the assets in the Sub-Funds and a 
typical redemption requests and cover market risks and any resulting impact (including credit lines and valuation sensitivities under stressed 
conditions) in order to enable the Board to assess and monitor the liquidity risk of the Sub-Funds.
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(b)   At least 80% of the Fund’s net assets must be invested in securities that are dealt in on a Recognised Exchange; 

(c)   The Fund may not invest in physical commodities or real estate directly; and 

(d)   At least 90% of the assets of each direct Sub-Fund that holds listed securities can be liquidated by the Investment Manager within 
a 7 day timeframe.

(a) A Sub-Fund may not invest more than 20% of net assets in deposits with the same credit institution. This may be increased to 30% 
where deposits are place with institutions that meet certain criteria; 

(b) The Fund’s depositary will have a minimum Moody’s Long-Term rating of “A”; and 

(c) The Fund may not exceed commission target levels set by the Investment Manager.

(a) The Fund may not hold more than 10% of any class of security issued by any single issuer. 

(a) Counterparties must have a minimum credit rating; and 

(b) Target trading limits e.g. top ranking counterparties in terms of price, trade allocation between 35% - 45%, lower ranked 
counterparties between 15% - 30%.

counterparties. 

 

(b) A Sub-Fund which is a fund of funds may not invest in a feeder fund or another fund of funds; and 

(c) A Sub-Fund which is a feeder fund may not invest in another feeder fund.

(a) NAV error materiality: greater than 10bps will be assessed for materiality. Compensation for errors > 50bps is automatic while 
compensation for errors between 10-50bps will be examined on a case by case basis; and  

(b) All advertent breaches per quarter/annum. An advertent breach is a breach caused by an action taken by the Investment Manager.

delegate completes the following checks as part of the NAV release process:

(a) NAV on T vs NAV T-1 movement: each part of the NAV movement e.g. capital, income, realised gain/loss etc. is checked and 
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(b) Relative NAV movement vs chosen benchmark movement of > 0.50%; and

(c) Relative NAV movement between share classes of the same Sub-Fund of > 0.02%.

The AIFM does not currently and has no plans in the future, to employ leverage techniques as an investment management technique for any 
of its Sub-Funds.

The AIFM has delegated the calculation of the net asset value of the Sub-Funds in accordance with the Valuation Policy of the AIFM to 
the Administrator, Northern Trust International Fund Administration Services (Ireland) Limited. The valuation services provided by the 
Administrator are performed impartially and with all due care, skill and diligence. 

The AIFM does not intend to appoint an external valuer. The Board considers that the valuation function is appropriately functionally 
independent from the portfolio management function carried out by the AIFM.

The valuation rules set out in the Prospectus of KBI Global Investment Fund are as follows:

(a) any asset listed and regularly traded on a Recognised Exchange and for which market quotations are readily available shall be 
valued at the closing price on the relevant Valuation Day provided that the value of any investment listed on a Recognised Exchange 

market, shall be valued taking into account the level of premium or discount as of the date of valuation of the investment and subject 
to approval of the Depositary; 

(b) if an asset is listed on several Recognised Exchanges, the closing price on the stock exchange or market which, in the opinion of the 
AIFM or its delegate with the approval of the Depositary, constitutes the main market for such assets will be used;

(c)  the value of any security which is not quoted, listed or dealt in on a Recognised Exchange or which is so quoted, listed or dealt 
but for which no such quotation or value is available or the available quotation or value is not representative of the fair market 

or corporation (including the Investment Manager) selected by the AIFM and approved for the purpose by the Depositary. Where 

methodology compiled by the AIFM whereby such securities are valued by reference to the valuation of other securities which are 
comparable in rating, yield, due date and other characteristics;

(d) derivative contracts traded on a regulated market including without limitation futures and options contracts and index futures shall 
be valued at the settlement price as determined by the market. If the settlement price is not available, the value shall be the probable 

the Investment Manager) selected by the AIFM and approved for the purpose by the Depositary. Over the counter derivative 
instruments (including without limitation swap contracts and swaptions) will be valued at least weekly either (i) on the basis of a 

by a party who is approved for the purpose by the Depositary and who is independent of the counterparty (the “Counterparty 
Valuation”) or (ii) using an alternative valuation provided by a competent person appointed by the AIFM and approved for the 
purpose by the Depositary (the “Alternative Valuation”). Where such Alternative Valuation method is used the AIFM will follow 
international best practise and adhere to the principles on valuation of over the counter derivative instruments established by bodies 
such as the International Organisation of Securities Commissions and the Alternative Investment Management Association and 

investigated and explained;

(e)  forward foreign exchange contracts shall be valued in the same manner as derivatives contracts which are not traded in a regulated 
market or by reference to freely available market quotations;

(f) notwithstanding (a) above, units in collective investment schemes shall be valued by reference to the latest net asset value of the 
units of the relevant collective investment scheme available at the time of the production of the Net Asset Value of the relevant 
Sub-Fund; 

(g) assets denominated in a currency other than in the base currency of the relevant Sub-Fund shall be converted into that base currency 

(h) cash and other liquid assets shall be valued at their nominal value plus accrued interest; and 

(i) any illiquid investment allocated to Side Pocket Units will be valued at its probable realisation value, estimated with care and good 
faith by the AIFM, or a competent person appointed by the AIFM approved for the purpose by the Depositary.
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In the event of it being impossible or impracticable to carry out a valuation of an investment in accordance with the valuation rules set out in 
the prospectus, the AIFM is entitled to use another generally recognised valuation principle approved by the Depositary in order to reach a 
proper valuation of such investment. 

The AIFM may, with the approval of the Depositary, adjust the value of any investment if having regard to its currency, marketability, applicable 
interest rates, anticipated rates of dividend, maturity, liquidity or any other relevant considerations, they consider that such adjustment is 

Fund.

The latest published net asset value of the Fund can be found on the website of the Investment Manager at www.kbinvestors.com.

Please refer to the Fund’s latest annual Investment Manager Report which contains historical performance information on the Sub-Funds.

Directors’ fees are disclosed in Note 16 of the Financial Statements.

Other ongoing operational expenses that are borne by the Fund include but are not limited to, legal fees, audit fees, professional fees and 
professional VAT fees. Details of expenses are outlined in Note 7 of the Financial Statements.

Related Parties is inclusive of the Board of the AIFM (Amundi Ireland Limited), with the exception of Ms. Catherine Lane and Mr. Bernard 
Hanratty. In the case of Ms. Catherine Lane and Mr. Bernard Hanratty, Section 194 declarations were made at all Board meetings. No prior 
approval is required of them as they did not have access to the data or systems within the Investment Manager, other than the information 
provided to them in the Board papers.

In the case of personal transactions carried out by “Relevant Persons” within the Investment Manager, the AIFM relies on the Personal 
Transactions Policy/Procedure currently invoked by the Investment Manager.

In the case of personal transactions carried out by “Relevant Persons” within the Administrator / the Depositary, the AIFM relies on the 
Personal Transactions Policy/Procedure currently invoked by Northern Trust Corporation.

The AIFM also requires the Administrator / Depositary to maintain adequate procedures to prevent Relevant Persons in possession of inside 

activities listed above. 

In addition, the AIFM requires its Delegates to:

(i) ensure that all Relevant Persons are made aware of the restrictions and its procedures as set out in this Policy;

for a period of 6 years; and 

(iv) provide the AIFM with a record of all Personal Transactions entered into by all Relevant Persons upon request.

There is no prime broker in place.

The AIFM has in good faith and in the interests of unitholders of the Fund appointed (i) KBI Global Investors Limited (the “Investment 
Manager”) as Investment Manager to carry out portfolio and risk management functions on behalf of the Fund and to act as Distributor and 
(ii) Northern Trust International Fund Administration Services (Ireland) Limited (the “Administrator”) as Fund Administrator to carry out fund 
accounting, NAV calculation and transfer agency functions on behalf of the Fund. 
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The nature of the functions delegated to each delegate is disclosed in the Prospectus (if any) relating to each Sub-Fund and summarised below. 

The AIFM has appointed the Depositary to provide safekeeping services. The AIFM has also appointed a Secretary and Money Laundering 

The services which each delegate has agreed to provide to the AIFM; the duties obligations and service levels which each has accepted; and 
the liability standards to which each is subject are set out in formal contractual agreements between the AIFM and the respective delegates. 

transactions or matters.

The AIFM is aware of the preconditions imposed under the Regulations and the Commission Regulation which must be met before it can 
delegate functions to third parties, which, amongst other things, require that measures are put in place which enable the Board to monitor 

by the delegation by the AIFM of any functions to third parties.

Any delegation employed by the AIFM is based on objective reasons, taking into account the following criteria: (a) optimising business 

access of the delegate(s) to global trading capabilities; and/or (e) other considerations. 

will not result in a circumvention of the AIFM’s responsibilities or liabilities. It does not alter the obligations of the AIFM towards its 
unitholders and the conditions under which the AIFM must comply to be authorised and carry on business under the Regulations are not 
undermined. 

Each delegate is appointed by the Board, acting independently and exercising due care, following the appropriate due diligence process and 

appointment of each delegate, the AIFM will carry out a detailed due diligence process (to include background checks etc.) in respect of each 
delegate.

The Manager employs the following measures in order to ensure it does not delegate functions to the extent that it becomes a “letterbox entity”: 

risks associated with the delegation, particularly through the ongoing monitoring of the AIFM’s business and its 
delegates by the Designated Directors and by the Board, notably through receiving, considering and acting on relevant 
reports;

2. the AIFM retains the power to take decisions in key areas, particularly, in relation to the implementation of the general 

3. the AIFM retains its contractual rights and ability to inquire, inspect, have access or give instructions to its delegates;

4. the AIFM delegates certain aspects of the performance of the investment management function in a manner which 
ensures that such delegation does not exceed by a substantial margin the investment management functions retained 
by the AIFM itself; and

The entities to which services are delegated are subject to the ongoing monitoring by the Designated Persons, who will monitor and control the 
activities of the AIFM using periodic reports as further set out overleaf. 

The AIFM has established and maintains a Delegation Policy which sets out the arrangements established by the AIFM for the selection, 
appointment and supervision of delegates including the reasons for delegation, contractual terms etc. The due diligence process includes 

arrangements will not prevent the AIFM from acting in the best interests of the unitholders of the Sub-Funds. The due diligence process also 

(iii) number of clients and client referees, (iv) information on types of clients, (v) systems employed for principal service elements, (vi) details 
of team to be dedicated to the AIFM, (vii) business continuity procedures and professional indemnity arrangements and (viii) fee proposals.  
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Where elements of portfolio or risk management functions are delegated, such delegation does not exceed by a substantial margin those 
performed by the AIFM itself. 

result in a circumvention of the AIFM’s responsibilities. It does not alter the obligations of the AIFM towards unitholders and the conditions 
under which the AIFM must comply to be authorised and carry on business under the Regulations are not undermined.

further instructions to its delegates. Further, the AIFM retains contractual rights to ensure that it can terminate the relevant contract with the 
delegate when it is in the best interests of the Sub-Funds’ unitholders and to manage the risks associated with the delegation. For example, 
if the Investment Manager breaches the investment policies of the Sub-Funds on an on-going basis, the AIFM may consider terminating the 
appointment.

Accordingly, the AIFM has demonstrated in the Programme of Activity and the procedures outlined in the Policies and Procedures Manual that 
it complies with the provisions of Articles 75 to 82 of the Commission Regulation.

The AIFM has appointed the delegates listed below to carry out certain investment management, administration and distribution functions on 
behalf of the AIFM. 

Each of the delegates is regulated by the Central Bank and each has many years of experience in performing the types of functions for which 
it has been engaged by the AIFM for regulated collective investment schemes.

The AIFM has entered into an Investment Management Agreement dated 22 December, 2000, as novated on 31 March 2004 and as amended 
and restated on 22 July, 2014 in respect of KBI Global Investment Fund (the “Investment Management Agreement”).

The AIFM entered into an amended and restated Investment Management Agreement on 1 October 2021 (the “Investment Management 
Agreement”).

The extent of the delegation under the Investment Management Agreement is not such that it exceeds, by a substantial margin, the functions 
performed by the AIFM itself (taking account of the assets managed under the delegation and factors including the type and importance of 

The Investment Manager is subject to the overall supervision and control of the AIFM. It shall ensure that when carrying out investment 
management functions it does so in accordance with the investment objectives and policies of the Fund and, to the extent applicable, the 
Regulations. 

The Investment Manager is one of Ireland’s leading investment management companies, providing a range of investment products and services 
to pension funds, charities, corporates and personal investors in Ireland and international markets. 

The Investment Manager was formed in September 2016 when Amundi Asset Management plc completed the acquisition of Klienwort 
Benson Investors Dublin Limited. Kleinwort Benson Investors Dublin Limited was formed in October 2010 when RHJ International (“RHJI”) 
completed the acquisition of KBC Asset Management Ltd (“KBCAM Ltd”). KBCAM Ltd was the Irish investment management subsidiary 
of KBC Group, the Belgian banking and insurance company. KBCAM Ltd had in turn been created in July of 2000 when KBC Group bought 
Ulster Bank Investment Managers Ltd, the investment management arm of Ulster Bank Group. As such, the Investment Manager has been 

and authorised under MiFID.

As at 30 September 2025, the Investment Manager and its subsidiary companies had funds under management in excess of €7bn and employed 

The Investment Manager is a wholly owned subsidiary of Amundi Asset Management SA, the leading European asset manager. 

The AIFM has entered into an Administration Agreement dated 22 December, 2000, as novated from time to time and as further amended and 
restated on 22 July 2014 in respect of KBI Global Investment Fund; (the “Administration Agreement”).

The AIFM entered into an amended and restated Fund Administration Agreement on 30 September 2021 (the “Administration Agreement”).
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Pursuant to the Administration Agreements, the AIFM has appointed Northern Trust International Fund Administration Services (Ireland) 
Limited (the “Administrator”) to act as administrator, registrar and transfer agent of the Fund. Under the terms of each Administration 
Agreement, the Administrator is responsible, subject to the overall supervision and control of the Board, for providing fund accounting services 
to the Fund and for calculating the net asset value of each Sub-Fund and for acting as transfer agent and registrar in relation to each Sub-Fund’s 
units, including operating anti-money laundering checks and maintaining records of identity in relation to investors in the Sub-Funds. 

The Administrator is a private limited liability company incorporated in Ireland on 15 June 1990 and is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Northern Trust Corporation. Northern Trust Corporation and its subsidiaries comprise the Northern Trust Group, one of the world’s 
leading providers of global custody and administration services to institutional and personal investors. The principal business activity of the 

Services (Ireland) Limited is Georges Court, 54-62 Townsend Street, Dublin 2, Ireland.

The AIFM has appointed the Investment Manager as Distributor. The Distributor is responsible, subject to the overall supervision and control 

registrations or permissions and for correctly categorising clients, etc.

MLRO

resigned from Amundi Ireland Ltd on 11 April 2025 and was replaced by Aidan Rodgers who acted as MLRO until 21 May 2025 when Aaron 
Kelly commenced as the MLRO. Both Aidan Rodgers and Aaron Kelly are employees of Amundi Ireland Limited.

to advise the AIFM in relation to Sub-Fund creation and distribution matters, interaction with regulators as part of the day-to-day authorisation 
and regulatory supervision of the AIFM and its Funds, compliance matters and the negotiation of contractual arrangements with service 
providers and trading counterparties.

There are currently no performance fees charged on the Sub-Funds of the KBI Global Investment Fund.

In accordance with its obligations under the European Union (Alternative Investment Fund Managers) Regulations 2013 (the “Regulations”) 

policy.

which is appropriate to the size and organisation of the AIFM and the nature, scale and complexity of its business, has been put in place by the 

Funds or any of its investors;

For the purpose of this section, a relevant person means any of the following:

(a) the AIFM;

(b) a director, partner or equivalent, or manager of the AIFM;

(c) an employee of the AIFM, as well as any other natural person whose services are placed at the disposal and under the control of the 
AIFM;

(d) a natural person who is directly involved in the provision of services to the AIFM under a delegation arrangement to third parties.
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the AIFM will take into account, by way of minimum criteria, the question of whether a relevant person is in any of the following situations:

2. that person has an interest in the outcome of a service or an activity provided to the Sub-Funds or its investors or 
another client or of a transaction carried out on behalf of the Sub-Funds or its investors or another client, which is 
distinct from the Sub-Funds’ interest in that outcome;

of the Sub-Funds;

4. that person carries on the same activities for the Sub-Funds and for another client or clients; or

5. that person receives or will receive from a person other than the Sub-Funds an inducement in relation to collective 
portfolio management activities provided to the Sub-Funds in the form of monies, goods or services, other than the 
standard commission or fee for that service.

 

unitholders.

will be promptly informed in order for them to take any necessary decision to ensure that in any case the AIFM acts in the best interests of the 
Sub-Funds and of its unitholders. Such situations will be reported by the AIFM to unitholders by any appropriate durable medium and reasons 
given for the AIFM’s decision.

The AIFM must act in the best interests of clients at all times and must take all reasonable steps to obtain the best result for them.  

of interest which may arise in relation to the service provided by such Delegate.  In addition, the AIFM will contractually require that each 

including (but not limited to) the receipt of price sensitive information in relation to the units of Funds to which they provide services and adopt 

and the AIFM’s redemption policy in accordance with its obligations under the Directive.

The Directors of the AIFM approved the adoption of the Irish Funds Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) on 31 December 2012.
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The investment objective of the KBI Managed Fund is to achieve long term capital growth.  

The Sub-Fund seeks to achieve its objective by investing through underlying collective investment schemes (as further set out below under 
“Collective Investment Schemes”) in a range of global equity and equity-related securities (such as convertible bonds, convertible preference 

securities of companies listed or traded on Recognised Exchanges worldwide. 

governments and/or corporate and/or supranational organisations. These securities will primarily be rated as investment grade by one or more 
of the leading credit rating agencies, provided that up to 10% of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund may be held in non-investment grade 
securities.  

Alternative investments will comprise investments in passive or active open-ended collective investment schemes (including exchange traded 
funds) that have exposure to property, currencies, commodities and hedge funds. 

of deposit, commercial paper and cash deposits, which may be held for investment or liquidity management purposes.

The Sub-Fund intends to achieve its objective by investing substantially all of its assets in units of other collective investment schemes 
(including exchange traded funds), the investment objective and policies of which are similar to those set out above. The Sub-Fund may, 
however, also invest from time to time directly in the asset classes referred to above if the Investment Manager considers it appropriate, as 
further described below under “Investment Process”.  No direct investment will be made in property or commodities. 

The collective investment schemes in which the Sub-Fund will invest may be leveraged or unleveraged open-ended Regulated Collective 
Investment Schemes and leveraged or unleveraged open-ended Unregulated Collective Investment Schemes and may be domiciled worldwide.  
Such schemes may include other Sub-Funds of the Fund and other collective investment schemes which are managed by the Investment 
Manager. The periodic reports of the Sub-Fund will disclose the nature of such schemes.  The Sub-Fund may invest up to 50% of its net assets 
in each of KBI Developed Equity Fund, of which is a Sub-Fund of the KBI Funds ICAV, which is an Irish Collective Asset-management 
Vehicle managed by the Investment Manager. 

that are managed by the Investment Manager. The periodic reports will disclose the nature of such collective investment scheme holdings.

Fees 

The annual cumulative administration, investment management and depositary/custody fees at the Sub-Fund and underlying collective 
investment schemes level shall not exceed 2% of Net Asset Value (exclusive of VAT, if any).

Investors may be subject to higher fees arising from the layered investment structure than would typically be incurred by an investment in a 

(i) Transferable Securities – Collective Investment Schemes with underlying investments in equities, bonds and property portfolios; and 

(ii) Cash

The KBI Managed Fund is an open-ended fund with daily dealing.

Investor Base

The main investors in the Fund are Irish charities.
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The investment objective of the Sub-Fund is to achieve long term capital growth and has been established for the purpose of marketing to 
charities.

The Sub-Fund seeks to achieve its objective through investment directly and/or indirectly (in units of other collective investment schemes) in 
a broad range of bonds and Irish and international equities listed or traded on Recognised Exchanges worldwide. The asset mix of the Sub-

ethical screening process before being added to the Sub-Fund. If a particular holding does not meet the relevant ethical criteria laid down by 
the Investment Manager, then the Sub-Fund will not invest in such holding.

The bonds will have a rating of at least BBB from Standard & Poor’s or equivalent rating. The Sub-Fund aims for medium to long term capital 
growth. The Sub-Fund intends to achieve its investment objective by investing substantially all of its assets in other Sub-Funds of the Fund.

The Sub-Fund may also invest in units of other Sub-Funds of the Fund and other open-ended collective investment schemes, the investment 
objectives and policies of which are consistent with those set out above. It is envisaged that the underlying schemes will primarily be other 
Funds of the Fund but the Fund may invest in other leveraged or unleveraged open-ended Regulated Collective Investment Schemes and 
leveraged or unleveraged open-ended Unregulated Collective Investment Schemes worldwide (including but not limited to Europe) from time 
to time. The periodic reports will disclose the nature of such schemes.

Fees 

The annual cumulative management, administration, investment management and depositary/custody fees at the Fund and underlying collective 
investment schemes level shall not exceed 2% of Net Asset Value (exclusive of VAT, if any).

There is no formal benchmark. The Investment Manager measures performance against an Ethical Blended benchmark.

(ii) Cash

The KBI Integris Managed Fund is an open-ended fund with daily dealing.

Investor Base

The main investors in the Fund are Irish charities.
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KBI Innovator Fund

The investment objective of the Sub-Fund is to achieve long term capital growth while maintaining an adequate spread of risk. The Sub-Fund 

alternative energy, water and emerging markets, not normally available in traditional equity or managed funds. It is envisaged that the Sub-

assets and themes/sectors.

The Sub-Fund seeks to achieve its objective and gain exposure to the alternative assets and themes/sectors referred to above through investment 
directly and/or indirectly (in units of other collective investment schemes, including exchange traded funds) in global equity and equity-related 

rate, issued by governments and/or corporates. The performance of the Sub-Fund will be measured against the MSCI World Index, a market 
capitalisation weighted index of the major shares (approximately 1,600 companies) listed an organised exchanges in developed (currently 
23) countries. The Sub-Fund will be managed to out-perform the index referred to above (or any other index which replaces it or which is 

or annual accounts).

The Sub-Fund may invest in units of other Sub-Funds of the Fund and other open-ended collective investment schemes, the investment 
objectives and policies of which are consistent with those set out above. Any such underlying schemes will be leveraged or unleveraged 
open-ended Regulated Collective Investment Schemes and leveraged or unleveraged open-ended Unregulated Collective Investment Schemes 
worldwide from time to time. The periodic reports will disclose the nature of such schemes.

The Sub-Fund may invest up to 75% of its net assets in the KBI Global Resource Solutions Fund, which is a sub-fund of KBI Funds ICAV, 
an open-ended umbrella investment company, which is authorised by the Central Bank as a UCITS. The investment objective of the KBI 
Global Resources Solutions Fund is to generate the highest possible return for its Shareholders by investing primarily in equity and equity-

pursuit of capital gains and income. In pursuit of its investment objective, the KBI Global Resources Solutions Fund invests primarily, either 
directly or indirectly (through investment in underlying collective investment schemes), in equity and equity-related securities (including, but 
not limited to, warrants, convertibles, rights which are issued by a company to allow holders to subscribe for additional securities issued by 
that company, ADRs and GDRs) of companies listed or traded on recognised exchanges worldwide which, in the opinion of the investment 
manager of KBI Global Resources Solutions Fund, generate a substantial proportion of their turnover from and operate on a sustainable basis 
in the environmental sector by providing solutions to environmental challenges. The KBI Global Resources Solutions Fund may invest across 
all facets of the environmental sector including but not limited to renewable energy, clean energy, water infrastructure and technology, energy 

attached to the periodic reports of the Sub-Fund.

Fees 

The annual cumulative management, administration, investment management and depositary/custody fees at the Sub-Fund and underlying 
collective investment scheme level shall not exceed 2% of the Net Asset Value (exclusive of VAT, if any).

Investors may be subject to higher fees arising from the layered investment structure than would typically be incurred by an investment in a 

An investment in this Sub-Fund should not constitute a substantial proportion of an investment portfolio and may not be appropriate for all 
investors.

There is no formal benchmark.  The Investment Manager measures performance against the MSCI World (NR) Index.

(i) Transferable Securities – Collective Investment Schemes, equity portfolios, Exchange Traded Shares, iShares; and 

(ii) Cash

The KBI Innovator Fund is an open-ended fund with daily dealing.
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Investor Base

The main investors in the Fund are Irish pension funds and retail investors.

The Net Asset Value of a Sub-Fund shall be expressed in the base currency of the relevant Sub-Fund and shall be calculated on each Dealing 
Day by ascertaining the value of the assets of the Sub-Fund on such Dealing Day and deducting from such value the liabilities of the Sub-Fund 
on such Dealing Day.

Whether on the establishment of a Sub-Fund or from time to time, the AIFM can create more than one class of units in a Sub-Fund and can 

minimum subscription, designated currency, distribution policy and such other features will apply.

The classes available in a Sub-Fund and their respective subscription fees and expenses (including the management fee), designated currency 

available from the Administrator and relevant Distributor.

The AIFM intends to automatically reinvest all earnings, dividends and other distributions of whatever kind as well as realised capital gains 
arising from that proportion of the net asset value of each Sub-Fund attributable to “A” Units pursuant to the investment objective and policies 

The AIFM may make distributions in respect of “B” Units out of that proportion of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund attributable to “B” 
Units.

The Directors of the Manager have approved the adoption of the Irish Funds Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”).
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The investment objective of the Sub-Fund is to invest in above average yielding assets while achieving long term capital growth and maintaining 
an adequate spread of risk by investing in equities of companies incorporated in those member states of the European Union who are also 
members of the European Monetary Union (“Eurozone”) and are listed or traded on Recognised Exchanges in Europe. The Sub-Fund has an 
overriding ethical screen overlaying the portfolio and which is managed by the Investment Manager, which applies an Ethical Information 
Research and Information Service (“EIRIS”) based ethical screen to the portfolio. If a particular stock does not meet the relevant ethical criteria 
laid down by the Investment Manager, then the Sub-Fund will not invest in such stock. The ethical criteria encompass a set of restrictions 
prohibiting investment in companies involved in undesirable activities for investors who wish to invest in a socially responsible investment 
programme, for example, companies involved in activities which damage the environment, carry out testing on animals, manufacture weapons 
etc. 

The performance of the Sub-Fund is measured against the MSCI EMU Index (comprising a universe of developed market publicly quoted 
equity securities quoted and domiciled in the EMU) (or any other index which replaces it or is considered to be the market standard in place of 

to out-perform that Index.

Fees 

The annual cumulative management, administration, investment management and Depositary/custody fees at the Sub-Fund and underlying 
collective investment schemes level shall not exceed 2% of the Net Asset Value (exclusive of VAT, if any).

Investors may be subject to higher fees arising from layered investment structure than would typically be incurred by an investment in a single 

The performance of the Sub-Fund is measured against the MSCI EMU Index.

(i) Transferable Securities – Equities; and 

(ii) Cash

The KBI Integris Eurozone Equity Fund is an open-ended fund with daily dealing.

Investor Base

The main investors in the Fund are Irish charities and retail investors. 
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The disclosure below relates to the KBI Managed Fund:

 

The KBI Managed Fund does not have as its objective sustainable investment, nor does it promote environmental or social characteristics. As 
a result, the Fund does not fall within the scope of the Taxonomy Regulation. The investments underlying this Fund do not take into account 
the EU criteria for environmentally sustainable economic activities.



Periodic disclosure for the financial products referred to in Article 8, paragraphs 1, 2 and 2a, of 
Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 and Article 6, first paragraph, of Regulation (EU) 2020/852

Product name: KBI Integris Managed Fund   

Legal entity identifier: 635400TDRDS74PJHKP69

Environmental and/or social characteristics

To what extent were the environmental and/or social characteristics promoted 
by this financial product met? 

The environmental and social characteristics promoted by the product were reductions in 
harm to the environment and climate arising from the emissions of greenhouse gases and 
better corporate practices that contribute to a more just society by, for example, enhancing 
human capital or providing improved social opportunities to services such as finance, health 
care, and communications. The Investment Manager used a range of sustainability 
indicators to measure the extent to which the environmental and social characteristics of 
the product were met. Investors should refer to the next section below for an assessment 
of how the sustainability indicators performed during the reference period.

Did this financial product have a sustainable investment objective? 

Yes No

It made sustainable 
investments with an 

environmental objective: 

in economic activities that 
qualify as environmentally 
sustainable under the EU 
Taxonomy

in economic activities that do 
not qualify as environmentally 
sustainable under the EU 
Taxonomy

It promoted Environmental/Social (E/S) 
characteristics and
while it did not have as its objective a 
sustainable investment, it had a proportion of 
60.2% of sustainable investments

with an environmental objective in economic 
activities that qualify as environmentally 
sustainable under the EU Taxonomy

with an environmental objective in 
economic activities that do not qualify as 
environmentally sustainable under the EU 
Taxonomy

with a social objective

It made sustainable investments 
with a social objective: 

It promoted E/S characteristics, but did not 
make any sustainable investments

Sustainable 
investment means 
an investment in an 
economic activity 
that contributes to 
an environmental or 
social objective, 
provided that the 
investment does not 
significantly harm 
any environmental or 
social objective and 
that the investee 
companies follow 
good governance 
practices.

The EU Taxonomy is 
a classification 
system laid down in 
Regulation (EU) 
2020/852, 
establishing a list of 
environmentally 
sustainable 
economic activities. 
That Regulation
does not lay down a 
list of socially 
sustainable 
economic activities.  
Sustainable 
investments with an 
environmental 
objective might be 
aligned with the 
Taxonomy or not.  

X

X

X

X



 

 

The environmental objective(s) to which the sustainable investments contributed was/were 
climate change mitigation, climate change adaptation and transition to a circular economy.

T How 
did this financial product consider principal adverse impacts on sustainability factors? . The 
proportion of the product that was aligned with the environmental and social characteristics 

What was the proportion of sustainability-
related investments?

What were the objectives of the sustainable investments that the financial product 
partially made and how did the sustainable investment contribute to such objectives?

 

 How did the sustainability indicators perform? 

The Investment Manager used two indicators to measure the environmental and social 
characteristics of the product as follows (note that the assessments were carried out 
only for the Collective Investment Schemes managed by the Investment Manager): 

 The weighted average ESG rating of the product, as determined by the use of ESG 
ratings of companies, supplied by an external data provider of ESG research and 
ratings.  

 The carbon intensity of the product measured by an external provider of carbon 
footprint measurement services.  

The following shows how each indicator performed during the reference period under 
review. Each measure was calculated based on the portfolio holdings and relevant metric 
at the end of the period under review. 

  

Sustainability Indicator 2023 2024 2025 

Weighted Average MSCI ESG Score of the 
portfolio 

7.9  7.7  7.8  

Weighted Average Carbon Intensity of the 
portfolio 

99.7 tons CO2e / 
million USD sales 

89.3 tons CO2e / 
million USD sales 

73.4 tons CO2e / 
million USD sales

 

 

How did the sustainability indicators perform?  

What were the objectives of the sustainable investments that the financial 
product partially made and how did the sustainable investment contribute to such 
objectives?  

This product invests partially in sustainable investments.    

The objectives of these sustainable investments are the reduction in harm to the 
environment and climate arising from the emissions of greenhouse gases and 
better corporate practices that contribute to a more just society by, for example, 

Sustainability 
indicators measure 
how the 
environmental or 
social 
characteristics 
promoted by the 
financial product 
are attained. 



 

 

enhancing human capital or providing improved social opportunities to services 
such as finance, health care, and communications.  

The sustainable investments contribute to these objectives through the reduction 
in the carbon intensity of the portfolio and through the promotion of improved 
corporate practices that contribute to a more just society. 

Please refer to the section above headed How did the sustainability indicators 
perform? the indicators used to assess the contribution to the 
objectives. 

How did the sustainable investments that the financial product partially made not 
cause significant harm to any environmental or social sustainable investment 
objective?  

The sustainable investments of the product were assessed to ensure that they do 
not cause significant harm to any environmental or social objective. This 

where applicable and where data was sufficiently available, and ensured that 
certain minimum standards were reached for each applicable PAI Indicator. Note 
that the assessments were carried out only for the Collective Investment Schemes 
managed by the Investment Manager.   

The following PAI Indicators were used throughout the period under review. 

PAI Indicator Explanation 2023 2024 2025

1. GHG Emissions 

Sum of portfolio companies' Carbon Emissions - 
Scope 1 (tCO2e) weighted by the portfolio's 
value of investment in a company and by the 
company's most recently available enterprise 
value including cash. 

2,286 tons 
CO2e 

1,733 tons 
CO2e 

1,273 tons 
CO2e

1. GHG Emissions 

Sum of portfolio companies' Carbon Emissions - 
Scope 2 (tCO2e) weighted by the portfolio's 
value of investment in a company and by the 
company's most recently available enterprise 
value including cash. 

531 tons CO2e 438 tons CO2e 346 tons CO2e

1. GHG Emissions 

Sum of portfolio companies' Scope 3 - Total 
Emission Estimated (tCO2e) weighted by the 
portfolio's value of investment in a company 
and by the company's most recently available 
enterprise value including cash. 

18,861 tons 
CO2e 

15,950 tons 
CO2e 

16,198 tons 
CO2e

1. GHG Emissions 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The total annual Scope 1, Scope 2, and 
estimated Scope 3 GHG emissions associated 
with the market value of the portfolio. 
Companies' carbon emissions are apportioned 
across all outstanding shares and bonds (based 
on the most recently available enterprise value 
including cash). 

21,672 tons 
CO2e 

18,375 tons 
CO2e 

17,963 tons 
CO2e

Principal adverse 
impacts are the 
most significant 
negative impacts of 
investment 
decisions on 
sustainability factors 
relating to 
environmental, 
social and employee 
matters, respect for 

bribery matters. 



 

 

2. Carbon Footprint 
 

 

 

 

Sum of portfolio companies' Total GHG 
Emissions (Scopes 1, 2 and 3) weighted by the 
portfolio's value of investment in a company 
and by the company's most recently available 
enterprise value including cash, adjusted to 
show the emissions associated with 1 million 
EUR invested in the portfolio. 

321 tons CO2e 
/ million EUR 
invested 

462 tons CO2e 
/ million EUR 
invested 

399 tons CO2e 
/ million EUR 
invested

3. GHG Intensity of 
investee companies 

The portfolio's weighted average of its holding 
issuers' GHG Intensity (Scope 1, Scope 2 and 
estimated Scope 3 GHG emissions/EUR million 
revenue). 

630 tons CO2e 
/ million EUR 
sales 

703 tons CO2e 
/ million EUR 
sales 

735 tons CO2e 
/ million EUR 
sales

4. Exposure to 
companies active in the 
fossil fuel sector 

The percentage of the portfolio's market value 
exposed to issuers with fossil fuels related 
activities, including extraction, processing, 
storage and transportation of petroleum 
products, natural gas, and thermal and 
metallurgical coal. 

5.8% 4.9% 5.2%

5. Share of non-
renewable energy 
consumption and 
production 

The portfolio's weighted average of issuers' 
energy consumption and/or production from 
non-renewable sources as a percentage of total 
energy used and/or generated. 

66.8% 67.2% 63.8%

6. Energy consumption 
intensity per high impact 
climate sector: a. NACE 
Code A (Agriculture, 
Forestry and Fishing) 

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code A 

0 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

b. NACE Code B (Mining 
and Quarrying) 

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code B 

0.57 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.57 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.5 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

c. NACE Code C 
(Manufacturing) 

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code C 

0.34 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.41 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.44 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

d. NACE Code D 
(Electricity, Gas, Steam 
and Air Conditioning 
Supply)  

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code D 

3.67 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

2.68 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

3.45 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

e. NACE Code E (Water 
Supply, Sewerage, 
Waste Management and 
Remediation Activities) 

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code E 

1.54 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.92 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.89 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

f. NACE Code F 
(Construction) 

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code F 

0.11 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.1 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.08 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

g. NACE Code G 
(Wholesale and Retail 
Trade Repair of Motor 
Vehicles and 
Motorcycles) 

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code G 

0.14 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.13 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.07 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

h. NACE Code H 
(Transportation and 
Storage) 

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code H 

0.39 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.41 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.56 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

i. NACE Code L (Real 
estate activities) 

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code L 

0.14 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.67 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.56 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue



 

 

7. Activities negatively 
affecting biodiversity-
sensitive areas 

The percentage of the portfolio's market value 
exposed to issuers' that reported having 
operations in or near biodiversity sensitive 
areas and have been implicated in 
controversies with severe or very severe 
impacts on the environment. 

0.1% 0.5% 0%

8. Emissions to Water 

The total annual wastewater discharged 
(metric tons reported) into surface waters as a 
result of industrial or manufacturing activities 
associated with 1 million EUR invested in the 
portfolio. Companies' water emissions are 
apportioned across all outstanding shares and 
bonds (based on the most recently available 
enterprise value including cash). 

0.04 metric 
tons / million 
EUR invested 

0.07 metric 
tons / million 
EUR invested

0.37 metric 
tons / million 
EUR invested

9. Hazardous waste ratio 

The total annual hazardous waste (metric tons 
reported) associated with 1 million EUR 
invested in the portfolio. Companies' 
hazardous waste is apportioned across all 
outstanding shares and bonds (based on the 
most recently available enterprise value 
including cash). 

1.1 metric tons 
/ million EUR 
invested 

0.47 metric 
tons / million 
EUR invested

0.52 metric 
tons / million 
EUR invested

10. Violations of UN 
Global Compact 
principles and 
Organisation for 
Economic Cooperation 
and Development 
(OECD) Guidelines for 
Multinational 
Enterprises 

The percentage of the portfolio's market value 
exposed to issuers with very severe 
controversies related to the company's 
operations and/or products. 

0% 0% 0%

11. Lack of processes 
and compliance 
mechanisms to monitor 
compliance with UN 
Global Compact 
principles and OECD 
Guidelines for 
Multinational 
Enterprises 

The percentage of the portfolio's market value 
exposed to issuers without policies covering 
some of the UNGC principles or OECD 
Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and 
either a monitoring system evaluating 
compliance with such policies or a 
grievance/complaints handling mechanism. 

19.7% 0.3% 0%

12. Unadjusted gender 
pay gap 

The portfolio holdings' weighted average of the 
difference between the average gross hourly 
earnings of male and female employees, as a 
percentage of male gross earnings. 

14.5% 14.3% 12.5%

13. Board gender 
diversity 

The portfolio holdings' weighted average of the 
percentage of board members who are female. 
For companies with a two-tier board, the 
calculation is based on members of the 
Supervisory Board only. 

37.9% 39.3% 39.2%

14. Exposure to 
controversial weapons 
(anti-personnel mines, 
cluster munitions, 
chemical weapons and 
biological weapons) 

The percentage of the portfolio's market value 
exposed to issuers with an industry tie to 
landmines, cluster munitions, chemical 
weapons or biological weapons. Note: Industry 
ties includes ownership, manufacturing and 
investments. Ties to landmines do not include 
related safety products. 

0% 0% 0%

15. Investments in 
companies without 
carbon emission 
reduction initiatives 

The percentage of the portfolio's market value 
exposed to issuers without carbon emissions 
reduction initiatives aimed at aligning with the 
Paris Agreement. 

11.7% 22.5% 23.2%



 

 

16. Investments in 
companies without 
workplace accident 
prevention policies 

The percentage of the portfolio's market value 
exposed to issuers without a workplace 
accident prevention policy. 

1.1% 0.3% 0.1%

  
Note that in the PAI Indicators table above, for items 6a to 6i, there may be no investments 
in companies in the relevant NACE sector or there may be no data available for any 
companies in the relevant NACE sector. In such cases the table will show a value of 0 GWh / 
million EUR revenue. Similarly, for item 8, the table will show 0 metric tons / million EUR 
invested if no data is available for that metric. 

How were the indicators for adverse impacts on sustainability factors taken 
into account?  

The indicators for adverse impacts on sustainability factors were taken into 
account by applying certain exclusion strategies aligned to the PAI Indicators 
and by monitoring the PAI Indicators in the following manner:  

1. When ensuring that a sustainable investment did not cause significant 
harm to any environmental or social objective, the Investment 
Manager made use of various PAI Indicators. Please refer to the 
section above headed How did the sustainable investments that the 
financial product partially made not cause significant harm to any 
environmental or social sustainable investment objective? for more 
detail. The Investment Manager ensured that certain minimum 
standards were reached for each applicable PAI Indicator.  

2. The product did not invest in companies materially engaged in certain 
activities which, in the opinion of the Investment Manager, are 
associated with a particularly adverse impact on sustainability. These    
included companies involved in the manufacture of tobacco products, 
companies with any involvement in certain types of controversial 
weapons, and companies with a high degree of involvement in coal 
extraction or coal-fired electricity generation. 

3. The Investment Manager engaged with companies on a range of 
issues, including engagement with companies which have high 
adverse impact (as measured by the PAI Indicators and by other 
factors), with a view to influencing the company to change its activities 
in a manner which will reduce the adverse impact.  Please refer to the 
s What actions have been taken to meet the 
environmental and/or social characteristics during the reference 
period? for more detail. 

 

Were sustainable investments aligned with the OECD Guidelines for 
Multinational Enterprises and the UN Guiding Principles on Business and 
Human Rights? Details:  

Yes, the sustainable investments were aligned with the OECD Guidelines for 
Multinational Enterprises and the UN Guiding Principles on Business and 



 

 

Human Rights through the use of environmental and UNGC (UN Global 
Compact) controversies screening as an indication for alignment with OECD 
guidelines / UN guiding principles along with other tools including ESG scores 
and research as part of the investment. 

The product did not invest in any company which violates, repeatedly and 
seriously, one or more of the ten principles of the UN Global Compact. To 
implement this, the Investment Manager used data from data providers which 
rely on international conventions such as the OECD Guidelines for 
Multinational Enterprises and UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human 

geographies of operation and business segments.  

How did this financial product consider principal adverse impacts on 
sustainability factors?  

Over the reference period, the product considered principal adverse impacts on 
sustainability factors. This was done in the following manner:  

1. A minimum proportion of the investments held in this product must be sustainable 
investments. In determining whether an investment was a sustainable investment, a 
number of PAI Indicators were used and where the adverse impact was considered to 
be excessive, in the judgement of the Investment Manager, based on whether the 
adverse impact breaches certain thresholds set by the Investment Manager, such 
investments were not deemed to be sustainable investments. Please refer to the 
s How did the sustainable investments that the financial product 
partially made not cause significant harm to any environmental or social sustainable 
investment objective for more detail.  

2. , 
and the size of that investment, took into account the PAI Indicators (referred to 
above) relating to the social, environmental and governance characteristics of that 
company, including the adverse impact that the company had on sustainability.  

Taxonomy-aligned investments should not significantly harm EU Taxonomy 
objectives and is accompanied by specific Union criteria.  
 
The 
underlying the financial product that take into account the Union criteria for 
environmentally sustainable economic activities. The investments underlying the 
remaining portion of this financial product do not take into account the Union 
criteria for environmentally sustainable economic activities. 
 
 Any other sustainable investments must also not significantly harm any 
environmental or social objectives.  

 



 

 

3. The product did not invest in companies engaged in certain activities which, in the 
opinion of the Investment Manager, were associated with a particularly adverse 
impact on sustainability, in excess of certain thresholds. These  included companies 
involved in the manufacture of tobacco products, companies with any involvement in 
certain types of controversial weapons, and companies with a high degree of 
involvement in coal extraction or coal-fired electricity generation.  

4. The Investment Manager engaged with companies on a range of issues, including 
engagement with companies which have high adverse impact, with a view to 
influencing the company to change its activities in a manner which will reduce the 
adverse impact. 

 

What were the top investments of this financial product? 

The following sets out a list of the top investments (and relevant sector) of the financial 
product using the Global Industry Classification Standard (GICS). GICS is a four-tiered 
industry classification system consisting of 11 sectors. It is a commonly used industry 
framework to determine sector exposure.   

The data presented in this section shows the top investments (ie the greatest proportion 
of investments of the product) during the reference period and has been calculated based 
on an average of the value of investments traded and held at each quarter end date within 
the reference period. Cash and ancillary liquidity instruments (which were not used to 
promote the environmental and social characteristics of the product) are not included in 
the table below.  

Largest Investments Sector % Assets Country

KBI Integris Global Equity Fund 
EUR A    33.1 Multi Region

KBI Integris Eurozone Equity Fund 
Series 10A 

 20.9 Eurozone 

-15Y ETF ACC    14.9 Eurozone 
PIMCO Low Duration Euro 
Corporate Bond UCITS ETF 

 6 Eurozone 

First Trust Low Duration Global 
Government Bond UCITS ETF 

 4.9 Multi Region

Bond SRI Fossil Fuel UCTS ETF 
 4.8 Eurozone 

KBI Global Sustainable 
Infrastructure Fund EUR Class A  4.7 Multi Region

UBS MSCI Emerging Markets 
Socially Responsible UCITS ETF 

 4.4 Multi Region

Morgan Stanley Euro Liquidity 
Fund C Share Class 

 3.6 Multi Region

KBI Circular Economy Fund EUR 
Class A 

 2.5 Multi Region

 

What was the proportion of sustainability-related investments? 

The list includes the 
investments 
constituting the 
greatest proportion 
of investments of 
the financial 
product during the 
reference period 
which is: 1 year to 
end September 2025  



Information on the proportion of the product which promoted environmental/social 
characteristics and the proportion of the product invested in sustainable investments during 
the reference period is provided below.

What was the asset allocation?

Based on data as at 30 September 2025, 76.8% of the investments of the product were used 
to meet the environmental and social characteristics promoted by the product in 
accordance with the binding elements of the investment strategy. The proportion of the 
portfolio which was invested in Sustainable Investments was 60.2%.

The remaining portion of investments comprised of holdings in Collective Investment 
Schemes (held for the purpose of investment growth and efficient portfolio management)
and cash and related ancillary liquidity instruments (held for the purpose of ancillary 
liquidity and efficient portfolio management) in accordance with the investment policy of 
the product. Minimum environmental and social safeguards continued to apply in the 
selection of these investments including ESG-related exclusions.

2023 2024 2025
Proportion of the product's assets invested in 
environmentally sustainable activities 22.5% 20.6% 28.1%

Proportion of investments contributing to EU Taxonomy objectives:

1. Climate change mitigation

2. Climate change adaptation

3. Sustainable use and protection of water and marine resources

Asset allocation 
describes the share 
of investments in 
specific assets.

#1 Aligned with E/S characteristics includes the investments of the financial product used to attain the 
environmental or social characteristics promoted by the financial product.

#2Other includes the remaining investments of the financial product which are neither aligned with the 
environmental or social characteristics, nor are qualified as sustainable investments.

The category #1 Aligned with E/S characteristics covers:
- The sub-category #1A Sustainable covers environmentally and socially sustainable investments.
- The sub-category #1B Other E/S characteristics covers investments aligned with the environmental or 
social characteristics that do not qualify as sustainable investments.

Investments

#1 Aligned with E/S 
characteristics  

76.8%

#1A Sustainable 
60.2%  

Taxonomy-aligned 
1.9%

Other 
environmental 

26.2%

Social 32.1%
#1B Other E/S 
characteristics 

16.6%
#2 Other 23.2% 



 

 

4. Transition to a circular economy 

5. Pollution prevention and control 

6. Protection and restoration of biodiversity and ecosystems 

 

 

Taxonomy objectives 1 2 3 4 5 6 

As % of Turnover 1.6% 0% 0% 0.1% 0% 0%

As % of Capex 2.7% 0.2% 0% 0.1% 0% 0%

As % of Opex 2.2% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

 

It should be noted that in this reference period only a minority of investee companies are 
required to report the proportion of their revenues that are aligned with the EU Taxonomy.

In which economic sectors were the investments made? 

 
The following table consists of the product -industries. For the purpose 
of the table, the Global Industry Classification Standard (GICS) has been used. GICS is a 
four-tiered industry classification system consisting of 11 sectors. It is a commonly used 
industry framework to determine sector exposure. The table below shows the 
composition of the investments held by the product, by GICS sector during the reference 
period. The data presented has been calculated based on an average of the value of 
investments traded and held at each quarter end date within the reference period.  Cash 
and ancillary liquidity instruments are not included in the table below.  Where the product 
invests in other Collective Investment Schemes, the analysis below takes into account the 
investments of those Collective Investment S -
only done where those Collective Investment Schemes are managed by the same
Investment Manager as this product.     

Sector % Assets 

COMMUNICATION SERVICES 3.7 

CONSUMER DISCRETIONARY 7 

CONSUMER STAPLES 2.8 

ENERGY 0 

FINANCIALS 13.8 

HEALTH CARE 1.4 

INDUSTRIALS 11.7 

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 11.1 

MATERIALS 1.4 

REAL ESTATE 1.8 

UTILITIES 5.5 

  
Note: EXPOSURE TO COMPANIES ACTIVE IN THE FOSSIL FUEL 
SECTOR (i.e. the percentage of the product's market value 
exposed to issuers with fossil fuels related activities, including 
extraction, processing, storage and transportation of petroleum 
products, natural gas, and thermal and metallurgical coal) 

5.2% 



 

 

 
 
 

To what extent were the sustainable investments with an environmental 
objective aligned with the EU Taxonomy?  
 

The  proportion of sustainable investments aligned with the EU Taxonomy was 1.9%.

The environmental objective(s) to which the sustainable investments contributed 
was/were climate change mitigation, climate change adaptation and transition to a 
circular economy. 

In order to attain the environmental characteristics promoted by this product, the 
product invested in sustainable investments even though such investments did not 

the meaning of the Taxonomy Regulation. 

 
 

Did the financial product invest in fossil gas and/or nuclear energy related 
activities complying with the EU Taxonomy1? 

 
 Yes:   

In fossil gas In nuclear energy  

No  

 
 
 

 
1 Fossil gas and/or nuclear related activities will only comply with the EU Taxonomy where they contribute to 

-
see explanatory note in the left hand margin. The full criteria for fossil gas and nuclear energy economic activities 
that comply with the EU Taxonomy are laid down in Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2022/1214. 

X 

X 

To comply with the 
EU Taxonomy, the 
criteria for fossil gas 
include limitations 
on emissions and 
switching to fully 
renewable power or 
low-carbon fuels by 
the end of 2035. For 
nuclear energy, the 
criteria include 
comprehensive 
safety and waste 
management rules. 

Enabling activities 
directly enable 
other activities to 
make a substantial 
contribution to an 
environmental 
objective. 

Transitional 
activities are 
activities for which 
low-carbon 
alternatives are not 
yet available and 
among others have 
greenhouse gas 
emission levels  
corresponding to 
the best 
performance. 



What was the share of investments made in transitional and enabling activities? 

Investments in environmentally sustainable economic activities:

Transitional Enabling

As % of Turnover 0% 1.1%

As % of Capex 0% 1.6%

As % of Opex 0% 1.6%

How did the percentage of investments that were aligned with the EU Taxonomy
compare with previous reference periods?

The graphs below show in green the percentage of investments that were aligned with the EU Taxonomy. 
As there is no appropriate methodology to determine the taxonomy-alignment of sovereign bonds*, the 
first graph shows the Taxonomy alignment in relation to all the investments of the financial product 
including sovereign bonds, while the second graph shows the Taxonomy alignment only in relation to the 
investments of the financial product other than sovereign bonds.

* For the purpose of these graphs, sovereign exposures.

0.1%

0.1%

2.3%

2.8%

1.8%

97.7%

97.1%

98.1%

Opex

Capex

Turnover

0% 50% 100%

1. Taxonomy-alignment of investments 
including sovereign bonds* 

Taxonomy-aligned: Fossil gas
Taxonomy-aligned: Nuclear energy
Taxonomy-aligned: No gas and nuclear
Non Taxonomy-aligned

Taxonomy-aligned 
activities are 
expressed as a share 
of:
- turnover reflects 

investee 
companies today.

- capital 
expenditure
(CapEx) shows the 
green investments 
made by investee 
companies, 
relevant for a 
transition to a 
green economy. 

- operational 
expenditure
(OpEx) reflects the 
green operational 
activities of 
investee 
companies.

0.1%

0.1%

2.3%

2.8%

1.8%

97.7%

97.1%

98.1%

Opex

Capex

Turnover

0% 50% 100%

2. Taxonomy-alignment of investments 
excluding sovereign bonds*

Taxonomy-aligned: Fossil gas
Taxonomy-aligned: Nuclear energy
Taxonomy-aligned: No gas and nuclear
Non Taxonomy-aligned

This graph represents 100% of the total investments.



 

 

 

 2023 2024 2025 
Proportion of the product's assets aligned with 
the EU Taxonomy 

0% 1.9% 1.9% 

  

What was the share of sustainable investments with an environmental 
objective not aligned with the EU Taxonomy?  

The product invested 26.2% of its assets in sustainable investments with 
environmental characteristics which did not qualify as environmentally sustainable 
under the EU Taxonomy.  

 

 

What was the share of socially sustainable investments? 
 

The product invested 32.1% of its assets in socially sustainable investments. 

 

what was their purpose and 
were there any minimum environmental or social safeguards? 

39.8% of investments were not classified as sustainable investments comprised of 
holdings in listed companies (held for the purpose of investment growth and 
efficient portfolio management) and/or cash and related ancillary liquidity 
instruments (held for the purpose of ancillary liquidity and efficient portfolio 
management) in accordance with the investment policy of the product. Minimum 
environmental and social safeguards continued to apply in the selection of these 
investments including the exclusion of companies involved with certain 
controversial activities, and the exclusion of companies that violate, repeatedly and 
seriously, one or more of the ten principles of the UN Global Compact.  

What actions have been taken to meet the environmental and/or social 
characteristics during the reference period?  

 
In identifying investments which allow the product to promote environmental and social 
characteristics, the Investment Manager adopted the following strategies:  

Collective Investment Schemes 

When making investments in active collective investment schemes the Investment 
Manager only invested in schemes where the investment manager of the underlying 

companies in which it invests, and integrated the results of that assessment into its 
investment decisions.  

 are 
sustainable 
investments with an 
environmental 
objective that do 
not take into 
account the criteria 
for environmentally 
sustainable 
economic activities 
under Regulation 
(EU) 2020/852.  



 

 

Direct Investments 

The Investment Manager excluded holdings deemed inconsistent with its Responsible  
Investment Policy  or that were involved with certain controversial sectors, as determined 

invest in companies which were involved in certain activities including tobacco 
manufacturing, coal extraction and coal-fired electricity generation, in excess of certain 
thresholds. Full details of the exclusions and thresholds are available in the Responsible 
Investing Policy of the Investment Manager which can be found at the link below under

Where can I find more product specific information online  

The Investment Manager carried out its own assessment of the environmental and social 
performance of companies, based on its own research and knowledge of the companies, 
public information and information (including specialised ESG information) and ratings

 

The portfolio construction process excluded holdings deemed inconsistent with the 

Committee. Further, the product did not invest in companies involved in certain activities 
including tobacco manufacturing, coal extraction and coal-fired electricity generation, in 
excess of certain thresholds.  

The Investment Manager collaborated on 14 topics and engaged with 38 companies on a 
range of issues, including engagement with companies which had high adverse impact (as 
measured by the PAI Indicators and by other factors), with a view to influencing the 
company to change its activities in a manner which will reduce the adverse impact. 
 

How did this financial product perform compared to the reference benchmark? 

Not applicable 

 No reference benchmark has been designated for the purpose of attaining the 
environmental and social characteristics promoted by the product. 

How does the reference benchmark differ from a broad market index?  

Not Applicable. 

How did this financial product perform with regard to the sustainability indicators 
to determine the alignment of the reference benchmark with the environmental 
or social characteristics promoted? 

Not applicable. 

How did this financial product perform compared with the reference benchmark?

Not applicable. 

Reference 
benchmarks are 
indexes to 
measure whether 
the financial 
product attains the 
environmental or 
social 
characteristics that 
they promote. 



 

 

How did this financial product perform compared with the broad market index?

Not applicable. 



Periodic disclosure for the financial products referred to in Article 8, paragraphs 1, 2 and 2a, of 
Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 and Article 6, first paragraph, of Regulation (EU) 2020/852

Product name: KBI Innovator Fund   

Legal entity identifier: 6354006VXEGJHXJBID06

Environmental and/or social characteristics

To what extent were the environmental and/or social characteristics promoted 
by this financial product met? 

The environmental and social characteristics promoted by the product were the provision 
of vital natural resources such as water, agribusiness and clean energy as well as better 
corporate practices. The provision of vital natural resources such as water, agribusiness and 
clean energy is, in the opinion of the Investment Manager, a benefit to the environment and 
to society. Better corporate practices also contribute to a more just society by, for example, 
enhancing human capital or providing improved social opportunities to services such as 
finance, health care, and communications.

Did this financial product have a sustainable investment objective? 

Yes No

It made sustainable 
investments with an 

environmental objective: 

in economic activities that 
qualify as environmentally 
sustainable under the EU 
Taxonomy

in economic activities that do 
not qualify as environmentally 
sustainable under the EU 
Taxonomy

It promoted Environmental/Social (E/S) 
characteristics and
while it did not have as its objective a 
sustainable investment, it had a proportion of 
83.3% of sustainable investments

with an environmental objective in economic 
activities that qualify as environmentally 
sustainable under the EU Taxonomy

with an environmental objective in 
economic activities that do not qualify as 
environmentally sustainable under the EU 
Taxonomy

with a social objective

It made sustainable investments 
with a social objective: 

It promoted E/S characteristics, but did not 
make any sustainable investments

Sustainable 
investment means 
an investment in an 
economic activity 
that contributes to 
an environmental or 
social objective, 
provided that the 
investment does not 
significantly harm 
any environmental or 
social objective and 
that the investee 
companies follow 
good governance 
practices.

The EU Taxonomy is 
a classification 
system laid down in 
Regulation (EU) 
2020/852, 
establishing a list of 
environmentally 
sustainable 
economic activities. 
That Regulation
does not lay down a 
list of socially 
sustainable 
economic activities.  
Sustainable 
investments with an 
environmental 
objective might be 
aligned with the 
Taxonomy or not.  

X

X

X

X



The Investment Manager used a range of sustainability indicators to measure the extent to 
which the environmental and social characteristics of the product were met. Investors 
should refer to the next section below for an assessment of how the sustainability indicators 
performed during the reference period.

The environmental objective(s) to which the sustainable investments contributed was/were 
climate change mitigation, climate change adaptation, sustainable use and protection of 
water and marine resources, transition to a circular economy and pollution prevention and 
control.

T How 
did this financial product consider principal adverse impacts on sustainability factors? . The 
proportion of the product that was aligned with the environmental and social characteristics 

What was the proportion of sustainability-
related investments?

What were the objectives of the sustainable investments that the financial product 
partially made and how did the sustainable investment contribute to such objectives?

How did the sustainability indicators perform?

The Investment Manager used three indicators to measure the environmental and 
social characteristics of the product as follows:

The percentage of revenues earned on an estimated basis by investee companies 
which are from the environmental solutions sector. This assessment was carried out 
only for the Natural Resource-themed Collective Investment Schemes managed by 
the Investment Manager.

The weighted average ESG rating of the product, as determined by the use of ESG 
ratings of companies, supplied by an external data provider of ESG research and 
ratings. This assessment was carried out only for the Collective Investment Schemes 
managed by the Investment Manager.

The carbon intensity of the product measured by an external provider of carbon 
footprint measurement services. This assessment was carried out only for the 
Collective Investment Schemes managed by the Investment Manager.

The following shows how each indicator performed during the reference period under 
review. Each measure was calculated based on the portfolio holdings and relevant metric 
at the end of the period under review.

Sustainability 
indicators measure 
how the 
environmental or 
social 
characteristics 
promoted by the 
financial product 
are attained.



Sustainability Indicator 2023 2024 2025

Percentage (estimated) of revenues earned by 
investee companies from the environmental 
solutions sector

50.1% 49.9% 49.4%

Weighted Average MSCI ESG Score of the 
portfolio 7.2 7.1 7.3 

Weighted Average Carbon Intensity of the 
portfolio

270.7 tons CO2e / 
million USD sales

194 tons CO2e / 
million USD sales

159 tons CO2e / 
million USD sales

How did the sustainability indicators perform?

What were the objectives of the sustainable investments that the financial 
product partially made and how did the sustainable investment contribute to such 
objectives?

This product invests partially in sustainable investments.   

The objectives of these sustainable investments are the provision of vital natural 
resources such as water, agribusiness and clean energy. The provision of vital 
natural resources such as water, agribusiness and clean energy is, in the opinion of 
the Investment Manager, a benefit to the environment and to society. Better 
corporate practices also contribute to a more just society by, for example, 
enhancing human capital or providing improved social opportunities to services 
such as finance, health care, and communications.  

The sustainable investments contributed to these objectives by increasing 
investment in activities including, but not limited to, infrastructure and 
technological advancement of water, energy efficiency, energy transition, waste 
management and recycling, agribusiness and carbon trading. 

The sustainable investments also contribute to these objectives through their 
promotion of improved corporate practices that contribute to a more just society.  

Please refer to the section above headed How did the sustainability indicators 
perform? the indicators used to assess the contribution to the 
objectives.

How did the sustainable investments that the financial product partially made not 
cause significant harm to any environmental or social sustainable investment 
objective? 

The sustainable investments of the product were assessed to ensure that they do 
not cause significant harm to any environmental or social objective. This 

where applicable and where data was sufficiently available, and ensured that 
certain minimum standards were reached for each applicable PAI Indicator.  (Note 
that the measurements/assessments were carried out only for the Collective 
Investment Schemes managed by the Investment Manager):

The following PAI Indicators were used throughout the period under review.  

Principal adverse 
impacts are the 
most significant 
negative impacts of 
investment 
decisions on 
sustainability factors 
relating to 
environmental, 
social and employee 
matters, respect for 

bribery matters.



PAI Indicator Explanation 2023 2024 2025

1. GHG Emissions

Sum of portfolio companies' Carbon Emissions -
Scope 1 (tCO2e) weighted by the portfolio's 
value of investment in a company and by the 
company's most recently available enterprise 
value including cash.

6,741 tons 
CO2e

5,537 tons 
CO2e

2,960 tons 
CO2e

1. GHG Emissions

Sum of portfolio companies' Carbon Emissions -
Scope 2 (tCO2e) weighted by the portfolio's 
value of investment in a company and by the 
company's most recently available enterprise 
value including cash.

1,347 tons 
CO2e

1,293 tons 
CO2e

910 tons CO2e

1. GHG Emissions

Sum of portfolio companies' Scope 3 - Total 
Emission Estimated (tCO2e) weighted by the 
portfolio's value of investment in a company 
and by the company's most recently available 
enterprise value including cash.

33,417 tons 
CO2e

34,154 tons 
CO2e

25,273 tons 
CO2e

1. GHG Emissions

The total annual Scope 1, Scope 2, and 
estimated Scope 3 GHG emissions associated 
with the market value of the portfolio. 
Companies' carbon emissions are apportioned 
across all outstanding shares and bonds (based 
on the most recently available enterprise value 
including cash).

41,725 tons 
CO2e

41,700 tons 
CO2e

29,626 tons 
CO2e

2. Carbon Footprint

Sum of portfolio companies' Total GHG 
Emissions (Scopes 1, 2 and 3) weighted by the 
portfolio's value of investment in a company 
and by the company's most recently available 
enterprise value including cash, adjusted to 
show the emissions associated with 1 million 
EUR invested in the portfolio.

662 tons CO2e 
/ million EUR 
invested

746 tons CO2e 
/ million EUR 
invested

586 tons CO2e 
/ million EUR 
invested

3. GHG Intensity of 
investee companies

The portfolio's weighted average of its holding 
issuers' GHG Intensity (Scope 1, Scope 2 and 
estimated Scope 3 GHG emissions/EUR million 
revenue).

1,112 tons 
CO2e / million 
EUR sales

1,132 tons 
CO2e / million 
EUR sales

1,047 tons 
CO2e / million 
EUR sales

4. Exposure to 
companies active in the 
fossil fuel sector

The percentage of the portfolio's market value 
exposed to issuers with fossil fuels related 
activities, including extraction, processing, 
storage and transportation of petroleum 
products, natural gas, and thermal and 
metallurgical coal.

14.3% 12% 8.8%

5. Share of non-
renewable energy 
consumption and 
production

The portfolio's weighted average of issuers' 
energy consumption and/or production from 
non-renewable sources as a percentage of total 
energy used and/or generated.

69.9% 79.6% 77.7%

6. Energy consumption 
intensity per high impact 
climate sector: a. NACE 
Code A (Agriculture, 
Forestry and Fishing)

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code A

0 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

3.14 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

1.38 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

b. NACE Code B (Mining 
and Quarrying)

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code B

2.12 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

1.11 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

1.09 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

c. NACE Code C 
(Manufacturing)

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code C

1.2 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

0.52 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

0.39 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

d. NACE Code D 
(Electricity, Gas, Steam 
and Air Conditioning 
Supply) 

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code D

3.91 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

2.79 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

4.2 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue



e. NACE Code E (Water 
Supply, Sewerage, 
Waste Management and 
Remediation Activities)

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code E

1.44 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

0.96 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

0.91 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

f. NACE Code F 
(Construction)

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code F

0.33 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

0.24 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

0.12 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

g. NACE Code G 
(Wholesale and Retail 
Trade Repair of Motor 
Vehicles and 
Motorcycles)

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code G

0.83 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

0.43 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

0.56 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

h. NACE Code H 
(Transportation and 
Storage)

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code H

1.14 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

0.68 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

1.17 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

i. NACE Code L (Real 
estate activities)

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code L

0.25 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

2.71 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

3.24 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue

7. Activities negatively 
affecting biodiversity-
sensitive areas

The percentage of the portfolio's market value 
exposed to issuers' that reported having 
operations in or near biodiversity sensitive 
areas and have been implicated in 
controversies with severe or very severe 
impacts on the environment.

0.6% 0.5% 0.2%

8. Emissions to Water

The total annual wastewater discharged 
(metric tons reported) into surface waters as a 
result of industrial or manufacturing activities 
associated with 1 million EUR invested in the 
portfolio. Companies' water emissions are 
apportioned across all outstanding shares and 
bonds (based on the most recently available 
enterprise value including cash).

0.16 metric 
tons / million 
EUR invested

0.17 metric 
tons / million 
EUR invested

1.48 metric 
tons / million 
EUR invested

9. Hazardous waste ratio

The total annual hazardous waste (metric tons 
reported) associated with 1 million EUR 
invested in the portfolio. Companies' 
hazardous waste is apportioned across all 
outstanding shares and bonds (based on the 
most recently available enterprise value 
including cash).

1.07 metric 
tons / million 
EUR invested

0.78 metric 
tons / million 
EUR invested

2.9 metric tons 
/ million EUR 
invested

10. Violations of UN 
Global Compact 
principles and 
Organisation for 
Economic Cooperation 
and Development 
(OECD) Guidelines for 
Multinational 
Enterprises

The percentage of the portfolio's market value 
exposed to issuers with very severe 
controversies related to the company's 
operations and/or products.

0.3% 0.5% 0.7%

11. Lack of processes 
and compliance 
mechanisms to monitor 
compliance with UN 
Global Compact 
principles and OECD 
Guidelines for 
Multinational 
Enterprises

The percentage of the portfolio's market value 
exposed to issuers without policies covering 
some of the UNGC principles or OECD 
Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and 
either a monitoring system evaluating 
compliance with such policies or a 
grievance/complaints handling mechanism.

44.6% 0.6% 0.2%



12. Unadjusted gender 
pay gap

The portfolio holdings' weighted average of the 
difference between the average gross hourly 
earnings of male and female employees, as a 
percentage of male gross earnings.

7.7% 14.3% 15%

13. Board gender 
diversity

The portfolio holdings' weighted average of the 
percentage of board members who are female. 
For companies with a two-tier board, the 
calculation is based on members of the 
Supervisory Board only.

31.8% 32.8% 32.9%

14. Exposure to 
controversial weapons 
(anti-personnel mines, 
cluster munitions, 
chemical weapons and 
biological weapons)

The percentage of the portfolio's market value 
exposed to issuers with an industry tie to 
landmines, cluster munitions, chemical 
weapons or biological weapons. Note: Industry 
ties includes ownership, manufacturing and 
investments. Ties to landmines do not include 
related safety products.

0% 0% 0%

15. Investments in 
companies without 
carbon emission 
reduction initiatives

The percentage of the portfolio's market value 
exposed to issuers without carbon emissions 
reduction initiatives aimed at aligning with the 
Paris Agreement.

37.5% 45.7% 46.3%

16. Investments in 
companies without 
workplace accident 
prevention policies

The percentage of the portfolio's market value 
exposed to issuers without a workplace 
accident prevention policy.

5.8% 5.5% 3.5%

Note that in the PAI Indicators table above, for items 6a to 6i, there may be no investments 
in companies in the relevant NACE sector or there may be no data available for any 
companies in the relevant NACE sector. In such cases the table will show a value of 0 GWh / 
million EUR revenue. Similarly, for item 8, the table will show 0 metric tons / million EUR 
invested if no data is available for that metric.

How were the indicators for adverse impacts on sustainability factors taken 
into account? 

The indicators for adverse impacts on sustainability factors were taken into 
account by applying certain exclusion strategies aligned to the PAI Indicators 
and by monitoring the PAI Indicators in the following manner: 

1. When ensuring that a sustainable investment did not cause significant 
harm to any environmental or social objective, the Investment 
Manager made use of various PAI Indicators. Please refer to the 
section above headed How did the sustainable investments that the 
financial product partially made not cause significant harm to any 
environmental or social sustainable investment objective? for more 
detail. The Investment Manager ensured that certain minimum 
standards were reached for each applicable PAI Indicator.  

2. The product did not invest in companies materially engaged in certain 
activities which, in the opinion of the Investment Manager, are 
associated with a particularly adverse impact on sustainability. These    
included companies involved in the manufacture of tobacco products, 
companies with any involvement in certain types of controversial 
weapons, and companies with a high degree of involvement in coal 
extraction or coal-fired electricity generation.  



3. The Investment Manager engaged with companies on a range of 
issues, including engagement with companies which have high 
adverse impact (as measured by the PAI Indicators and by other 
factors), with a view to influencing the company to change its activities 
in a manner which will reduce the adverse impact. Please refer to the 
s What actions have been taken to meet the 
environmental and/or social characteristics during the reference 
period? for more detail.

Were sustainable investments aligned with the OECD Guidelines for 
Multinational Enterprises and the UN Guiding Principles on Business and 
Human Rights? Details: 

Yes, the sustainable investments were aligned with the OECD Guidelines for 
Multinational Enterprises and the UN Guiding Principles on Business and 
Human Rights through the use of environmental and UNGC (UN Global 
Compact) controversies screening as an indication for alignment with OECD 
guidelines / UN guiding principles along with other tools including ESG scores 
and research as part of the investment.

The product did not invest in any company which violates, repeatedly and 
seriously, one or more of the ten principles of the UN Global Compact. To 
implement this, the Investment Manager used data from data providers which 
rely on international conventions such as the OECD Guidelines for 
Multinational Enterprises and UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human 

geographies of operation and business segments. 

How did this financial product consider principal adverse impacts on 
sustainability factors? 

Taxonomy-aligned investments should not significantly harm EU Taxonomy 
objectives and is accompanied by specific Union criteria.

The
underlying the financial product that take into account the Union criteria for 
environmentally sustainable economic activities. The investments underlying the 
remaining portion of this financial product do not take into account the Union
criteria for environmentally sustainable economic activities.

Any other sustainable investments must also not significantly harm any 
environmental or social objectives. 



Over the reference period, the product considered principal adverse impacts on 
sustainability factors. This was done in the following manner: 

1. A minimum proportion of the investments held in this product must be 
sustainable investments. In determining whether an investment was a 
sustainable investment, a number of PAI Indicators were used and where the 
adverse impact was considered to be excessive, in the judgement of the 
Investment Manager, based on whether the adverse impact breaches certain 
thresholds set by the Investment Manager, such investments were not deemed 
to be sustainable investments. Please refer to the s How 
did the sustainable investments that the financial product partially made not 
cause significant harm to any environmental or social sustainable investment 
objective for more detail.

2.
company, and the size of that investment, took into account the PAI Indicators 
(referred to above) relating to the social, environmental and governance 
characteristics of that company, including the adverse impact that the company 
had on sustainability. 

3. The product did not invest in companies engaged in certain activities which, in 
the opinion of the Investment Manager, were associated with a particularly 
adverse impact on sustainability, in excess of certain thresholds. These  included 
companies involved in the manufacture of tobacco products, companies with any 
involvement in certain types of controversial weapons, and companies with a 
high degree of involvement in coal extraction or coal-fired electricity generation.

4. The Investment Manager engaged with companies on a range of issues, including 
engagement with companies which have high adverse impact, with a view to 
influencing the company to change its activities in a manner which will reduce 
the adverse impact.

What were the top investments of this financial product?

The following sets out a list of the top investments (and relevant sector if applicable) of 
the financial product using the Global Industry Classification Standard (GICS). GICS is a 
four-tiered industry classification system consisting of 11 sectors. It is a commonly used 
industry framework to determine sector exposure.  

The data presented in this section shows the top investments (ie the greatest proportion 
of investments of the product) during the reference period and has been calculated based 
on an average of the value of investments traded and held at each quarter end date within 
the reference period. Cash and ancillary liquidity instruments (which were not used to 
promote the environmental and social characteristics of the product) are not included in 
the table below.   

The list includes the 
investments 
constituting the 
greatest proportion 
of investments of 
the financial 
product during the 
reference period 
which is: 1 year to 
end September 2025



Largest Investments Sector % Assets Country

KBI Global Solutions Fund EUR 
Class A *

45.5 Multi Region

KBI Emerging Markets Equity Fund 
EUR Class A

21.8 Multi Region

KBI Global Sustainable 
Infrastructure Fund EUR Class A * 13.4 Multi Region

KBI Global Small Cap Equity Fund 
EUR Class A

7.1 Multi Region

KBI Circular Economy Fund EUR 
Class A *

6.5 Multi Region

UBS CMCI COMPOSITE SF UCITS 
ETF  

3.7 Multi Region

Morgan Stanley Euro Liquidity 
Fund C Share Class 1.2 Multi Region

* denotes an investment which is a Collective Investment Scheme managed by the Investment Manager and 
which follows a Natural Resources-themed strategy.

What was the proportion of sustainability-related investments?

Information on the proportion of the product which promoted environmental/social 
characteristics and the proportion of the product invested in sustainable investments during 
the reference period is provided below.

What was the asset allocation?

Based on data as at 30 September 2025, 90.7% of the investments  of the product were used 
to meet the environmental and social characteristics promoted by the product in 
accordance with the binding elements of the investment strategy. The proportion of the 
portfolio which was invested in Sustainable Investments was 83.3%.

The remaining portion of investments comprised of a holding in a Collective Investment 
Scheme that invests in commodity futures, and cash and related ancillary liquidity 
instruments (held for the purpose of ancillary liquidity and efficient portfolio management)
in accordance with the investment policy of the product. Minimum environmental and 
social safeguards continued to apply in the selection of these investments including ESG-
related exclusions.

Asset allocation 
describes the share 
of investments in 
specific assets.



2023 2024 2025
Proportion of the product's assets invested in 
environmentally sustainable activities 68.3% 63.6% 64.1%

Proportion of investments contributing to EU Taxonomy objectives:

1. Climate change mitigation

2. Climate change adaptation

3. Sustainable use and protection of water and marine resources

4. Transition to a circular economy

5. Pollution prevention and control

6. Protection and restoration of biodiversity and ecosystems

Taxonomy objectives 1 2 3 4 5 6

As % of Turnover 3.7% 0% 0% 0.2% 0.1% 0%

As % of Capex 4.8% 0.1% 0.1% 0.2% 0.1% 0%

As % of Opex 4% 0% 0% 0.1% 0.1% 0%

It should be noted that in this reference period only a minority of investee companies are 
required to report the proportion of their revenues that are aligned with the EU Taxonomy.

#1 Aligned with E/S characteristics includes the investments of the financial product used to attain the 
environmental or social characteristics promoted by the financial product.

#2Other includes the remaining investments of the financial product which are neither aligned with the 
environmental or social characteristics, nor are qualified as sustainable investments.

The category #1 Aligned with E/S characteristics covers:
- The sub-category #1A Sustainable covers environmentally and socially sustainable investments.
- The sub-category #1B Other E/S characteristics covers investments aligned with the environmental or 
social characteristics that do not qualify as sustainable investments.

Investments

#1 Aligned with E/S 
characteristics  

90.7%

#1A Sustainable 
83.3%  

Taxonomy-aligned 
5.7%

Other 
environmental 

58.4%

Social 19.1%

#1B Other E/S 
characteristics 7.4%

#2 Other 9.3% 



In which economic sectors were the investments made?

The following table consists of the product -industries. For the purpose 
of the table, the Global Industry Classification Standard (GICS) has been used. GICS is a 
four-tiered industry classification system consisting of 11 sectors. It is a commonly used 
industry framework to determine sector exposure. The table below shows the 
composition of the investments held by the product, by GICS sector during the reference 
period. The data presented has been calculated based on an average of the value of 
investments traded and held at each quarter end date within the reference period. Cash 
and ancillary liquidity instruments are not included in the table below.  Where the product 
invests in other Collective Investment Schemes, the analysis below takes into account the 
investments of those Collective Investment S -
only done where those Collective Investment Schemes are managed by the same 
Investment Manager as this product.

Sector % Assets

COMMUNICATION SERVICES 2.5

CONSUMER DISCRETIONARY 6.6

CONSUMER STAPLES 5.4

ENERGY 1.4

FINANCIALS 7.2

HEALTH CARE 3.2

INDUSTRIALS 25.1

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 15.2

MATERIALS 5.1

REAL ESTATE 3.1

UTILITIES 17.7

Note: EXPOSURE TO COMPANIES ACTIVE IN THE FOSSIL FUEL 
SECTOR (i.e. the percentage of the product's market value 
exposed to issuers with fossil fuels related activities, including 
extraction, processing, storage and transportation of petroleum 
products, natural gas, and thermal and metallurgical coal)

8.8%



To what extent were the sustainable investments with an environmental 
objective aligned with the EU Taxonomy? 

The  proportion of sustainable investments aligned with the EU Taxonomy was 5.7%.

The environmental objective(s) to which the sustainable investments contributed 
was/were climate change mitigation, climate change adaptation, sustainable use and 
protection of water and marine resources, transition to a circular economy and 
pollution prevention and control.

In order to attain the environmental characteristics promoted by this product, the 
product invested in sustainable investments even though such investments did not 

the meaning of the Taxonomy Regulation.

Did the financial product invest in fossil gas and/or nuclear energy related 
activities complying with the EU Taxonomy1?

Yes: 

In fossil gas In nuclear energy 

No

1 Fossil gas and/or nuclear related activities will only comply with the EU Taxonomy where they contribute to 
-

see explanatory note in the left hand margin. The full criteria for fossil gas and nuclear energy economic activities 
that comply with the EU Taxonomy are laid down in Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2022/1214.

X

X

To comply with the 
EU Taxonomy, the 
criteria for fossil gas 
include limitations 
on emissions and 
switching to fully 
renewable power or 
low-carbon fuels by 
the end of 2035. For 
nuclear energy, the 
criteria include 
comprehensive 
safety and waste 
management rules.

Enabling activities 
directly enable
other activities to 
make a substantial 
contribution to an 
environmental 
objective.

Transitional 
activities are 
activities for which 
low-carbon 
alternatives are not 
yet available and 
among others have 
greenhouse gas 
emission levels  
corresponding to 
the best 
performance.



What was the share of investments made in transitional and enabling activities? 

Investments in environmentally sustainable economic activities:

Transitional Enabling

As % of Turnover 0% 2.7%

As % of Capex 0% 3%

As % of Opex 0% 3.2%

How did the percentage of investments that were aligned with the EU Taxonomy
compare with previous reference periods?

The graphs below show in green the percentage of investments that were aligned with the EU Taxonomy. 
As there is no appropriate methodology to determine the taxonomy-alignment of sovereign bonds*, the 
first graph shows the Taxonomy alignment in relation to all the investments of the financial product 
including sovereign bonds, while the second graph shows the Taxonomy alignment only in relation to the 
investments of the financial product other than sovereign bonds.

* For the purpose of these graphs, sovereign exposures.

0.1%

0.2%

0.1%

4.6%

5.5%

5.6%

95.3%

94.3%

94.3%

Opex

Capex

Turnover

0% 50% 100%

1. Taxonomy-alignment of investments 
including sovereign bonds* 

Taxonomy-aligned: Fossil gas
Taxonomy-aligned: Nuclear energy
Taxonomy-aligned: No gas and nuclear
Non Taxonomy-aligned

Taxonomy-aligned 
activities are 
expressed as a share 
of:
- turnover reflects 

investee 
companies today.

- capital 
expenditure
(CapEx) shows the 
green investments 
made by investee 
companies, 
relevant for a 
transition to a 
green economy. 

- operational 
expenditure
(OpEx) reflects the 
green operational 
activities of 
investee 
companies.

0.1%

0.2%

0.1%

4.6%

5.5%

5.6%

95.3%

94.3%

94.3%

Opex

Capex

Turnover

0% 50% 100%

2. Taxonomy-alignment of investments 
excluding sovereign bonds*

Taxonomy-aligned: Fossil gas
Taxonomy-aligned: Nuclear energy
Taxonomy-aligned: No gas and nuclear
Non Taxonomy-aligned

This graph represents 100% of the total investments.



2023 2024 2025
Proportion of the product's assets aligned with 
the EU Taxonomy

0% 6.4% 5.7%

What was the share of sustainable investments with an environmental 
objective not aligned with the EU Taxonomy?

The product invested 58.4% of its assets in sustainable investments with 
environmental characteristics which did not qualify as environmentally sustainable 
under the EU Taxonomy.

What was the share of socially sustainable investments?

The product invested 19.1% of its assets in socially sustainable investments. 

what was their purpose and 
were there any minimum environmental or social safeguards?

16.7% of investments were not classified as sustainable investments comprised of 
holdings in listed companies (held for the purpose of investment growth and 
efficient portfolio management) and/or cash and related ancillary liquidity 
instruments (held for the purpose of ancillary liquidity and efficient portfolio 
management) in accordance with the investment policy of the product. Minimum 
environmental and social safeguards continued to apply in the selection of these 
investments including the exclusion of companies involved with certain 
controversial activities, and the exclusion of companies that violate, repeatedly and 
seriously, one or more of the ten principles of the UN Global Compact.  

What actions have been taken to meet the environmental and/or social 
characteristics during the reference period?

The actions taken to achieve the environmental and social characteristics were:

In identifying investments which allow the product to promote environmental and 
social characteristics, the Investment Manager adopted the following strategies: 

Collective Investment Schemes

When making investments in active collective investment schemes the Investment 
Manager only invested in schemes where the investment manager of the underlying 

are 
sustainable 
investments with an 
environmental 
objective that do 
not take into 
account the criteria
for environmentally 
sustainable 
economic activities 
under Regulation 
(EU) 2020/852.



of companies in which it invests, and integrated the results of that assessment into 
its investment decisions. 

Direct Investments

The Investment Manager excluded holdings deemed inconsistent with its 
Responsible Investment Policy or that were involved with certain controversial 

Committee. The product did not invest in companies which were involved in certain 
activities including tobacco manufacturing, coal extraction and coal-fired electricity 
generation, in excess of certain thresholds. Full details of the exclusions and 
thresholds are available in the Responsible Investing Policy of the Investment 
Manager which can be found at the link below under Where can I find 
more product specific information online

The Investment Manager carried out its own assessment of the environmental and 
social performance of companies, based on its own research and knowledge of the 
companies, public information and information (including specialised ESG 
information) and ratings

The portfolio construction process excluded holdings deemed inconsistent with the 

Responsible Investing Committee. Further, the product did not invest in companies  
involved in certain activities including tobacco manufacturing, coal extraction and 
coal-fired electricity generation, in excess of certain thresholds. 

The Investment Manager collaborated on 14 topics and engaged with 25 companies 
on a range of issues, including engagement with companies which had high adverse 
impact (as measured by the PAI Indicators and by other factors), with a view to 
influencing the company to change its activities in a manner which will reduce the 
adverse impact.

How did this financial product perform compared to the reference benchmark? 

Not applicable

No reference benchmark has been designated for the purpose of attaining the 
environmental and social characteristics promoted by the product.



How does the reference benchmark differ from a broad market index?

Not Applicable.

How did this financial product perform with regard to the sustainability indicators 
to determine the alignment of the reference benchmark with the environmental 
or social characteristics promoted?

Not applicable.

How did this financial product perform compared with the reference benchmark?

Not applicable.

How did this financial product perform compared with the broad market index?

Not applicable.

Reference 
benchmarks are 
indexes to 
measure whether 
the financial 
product attains the 
environmental or 
social 
characteristics that 
they promote.



Periodic disclosure for the financial products referred to in Article 8, paragraphs 1, 2 and 2a, of 
Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 and Article 6, first paragraph, of Regulation (EU) 2020/852

Product name: KBI Integris Eurozone Equity Fund   

Legal entity identifier: 635400UEV7KR5V3XGB79

Environmental and/or social characteristics

To what extent were the environmental and/or social characteristics promoted 
by this financial product met? 

The environmental and social characteristics promoted by the product were reductions in 
harm to the environment and climate arising from the emissions of greenhouse gases and 
better corporate practices that contribute to a more just society, by, for example, enhancing 
human capital or providing improved social opportunities to services such as finance, health 
care, and communications. 

Did this financial product have a sustainable investment objective? 

Yes No

It made sustainable 
investments with an 

environmental objective: ___%

in economic activities that 
qualify as environmentally 
sustainable under the EU 
Taxonomy

in economic activities that do 
not qualify as environmentally 
sustainable under the EU 
Taxonomy

It promoted Environmental/Social (E/S) 
characteristics and
while it did not have as its objective a 
sustainable investment, it had a proportion of 
99.6% of sustainable investments

with an environmental objective in economic 
activities that qualify as environmentally 
sustainable under the EU Taxonomy

with an environmental objective in 
economic activities that do not qualify as 
environmentally sustainable under the EU 
Taxonomy

with a social objective

It made sustainable investments 
with a social objective: ___%

It promoted E/S characteristics, but did not 
make any sustainable investments

Sustainable 
investment means 
an investment in an 
economic activity 
that contributes to 
an environmental or 
social objective, 
provided that the 
investment does not 
significantly harm 
any environmental or 
social objective and 
that the investee 
companies follow 
good governance 
practices.

The EU Taxonomy is 
a classification 
system laid down in 
Regulation (EU) 
2020/852, 
establishing a list of 
environmentally 
sustainable 
economic activities. 
That Regulation
does not lay down a 
list of socially 
sustainable 
economic activities.  
Sustainable 
investments with an 
environmental 
objective might be 
aligned with the 
Taxonomy or not.  

X

X

X

X



 

 

The Investment Manager used a range of sustainability indicators to measure the extent to 
which the environmental and social characteristics of the product were met. Investors 
should refer to the next section below for an assessment of how the sustainability indicators 
performed during the reference period.  

The product was managed with the aim of progressively reducing net carbon emissions of 
investee companies and of eventually reaching net zero emissions by 2050. The product also 
sought to have a carbon intensity level lower than the Index. The Investment Manager 
monitored the carbon intensity of companies in which the product invested. Carbon 
intensity is a measure of greenhouse gas emissions, in tonnes, relative to the revenue of the 
company or portfolio. The Investment Manager obtained carbon intensity data from the 
Data Provider.   

The environmental objective(s) to which the sustainable investments contributed was/were 
climate change mitigation and climate change adaptation. 

While the product promotes carbon emission reduction and better corporate practices, 
investors should be aware that this product does not have reduction of carbon emissions as 
its objective within the meaning of Article 9(3) of SFDR. Further, the investment strategy of 
the product is not continuously aligned with the Index and the Index is not used for the 
purpose of determining the attainment of the environmental and social characteristics 
promoted by the product. The Index is a broad market index and is not aligned with the 
environmental and social characteristics promoted by the product.   

T How 
did this financial product consider principal adverse impacts on sustainability factors? . The 
proportion of the product that was aligned with the environmental and social characteristics 

What was the proportion of sustainability-
related investments?

What were the objectives of the sustainable investments that the financial product 
partially made and how did the sustainable investment contribute to such objectives?

 

 How did the sustainability indicators perform? 

The Investment Manager used two indicators to measure the environmental and social 
characteristics of the product as follows:   

 The weighted average ESG rating of the product, as determined by the use of ESG 
ratings of companies, supplied by an external data provider of ESG research and 
ratings.  

 The carbon intensity of the product measured by an external provider of carbon 
footprint measurement services.  

Sustainability 
indicators measure 
how the 
environmental or 
social 
characteristics 
promoted by the 
financial product 
are attained. 



 

 

The following shows how each indicator performed during the reference period under 
review. Each measure was calculated based on the portfolio holdings and relevant metric 
at the end of the period under review. 

  

Sustainability Indicator 2023 2024 2025

Weighted Average MSCI ESG Score of the 
portfolio 

8.1  8  8  

Weighted Average Carbon Intensity of the 
portfolio 

63.1 tons CO2e / 
million USD sales 

54.2 tons CO2e / 
million USD sales 

53.6 tons CO2e / 
million USD sales 

 

 

How did the sustainability indicators perform?  

What were the objectives of the sustainable investments that the financial 
product partially made and how did the sustainable investment contribute to such 
objectives?  

This product invests partially in sustainable investments.    

The objectives of these sustainable investments are the the reduction in harm to 
the environment and climate arising from the emissions of greenhouse gases and 
better corporate practices that contribute to a more just society by, for example, 
enhancing human capital or providing improved social opportunities to services 
such as finance, health care, and communications. 

The sustainable investments contribute to these objectives through the reduction 
in the carbon intensity of the portfolio and through the promotion of improved 
corporate practices that contribute to a more just society. Please refer to the 
section above headed How did the sustainability indicators perform?
detail on the indicators used to assess the contribution to the objectives.

How did the sustainable investments that the financial product partially made not 
cause significant harm to any environmental or social sustainable investment 
objective?  

The sustainable investments of the product were assessed to ensure that they do 
not cause significant harm to any environmental or social objective. This 

where applicable and where data was sufficiently available, and ensured that 
certain minimum standards were reached for each applicable PAI Indicator.  

The following PAI Indicators were used throughout the period under review. 

  

PAI Indicator Explanation 2023 2024 2025 

1. GHG Emissions 

Sum of portfolio companies' Carbon Emissions - 
Scope 1 (tCO2e) weighted by the portfolio's 
value of investment in a company and by the 
company's most recently available enterprise 
value including cash. 

722 tons CO2e 558 tons CO2e 303 tons CO2e 

Principal adverse 
impacts are the 
most significant 
negative impacts of 
investment 
decisions on 
sustainability factors 
relating to 
environmental, 
social and employee 
matters, respect for 

bribery matters. 



 

 

1. GHG Emissions 

Sum of portfolio companies' Carbon Emissions - 
Scope 2 (tCO2e) weighted by the portfolio's 
value of investment in a company and by the 
company's most recently available enterprise 
value including cash. 

142 tons CO2e 140 tons CO2e 107 tons CO2e 

1. GHG Emissions 

Sum of portfolio companies' Scope 3 - Total 
Emission Estimated (tCO2e) weighted by the 
portfolio's value of investment in a company 
and by the company's most recently available 
enterprise value including cash. 

5,812 tons 
CO2e 

5,466 tons 
CO2e 

6,440 tons 
CO2e 

1. GHG Emissions 

The total annual Scope 1, Scope 2, and 
estimated Scope 3 GHG emissions associated 
with the market value of the portfolio. 
Companies' carbon emissions are apportioned 
across all outstanding shares and bonds (based 
on the most recently available enterprise value 
including cash). 

6,676 tons 
CO2e 

6,210 tons 
CO2e 

6,915 tons 
CO2e 

2. Carbon Footprint 

Sum of portfolio companies' Total GHG 
Emissions (Scopes 1, 2 and 3) weighted by the 
portfolio's value of investment in a company 
and by the company's most recently available 
enterprise value including cash, adjusted to 
show the emissions associated with 1 million 
EUR invested in the portfolio. 

433 tons CO2e 
/ million EUR 
invested 

480 tons CO2e 
/ million EUR 
invested 

515 tons CO2e 
/ million EUR 
invested

3. GHG Intensity of 
investee companies 

The portfolio's weighted average of its holding 
issuers' GHG Intensity (Scope 1, Scope 2 and 
estimated Scope 3 GHG emissions/EUR million 
revenue). 

582 tons CO2e 
/ million EUR 
sales 

683 tons CO2e 
/ million EUR 
sales 

822 tons CO2e 
/ million EUR 
sales

4. Exposure to 
companies active in the 
fossil fuel sector 

The percentage of the portfolio's market value 
exposed to issuers with fossil fuels related 
activities, including extraction, processing, 
storage and transportation of petroleum 
products, natural gas, and thermal and 
metallurgical coal. 

10.3% 11.2% 11.2%

5. Share of non-
renewable energy 
consumption and 
production 

The portfolio's weighted average of issuers' 
energy consumption and/or production from 
non-renewable sources as a percentage of total 
energy used and/or generated. 

64.3% 60.6% 51.8%

6. Energy consumption 
intensity per high impact 
climate sector: a. NACE 
Code A (Agriculture, 
Forestry and Fishing) 

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code A 

0 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

b. NACE Code B (Mining 
and Quarrying) 

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code B 

0 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

c. NACE Code C 
(Manufacturing) 

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code C 

0.4 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.49 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.18 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

d. NACE Code D 
(Electricity, Gas, Steam 
and Air Conditioning 
Supply)  

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code D 

3.01 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

2.54 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

2.74 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

e. NACE Code E (Water 
Supply, Sewerage, 
Waste Management and 
Remediation Activities) 

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code E 

0 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 



 

 

f. NACE Code F 
(Construction) 

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code F 

0.09 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.11 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.1 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

g. NACE Code G 
(Wholesale and Retail 
Trade Repair of Motor 
Vehicles and 
Motorcycles) 

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code G 

0.11 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.15 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.06 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

h. NACE Code H 
(Transportation and 
Storage) 

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code H 

0.42 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.49 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.63 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

i. NACE Code L (Real 
estate activities) 

The portfolio's weighted average of Energy 
Consumption Intensity (GwH/million EUR 
revenue) for issuers classified within NACE 
Code L 

0.05 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.41 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

0.47 GWh / 
million EUR 
revenue 

7. Activities negatively 
affecting biodiversity-
sensitive areas 

The percentage of the portfolio's market value 
exposed to issuers' that reported having 
operations in or near biodiversity sensitive 
areas and have been implicated in 
controversies with severe or very severe 
impacts on the environment. 

0.5% 2.2% 0%

8. Emissions to Water 

The total annual wastewater discharged 
(metric tons reported) into surface waters as a 
result of industrial or manufacturing activities 
associated with 1 million EUR invested in the 
portfolio. Companies' water emissions are 
apportioned across all outstanding shares and 
bonds (based on the most recently available 
enterprise value including cash). 

0 metric tons / 
million EUR 
invested 

0 metric tons / 
million EUR 
invested 

0.01 metric 
tons / million 
EUR invested

9. Hazardous waste ratio 

The total annual hazardous waste (metric tons 
reported) associated with 1 million EUR 
invested in the portfolio. Companies' 
hazardous waste is apportioned across all 
outstanding shares and bonds (based on the 
most recently available enterprise value 
including cash). 

1.52 metric 
tons / million 
EUR invested 

0.78 metric 
tons / million 
EUR invested

1.11 metric 
tons / million 
EUR invested

10. Violations of UN 
Global Compact 
principles and 
Organisation for 
Economic Cooperation 
and Development 
(OECD) Guidelines for 
Multinational 
Enterprises 

The percentage of the portfolio's market value 
exposed to issuers with very severe 
controversies related to the company's 
operations and/or products. 

0% 0% 0%

11. Lack of processes 
and compliance 
mechanisms to monitor 
compliance with UN 
Global Compact 
principles and OECD 
Guidelines for 
Multinational 
Enterprises 

The percentage of the portfolio's market value 
exposed to issuers without policies covering 
some of the UNGC principles or OECD 
Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and 
either a monitoring system evaluating 
compliance with such policies or a 
grievance/complaints handling mechanism. 

9.6% 0% 0%

12. Unadjusted gender 
pay gap 

The portfolio holdings' weighted average of the 
difference between the average gross hourly 
earnings of male and female employees, as a 
percentage of male gross earnings. 

13.6% 12.4% 8.9%



 

 

13. Board gender 
diversity 

The portfolio holdings' weighted average of the 
percentage of board members who are female. 
For companies with a two-tier board, the 
calculation is based on members of the 
Supervisory Board only. 

41.2% 43.3% 42.8%

14. Exposure to 
controversial weapons 
(anti-personnel mines, 
cluster munitions, 
chemical weapons and 
biological weapons) 

The percentage of the portfolio's market value 
exposed to issuers with an industry tie to 
landmines, cluster munitions, chemical 
weapons or biological weapons. Note: Industry 
ties includes ownership, manufacturing and 
investments. Ties to landmines do not include 
related safety products. 

0% 0% 0%

15. Investments in 
companies without 
carbon emission 
reduction initiatives 

The percentage of the portfolio's market value 
exposed to issuers without carbon emissions 
reduction initiatives aimed at aligning with the 
Paris Agreement. 

12.1% 31.7% 21.1%

16. Investments in 
companies without 
workplace accident 
prevention policies 

The percentage of the portfolio's market value 
exposed to issuers without a workplace 
accident prevention policy. 

0% 0.2% 0%

 

Note that in the PAI Indicators table above, for items 6a to 6i, there may be no investments 
in companies in the relevant NACE sector or there may be no data available for any 
companies in the relevant NACE sector. In such cases the table will show a value of 0 GWh / 
million EUR revenue. Similarly, for item 8, the table will show 0 metric tons / million EUR 
invested if no data is available for that metric. 

How were the indicators for adverse impacts on sustainability factors taken 
into account?  

The indicators for adverse impacts on sustainability factors were taken into 
account by applying certain exclusion strategies aligned to the PAI Indicators 
and by monitoring the PAI Indicators in the following manner:  

1. When ensuring that a sustainable investment did not cause significant 
harm to any environmental or social objective, the Investment 
Manager made use of various PAI Indicators. Please refer to the 
section above headed How did the sustainable investments that the 
financial product partially made not cause significant harm to any 
environmental or social sustainable investment objective? for more 
detail. The Investment Manager ensured that certain minimum 
standards were reached for each applicable PAI Indicator.  

2. The product did not invest in companies materially engaged in certain 
activities which, in the opinion of the Investment Manager, are 
associated with a particularly adverse impact on sustainability. 
These  included companies with any involvement in certain types of 
controversial weapons, or with a high degree of involvement in coal 
extraction or coal-fired electricity generation, or with revenue in 
excess of certain thresholds from tobacco manufacturing, gambling, 
adult entertainment, stem cell research or recreational cannabis, or 



 

 

which own fossil fuel reserves, or that conduct animal testing for non-
pharmaceutical products, or with any tie to abortion.  

3. The Investment Manager engaged with companies on a range of 
issues, including engagement with companies which have high 
adverse impact (as measured by the PAI Indicators and by other 
factors), with a view to influencing the company to change its activities 
in a manner which will reduce the adverse impact. Please refer to the 
s What actions have been taken to meet the 
environmental and/or social characteristics during the reference 
period? for more detail. 

 

Were sustainable investments aligned with the OECD Guidelines for 
Multinational Enterprises and the UN Guiding Principles on Business and 
Human Rights? Details:  

Yes, the sustainable investments were aligned with the OECD Guidelines for 
Multinational Enterprises and the UN Guiding Principles on Business and 
Human Rights through the use of environmental and UNGC (UN Global 
Compact) controversies screening as an indication for alignment with OECD 
guidelines / UN guiding principles along with other tools including ESG scores 
and research as part of the investment. 

The product did not invest in any company which violates, repeatedly and 
seriously, one or more of the ten principles of the UN Global Compact. To 
implement this, the Investment Manager used data from data providers which 
rely on international conventions such as the OECD Guidelines for 
Multinational Enterprises and UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human 

geographies of operation and business segments.  



 

 

How did this financial product consider principal adverse impacts on 
sustainability factors?  

Over the reference period, the product considered principal adverse impacts on 
sustainability factors. This was done in the following manner:  

1. A minimum proportion of the investments held in this product must be 
sustainable investments. In determining whether an investment was a 
sustainable investment, a number of PAI Indicators were used and where the 
adverse impact was considered to be excessive, in the judgement of the 
Investment Manager, based on whether the adverse impact breaches certain 
thresholds set by the Investment Manager, such investments were not deemed 
to be sustainable investments. Please refer to the s How 
did the sustainable investments that the financial product partially made not 
cause significant harm to any environmental or social sustainable investment 
objective for more detail.  

2. 
company, and the size of that investment, took into account the PAI Indicators 
(referred to above) relating to the social, environmental and governance 
characteristics of that company, including the adverse impact that the company 
had on sustainability.  

3. The product did not invest in companies engaged in certain activities which, in 
the opinion of the Investment Manager, were associated with a particularly 
adverse impact on sustainability, in excess of certain thresholds. These included 
companies with any involvement in certain types of controversial weapons, or 
with a high degree of involvement in coal extraction or coal-fired electricity 
generation, or with revenue in excess of certain thresholds from tobacco 
manufacturing, gambling, adult entertainment, stem cell research or 
recreational cannabis, or which own fossil fuel reserves, or that conduct animal 
testing for non-pharmaceutical products, or with any tie to abortion. 

4. The Investment Manager engaged with companies on a range of issues, including 
engagement with companies which have high adverse impact, with a view to 

Taxonomy-aligned investments should not significantly harm EU Taxonomy 
objectives and is accompanied by specific Union criteria.  
 
The 
underlying the financial product that take into account the Union criteria for 
environmentally sustainable economic activities. The investments underlying the 
remaining portion of this financial product do not take into account the Union 
criteria for environmentally sustainable economic activities. 
 
 Any other sustainable investments must also not significantly harm any 
environmental or social objectives.  

 



 

 

influencing the company to change its activities in a manner which will reduce 
the adverse impact. 

 

What were the top investments of this financial product? 

The following sets out a list of the top investments (and relevant sector) of the financial 
product using the Global Industry Classification Standard (GICS). GICS is a four-tiered 
industry classification system consisting of 11 sectors. It is a commonly used industry 
framework to determine sector exposure.   

The data presented in this section shows the top 15 investments (ie the greatest 
proportion of investments of the product) during the reference period and has been 
calculated based on an average of the value of investments traded and held at each 
quarter end date within the reference period. Cash and ancillary liquidity instruments 
(which were not used to promote the environmental and social characteristics of the 
product) are not included in the table below.  

Largest Investments Sector % Assets Country

Enel SpA   UTILITIES 4.1 Italy 

Axa SA   FINANCIALS 4 France

ASML Holding NV   INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 3.6 Netherlands

Nordea Bank Abp   FINANCIALS 3.5 Finland

BBV Argentaria SA   FINANCIALS 3.4 Spain

Vinci SA   INDUSTRIALS 3.4 France

Industria De Diseno Textil SA   CONSUMER DISCRETIONARY 3.4 Spain
Cie Generale des Etablissements 
Michelin SCA 

CONSUMER DISCRETIONARY 3.1 France

ACS SA   INDUSTRIALS 3.1 Spain

KBC Groep NV   FINANCIALS 3 Belgium

GEA Group AG   INDUSTRIALS 2.9 Germany

Publicis Groupe SA   COMMUNICATION SERVICES 2.9 France

Moncler SpA   CONSUMER DISCRETIONARY 2.8 Italy 

Intesa Sanpaolo SpA   FINANCIALS 2.7 Italy 

Daimler Truck  Holding AG   INDUSTRIALS 2.7 Germany

 

What was the proportion of sustainability-related investments? 

Information on the proportion of the product which promoted environmental/social 
characteristics and the proportion of the product invested in sustainable investments during 
the reference period is provided below. 

What was the asset allocation?  

Based on data as at 30 September 2025, 99.6% of the investments of the product were used 
to meet the environmental and social characteristics promoted by the product in 
accordance with the binding elements of the investment strategy. The proportion of the 
portfolio which was invested in Sustainable Investments was 99.6%. 

Asset allocation 
describes the share 
of investments in 
specific assets. 

The list includes the 
investments 
constituting the 
greatest proportion 
of investments of 
the financial 
product during the 
reference period 
which is: 1 year to 
end September 2025  



The remaining portion of investments comprised of holdings in listed companies (held for 
the purpose of investment growth and efficient portfolio management) and cash and 
related ancillary liquidity instruments (held for the purpose of ancillary liquidity and efficient 
portfolio management) in accordance with the investment policy of the product. Minimum 
environmental and social safeguards continued to apply in the selection of these 
investments including ESG-related exclusions.

2023 2024 2025
Proportion of the product's assets invested in 
environmentally sustainable activities

40.6% 22.9% 33.2%

Proportion of investments contributing to EU Taxonomy objectives:

1. Climate change mitigation

2. Climate change adaptation

3. Sustainable use and protection of water and marine resources

4. Transition to a circular economy

5. Pollution prevention and control

6. Protection and restoration of biodiversity and ecosystems

Taxonomy objectives 1 2 3 4 5 6

As % of Turnover 3.9% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

As % of Capex 6.6% 0.6% 0% 0% 0% 0%

As % of Opex 5.2% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

#1 Aligned with E/S characteristics includes the investments of the financial product used to attain the 
environmental or social characteristics promoted by the financial product.

#2Other includes the remaining investments of the financial product which are neither aligned with the 
environmental or social characteristics, nor are qualified as sustainable investments.

The category #1 Aligned with E/S characteristics covers:
- The sub-category #1A Sustainable covers environmentally and socially sustainable investments.
- The sub-category #1B Other E/S characteristics covers investments aligned with the environmental or 
social characteristics that do not qualify as sustainable investments.

Investments

#1 Aligned with E/S 
characteristics  

99.6%

#1A Sustainable 
99.6%  

Taxonomy-aligned 
3.9%

Other 
environmental 

29.3%

Social 66.4%

#1B Other E/S 
characteristics 0%

#2 Other 0.4% 



 

 

In which economic sectors were the investments made? 

 
The following table consists of the product -industries. For the purpose 
of the table, the Global Industry Classification Standard (GICS) has been used. GICS is a 
four-tiered industry classification system consisting of 11 sectors. It is a commonly used 
industry framework to determine sector exposure. The table below shows the 
composition of the investments held by the product, by GICS sector during the reference 
period. The data presented has been calculated based on an average of the value of 
investments traded and held at each quarter end date within the reference period. Cash 
and ancillary liquidity instruments are not included in the table below.  

Sector % Assets 

COMMUNICATION SERVICES 5.3 

CONSUMER DISCRETIONARY 10.9 

CONSUMER STAPLES 3.6 

ENERGY 0 

FINANCIALS 29.3 

HEALTH CARE 3.7 

INDUSTRIALS 23.2 

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 12.1 

MATERIALS 1.9 

REAL ESTATE 0.3 

UTILITIES 9.1 

  
Note: EXPOSURE TO COMPANIES ACTIVE IN THE FOSSIL FUEL 
SECTOR (i.e. the percentage of the product's market value 
exposed to issuers with fossil fuels related activities, including 
extraction, processing, storage and transportation of petroleum 
products, natural gas, and thermal and metallurgical coal) 

11.2% 

 
 



 

 

 
To what extent were the sustainable investments with an environmental 
objective aligned with the EU Taxonomy?  
 
The  proportion of sustainable investments aligned with the EU Taxonomy was 3.9%.

The environmental objective(s) to which the sustainable investments contributed 
was/were climate change mitigation and climate change adaptation. 

In order to attain the environmental characteristics promoted by this product, the 
product invested in sustainable investments even though some investments did not 

the meaning of the Taxonomy Regulation. 

 
 

Did the financial product invest in fossil gas and/or nuclear energy related 
activities complying with the EU Taxonomy1? 

 
 Yes:   

In fossil gas In nuclear energy  

No  

 
 
 

 
1 Fossil gas and/or nuclear related activities will only comply with the EU Taxonomy where they contribute to 

-
see explanatory note in the left hand margin. The full criteria for fossil gas and nuclear energy economic activities 
that comply with the EU Taxonomy are laid down in Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2022/1214. 

X 

X X 

To comply with the 
EU Taxonomy, the 
criteria for fossil gas 
include limitations 
on emissions and 
switching to fully 
renewable power or 
low-carbon fuels by 
the end of 2035. For 
nuclear energy, the 
criteria include 
comprehensive 
safety and waste 
management rules. 

Enabling activities 
directly enable 
other activities to 
make a substantial 
contribution to an 
environmental 
objective. 

Transitional 
activities are 
activities for which 
low-carbon 
alternatives are not 
yet available and 
among others have 
greenhouse gas 
emission levels  
corresponding to 
the best 
performance. 



What was the share of investments made in transitional and enabling activities? 

Investments in environmentally sustainable economic activities:

Transitional Enabling

As % of Turnover 0.1% 2.5%

As % of Capex 0.1% 4%

As % of Opex 0% 3.9%

How did the percentage of investments that were aligned with the EU Taxonomy
compare with previous reference periods?

The graphs below show in green the percentage of investments that were aligned with the EU Taxonomy. 
As there is no appropriate methodology to determine the taxonomy-alignment of sovereign bonds*, the 
first graph shows the Taxonomy alignment in relation to all the investments of the financial product 
including sovereign bonds, while the second graph shows the Taxonomy alignment only in relation to the 
investments of the financial product other than sovereign bonds.

* For the purpose of these graphs, sovereign exposures.

0.1%

0.3%

0.5%

5.3%

6.4%

3.3%

94.7%

93.3%

96.1%

Opex

Capex

Turnover

0% 50% 100%

1. Taxonomy-alignment of investments 
including sovereign bonds* 

Taxonomy-aligned: Fossil gas
Taxonomy-aligned: Nuclear energy
Taxonomy-aligned: No gas and nuclear
Non Taxonomy-aligned

Taxonomy-aligned 
activities are 
expressed as a share 
of:
- turnover reflects 

investee 
companies today.

- capital 
expenditure
(CapEx) shows the 
green investments 
made by investee 
companies, 
relevant for a 
transition to a 
green economy. 

- operational 
expenditure
(OpEx) reflects the 
green operational 
activities of 
investee 
companies.

0.1%

0.3%
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5.3%

6.4%

3.3%
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2. Taxonomy-alignment of investments 
excluding sovereign bonds*

Taxonomy-aligned: Fossil gas
Taxonomy-aligned: Nuclear energy
Taxonomy-aligned: No gas and nuclear
Non Taxonomy-aligned

This graph represents 100% of the total investments.



 

 

 

 2023 2024 2025 
Proportion of the product's assets aligned with 
the EU Taxonomy 

0% 3.8% 3.9% 

 

What was the share of sustainable investments with an environmental 
objective not aligned with the EU Taxonomy?  

The product invested 29.3% of its assets in sustainable investments with 
environmental characteristics which did not qualify as environmentally sustainable 
under the EU Taxonomy.  

 

 

What was the share of socially sustainable investments? 
 

The product invested 66.4% of its assets in socially sustainable investments. 

 

what was their purpose and 
were there any minimum environmental or social safeguards? 

0.4% of investments were not classified as sustainable investments comprised of 
holdings in listed companies (held for the purpose of investment growth and 
efficient portfolio management) and cash and related ancillary liquidity instruments 
(held for the purpose of ancillary liquidity and efficient portfolio management) in 
accordance with the investment policy of the product. Minimum environmental 
and social safeguards continued to apply in the selection of these investments 
including the exclusion of companies involved with certain controversial activities, 
and the exclusion of companies that violate, repeatedly and seriously, one or more 
of the ten principles of the UN Global Compact.   

What actions have been taken to meet the environmental and/or social 
characteristics during the reference period?  

 
The actions taken to achieve the environmental and social characteristics were:

 

its investment analysis and investment decisions. Companies were rated on an AAA-
CCC scale relative to the standards and performance of their industry peers, which 
was derived from an ESG score. The Investment Manager got a single ESG score for 

score of between 0 and 10, with the highest scoring company receiving a 10. The 
Investment Manager favoured higher score stocks where possible and its aim was for 

 are 
sustainable 
investments with an 
environmental 
objective that do 
not take into 
account the criteria 
for environmentally 
sustainable 
economic activities 
under Regulation 
(EU) 2020/852.  



 

 

the portfolio to have an equal or higher weighted ESG score than its comparable 
benchmark. 

 The portfolio construction process excluded holdings deemed inconsistent with the 

Responsible Investing Committee.   

 Further, the product did not invest in companies involved in certain activities 
including tobacco manufacturing, coal extraction and coal-fired electricity 
generation, in excess of certain thresholds.  

 The Investment Manager collaborated on 13 topics and engaged with 20 companies 
on a range of issues, including engagement with companies which had high adverse 
impact (as measured by the PAI Indicators and by other factors), with a view to 
influencing the company to change its activities in a manner which will reduce the 
adverse impact. 

 

How did this financial product perform compared to the reference benchmark? 

Not applicable 

 No reference benchmark has been designated for the purpose of attaining the 
environmental and social characteristics promoted by the product. 

How does the reference benchmark differ from a broad market index?  

Not Applicable. 

How did this financial product perform with regard to the sustainability indicators 
to determine the alignment of the reference benchmark with the environmental 
or social characteristics promoted? 

Not applicable. 

How did this financial product perform compared with the reference benchmark?

Not applicable. 

How did this financial product perform compared with the broad market index?

Not applicable. 

Reference 
benchmarks are 
indexes to 
measure whether 
the financial 
product attains the 
environmental or 
social 
characteristics that 
they promote. 


